

Intertwining Operators for Semisimple Groups, II

A.W. Knapp* and E.M. Stein*

Cornell University, Dept. of Mathematics, Ithaca, N.Y. 14853, USA Princeton University, Department of Mathematics, Princeton, N.J. 08540, USA

The purpose of the present paper is to expand the use of intertwining operators for semisimple Lie groups. In an earlier form (see [20]), these operators were meromorphic continuations of integral operators and exhibited equivalences among nonunitary principal series representations, those induced from a minimal parabolic subgroup. We demonstrated that there was an intimate connection between these operators and the irreducibility of the principal series, on the one hand, and the unitarity of the analytically continued representations (the complementary series), on the other hand.

In the intervening years we have generalized the setting for intertwining operators significantly, and we have learned of new applications. For the most part, the expansion in the setting is that minimal parabolic subgroups have now been replaced by arbitrary parabolic subgroups MAN, and the representations that are studied are induced from a representation of MAN that is irreducible unitary on M, is one-dimensional on A, and is trivial on N. The expanded theory allows us to determine the degree of reducibility of all series of representations appearing in the Plancherel formula of the group, and to study complementary series attached to them. Such intertwining operators have also now found major applications in classifying representations (see Langlands [29] and Knapp-Zuckerman [25]) and appear to have significance for some problems in number theory.

Our objective in this paper is threefold: to develop the analytic properties of intertwining operators in what seems to be the appropriate degree of generality, to give a dimension formula for the commuting algebras of the unitary representations induced when the representation of M is in the discrete series and the character of A is unitary (and to give some further insights into these representations), and to illustrate a technique for dealing with complementary series. To make it possible to be more specific, we introduce some notation.

Let G be a reductive group whose identity component has compact center; the precise axioms for G are given in §1. Fix a Cartan involution θ for G, and let P be a parabolic subgroup of G. Then $P \cap \theta P$ decomposes into the product of commuting subgroups M and A, where A is a vector group and M satisfies the

^{*} Supported by grants from the National Science Foundation.

same axioms as G. There are finitely many distinct nilpotent groups N such that MAN is a parabolic subgroup of G. To each of these and to data consisting of an irreducible unitary representation ξ of M and a one-dimensional representation expA of A, we can associate the induced representation of G given by

$$U_{MAN}(\xi,\Lambda,\cdot) = \inf_{MAN \uparrow G} (\xi \otimes \exp \Lambda \otimes 1).$$

We adopt the convention that G operates on the left and that the parameters are arranged so that U is unitary when $\exp \Lambda$ is unitary.

To each pair of choices N_1 and N_2 for N, there is a formal expression for an operator intertwining the representations induced from MAN_1 and MAN_2 in the presence of the same data (ξ, Λ) for MA, namely

$$A(MAN_{2}: MAN_{1}: \xi: \Lambda) f(x) = \int_{N_{2} \cap \theta N_{1}} f(xv) dv.$$
(0.1)

There is not always an element w in the normalizer of A with $N_2 = w^{-1}N_1w$, but if there is, then right translation R(w) by w carries representations induced from MAN_2 to representations induced from MAN_1 and then the composition

$$A_{MAN_1}(w,\xi,\Lambda) = R(w) A(MAN_2:MAN_1:\xi:\Lambda)$$
(0.2)

is the kind of operator that was studied in [20] under the additional hypothesis that MAN_1 is minimal parabolic (and hence M is compact).

Part I of this paper deals with the development and analytic properties of these operators (0.1) and (0.2) in the generality noted above. In the cases of interest, the integral (0.1) is usually divergent, and the operator is defined by analytic continuation from values of Λ for which there is convergence. A direct attack on the question of analytic continuation seems now to be quite difficult, because the singularity in the integral is complicated and the analytic behavior of the integral depends on the full asymptotic expansion at infinity of the matrix coefficients for the representation ξ of M. Our approach instead will be to capture this asymptotic expansion in the form of an imbedding on the algebraic level of ξ in a nonunitary principal series representation of M; such an imbedding exists by a theorem of Casselman quoted in §5. By means of this imbedding, we are able to reduce the analysis of the operators (0.1) and (0.2)substantially to the case of the operators considered in [20]; the details of the analysis are carried out in §§6-7. Only a small part of [20] needs to be used after the reduction – and not exactly in the form in [20]; for this reason, we have included some material in \S 3–4 similar to that in [20].

After the development of the operators, the next step is their normalization. For this purpose, we make the following

Basic Assumption.¹ The infinitesimal character of ξ is a real linear combination of the roots of M.

¹ Vogan has pointed out to us that for many purposes the Basic Assumption is no restriction since every irreducible unitary representation of G is a full induced representation $U_{MAN}(\xi, \Lambda, \cdot)$ for some parabolic subgroup MAN and some ξ satisfying the Basic Assumption.

Under this assumption, any system of normalizing factors satisfying certain properties will serve to produce nice relations among the intertwining operators, as is shown in §8, and we readily prove the existence of such a system. However, different systems of normalizing factors are useful for different purposes. Our own treatment of complementary series here and in [20] requires a system free from unnecessary zeros and singularities. Kunze and Stein [28], Stein [33] and Gelbart [7] had earlier used a different normalization in some special cases that lends itself to Euclidean Fourier analysis. Arthur [3] has exhibited one useful in number theory, verifying a conjecture of Langlands.

Part II combines the techniques of Part I with results of Harish-Chandra to analyze the commuting algebras of the induced representations corresponding to ξ in the discrete series and $\exp \Lambda$ unitary. Briefly, Harish-Chandra's theory of *c*functions led him to recognize a spanning set for the commuting algebra. This spanning set is identified in §9 as a set of intertwining operators of the kind in Part I. Starting in §11 from further results of Harish-Chandra, we are able to identify in §13 a subset of these operators that forms a basis for the commuting algebra. This identification can be given either in terms of the nonvanishing of certain "Plancherel factors" defined in §10 or in terms of a certain finite group $R_{\xi,\Lambda}$ described in §13. The core of the proof is the proof of linear independence, and this step is carried out in §12. In §15 we identify $R_{\xi,\Lambda}$ as the direct sum of two-element groups for the case that G is a linear connected semisimple group split over \mathbb{R} and the parabolic subgroup is minimal; this result had been announced in [21].

Part III establishes a basic existence theorem for complementary series, to illustrate a general technique. Our result is far from best possible, and the state of knowledge in this area is nowhere near complete. Further progress in this area will doubtless have to precede a classification theorem for irreducible unitary representations.

We list here the main results of our paper:

(i) the meromorphic continuation of the intertwining operators (Theorem 6.6),

(ii) the basic cocycle relations of the normalized intertwining operators (Theorem 8.4),

(iii) the determination of the "reducibility group" (the R group) and the formula for the dimension of the commuting algebra in terms of the nonvanishing of Plancherel measures for the case of representations induced from discrete series (Theorem 13.4),

(iv) the construction of a wide class of complementary series (Theorem 16.2). Substantially all of the present work was announced in [22] and [23]. The idea behind Part II and the theorem of §15 date from [21]. All this material was organized into its current form in 1975, and it was the subject of a lecture series by the first author at the Institute for Advanced Study in the fall of 1975. The press of other matters has delayed publication until now.

At a number of points the present work touches on the work of others. In some instances, results of ours (or at least special cases of them) have been obtained independently by other people. In addition, some authors have found it useful to quote some of our announced results and, in some cases, to supply 12

proofs. This circumstance has created problems of exposition for us. Our choice has been to maintain the continuity of our presentation, even though an occasional lemma may be found elsewhere in the literature.

Several aspects of our work can be done in alternate ways, at least in special cases, and it is useful to understand the roles of the different methods:

(a) The connection between c-functions and intertwining operators is described in detail in §9. In the context of discrete series representations ξ of M (which for us is not the general case), the two concepts are equivalent. However, their thrust is quite different, as are the methods used to develop them, and the theorems they lead to are complementary. Harish-Chandra [15] naturally obtains a spanning set of self-intertwining operators, whereas we are naturally led to linear independence.

(b) Arthur [2] independently discovered parts of the connection between c-functions and intertwining operators and used it to develop intertwining operators. While his development has several advantages, it does impose two limitations: it restricts ξ to the discrete series and it restricts the domain of the intertwining operators to "K-finite" functions. The first restriction limits applicability of the theory in classification problems, such as in [25]. The second rules out dealing with questions of linear independence like that in §12.

(c) Wallach [35] independently developed some of the material of §6 by making use of Harish-Chandra's subquotient theorem in place of Casselman's subrepresentation theorem.

(d) Vogan [34] has recently developed an algebraic approach to the group $R_{\xi,A}$ of §13. His approach seems very different from ours, and the exact connection between the two approaches seems to be an interesting question.

We are indebted to several people for making known to us their own unpublished theorems at an early date – Borel and Tits for Theorem 12.2, Casselman for Theorem 5.1, and Harish-Chandra for Theorem 9.7. We are also happy to acknowledge valuable help given us by Langlands, Wallach, and Zuckerman; we were influenced both in our research and in this exposition by several of their suggestions.

Contents

Construction and normalization of intertwining operator	S															13
1. Notation, formal intertwining operators																13
2. Normalization of Haar measures on nilpotent groups	;															17
3. Existence of operators, real-rank one minimal case.																20
4. Existence of operators, higher rank minimal case .																23
5. Subrepresentation theorem																27
6. Existence of operators, general case																30
7. Properties of unnormalized operators																38
8. Normalization of operators, general case																48
Applications to reducibility questions																54
9. Connection with Eisenstein integrals and c-functions																54
10. Identities with Plancherel factors															,	61
11. Intertwining operators corresponding to reflections.																63
12. Linear independence theorem																66
	Construction and normalization of intertwining operator 1. Notation, formal intertwining operators 2. Normalization of Haar measures on nilpotent groups 3. Existence of operators, real-rank one minimal case 4. Existence of operators, higher rank minimal case 5. Subrepresentation theorem 6. Existence of operators, general case 7. Properties of unnormalized operators 8. Normalization of operators, general case 9. Connection with Eisenstein integrals and c-functions 10. Identities with Plancherel factors 11. Intertwining operators corresponding to reflections. 12. Linear independence theorem	Construction and normalization of intertwining operators 1. Notation, formal intertwining operators 2. Normalization of Haar measures on nilpotent groups 3. Existence of operators, real-rank one minimal case 4. Existence of operators, higher rank minimal case 5. Subrepresentation theorem 6. Existence of operators, general case 7. Properties of unnormalized operators 8. Normalization of operators, general case 4. Applications to reducibility questions 9. Connection with Eisenstein integrals and c-functions 10. Identities with Plancherel factors 11. Intertwining operators corresponding to reflections. 12. Linear independence theorem	Construction and normalization of intertwining operators	Construction and normalization of intertwining operators	Construction and normalization of intertwining operators 1. Notation, formal intertwining operators 2. Normalization of Haar measures on nilpotent groups 3. Existence of operators, real-rank one minimal case 4. Existence of operators, higher rank minimal case 5. Subrepresentation theorem 6. Existence of operators, general case 7. Properties of unnormalized operators 8. Normalization of operators, general case 9. Connection with Eisenstein integrals and c-functions 10. Identities with Plancherel factors 11. Intertwining operators corresponding to reflections 12. Linear independence theorem	Construction and normalization of intertwining operators 1. Notation, formal intertwining operators 2. Normalization of Haar measures on nilpotent groups 3. Existence of operators, real-rank one minimal case 4. Existence of operators, higher rank minimal case 5. Subrepresentation theorem 6. Existence of operators, general case 7. Properties of unnormalized operators 8. Normalization of operators, general case 9. Connection with Eisenstein integrals and c-functions 10. Identities with Plancherel factors 11. Intertwining operators corresponding to reflections 12. Linear independence theorem	Construction and normalization of intertwining operators 1. Notation, formal intertwining operators 2. Normalization of Haar measures on nilpotent groups 3. Existence of operators, real-rank one minimal case 4. Existence of operators, higher rank minimal case 5. Subrepresentation theorem 6. Existence of operators, general case 7. Properties of unnormalized operators 8. Normalization of operators, general case 9. Connection with Eisenstein integrals and c-functions 10. Identities with Plancherel factors 11. Intertwining operators corresponding to reflections 12. Linear independence theorem									

13. R-group and the commuting algebra												72
14. Reduction lemmas												74
15. Structure of R-group, split minimal case												76
III. Complementary series												79
16. Existence												79
Appendix A. Proof of Proposition 1.2												81
Appendix B. Further property of the η -function				•	•			•		•		82

I. Construction and Normalization of Intertwining Operators

§1. Notation, Formal Intertwining Operators

The Lie groups G that we deal with will all satisfy the following axioms:

- (i) the Lie algebra \mathfrak{g} of G is reductive,
- (ii) the identity component G_0 of G has compact center,
- (iii) G has finitely many components
- (iv) $\operatorname{Ad}(G)$ is contained in the connected adjoint group of the complexification $g^{\mathbb{C}}$. (1.1)

Except for requirement (ii), these are Harish-Chandra's axioms ([12] and [13]), and the groups we consider are the same as Harish-Chandra's groups that have trivial split component.

We collect some notation and properties for such groups. Let f be a maximal compact subalgebra of g, let $g=\mathfrak{t}\oplus\mathfrak{p}$ be the corresponding Cartan decomposition, and let θ be the Cartan involution. By (ii) the center of g is contained in \mathfrak{t} . We introduce an inner product B_{θ} on g in the standard way, with the properties that $B_{\theta}(X,Y) = -B(X,\theta Y)$ and B is an Ad(G)-invariant θ -invariant symmetric bilinear form on g. Let \mathfrak{a}_p be a maximal abelian subspace of \mathfrak{p} . If we fix a notion of positivity for \mathfrak{a}_p -roots, we can let \mathfrak{n}_p be the nilpotent subalgebra given as the sum of the root spaces for the positive roots and we can let $\mathfrak{v}_p = \theta \mathfrak{n}_p$. The Iwasawa decomposition is $g=\mathfrak{t}\oplus\mathfrak{a}_p\oplus\mathfrak{n}_p$. Let $\mathfrak{m}_p=Z_{\mathfrak{t}}(\mathfrak{a}_p)$ be the centralizer of \mathfrak{a}_p in \mathfrak{t} .

On the group level, let $K = N_G(\mathfrak{k})$ be the normalizer of \mathfrak{k} in G, let $M'_p = N_K(\mathfrak{a}_p)$, let $M_p = Z_K(\mathfrak{a}_p)$, and let A_p , N_p , and V_p be the analytic subgroups corresponding to \mathfrak{a}_p , \mathfrak{n}_p , and \mathfrak{v}_p , respectively. These groups have the following properties:

- (i) K has Lie algebra f and is a maximal compact subgroup. The identity
- component K_0 equals $N_{G_0}(\mathfrak{k})$.
- (ii) $G = G_0 M_p$
- (iii) The map $(k, X) \in K \times p \to k \exp X \in G$ is a diffeomorphism onto.
- (iv) The map $(k, a, n) \in K \times A_n \times N_n \rightarrow k a n \in G$ is a diffeomorphism onto. (1.2)

Any conjugate of $m_p \oplus a_p \oplus n_p$ is called a *minimal parabolic subalgebra*, and any Lie subalgebra \mathfrak{s} that contains a minimal parabolic subalgebra is called *parabolic*. Then \mathfrak{s} has a Langlands decomposition (relative to θ) $\mathfrak{s}=\mathfrak{m}\oplus\mathfrak{a}\oplus\mathfrak{n}$; see, e.g., [17]. Here $\mathfrak{m}\oplus\mathfrak{a}=Z_g(\mathfrak{a})$, and we can impose an ordering on the a-roots so that \mathfrak{n} is built from the positive a-roots. Let $\mathfrak{v}=\theta\mathfrak{n}$. If \mathfrak{a}_M is a maximal abelian subspace of $\mathfrak{m} \cap \mathfrak{p}$, then $\mathfrak{a} \oplus \mathfrak{a}_M$ is a maximal abelian subspace of \mathfrak{p} and can be

(1.4)

taken as a_p in our theory. When we introduce an ordering on the a_p -roots so that a comes before a_M , then the positive a-roots are the nonzero restrictions to a of the positive a_p -roots. The sum of the root spaces for the positive a_p -roots that vanish on a is denoted n_M .

Let M_0 , A, A_M , N, V, N_M be analytic subgroups corresponding to m, \mathfrak{a} , \mathfrak{a}_M , \mathfrak{n} , \mathfrak{v} , \mathfrak{n}_M , and define

$$M = M_0 M_p. \tag{1.3}$$

The group P = MAN is a parabolic subgroup. The subgroups under discussion have the following properties. See [13].

- (i) $MA = Z_G(\mathfrak{a}), MAN = N_G(\mathfrak{m} \oplus \mathfrak{a} \oplus \mathfrak{n}), MAN$ is closed, and $(m, a, n) \in M \times A \times N \rightarrow man \in MAN$ is a diffeomorphism onto,
- (ii) M satisfies the axioms (1.1), $\theta|_m$ is a Cartan involution of m, and $K_M = K \cap M$ is the corresponding maximal compact subgroup of M,
- (iii) $M = K_M A_M N_M$ is an Iwasawa decomposition of M,
- (iv) $A_p = A_M A$ and $N_p = N_M N$ diffeomorphically,
- (v) G = KMAN with the KM, A, and N components unique,
- (vi) $K \cap MA = K \cap M$,
- (vii) $V \cap MAN = \{1\}$, and
- (viii) the M_p group for M equals the M_p group for G.

Let us prove (viii). We have

$$Z_{K \cap M}(\mathfrak{a}_M) = Z_K(\mathfrak{a}_M) \cap (K \cap M) = Z_K(\mathfrak{a}_M) \cap (K \cap MA)$$
$$= Z_K(\mathfrak{a}_M) \cap Z_G(\mathfrak{a}) = Z_K(\mathfrak{a}_n),$$

with the second and third equalities following from (vi) and (i), respectively. Then (viii) is proved.

Two parabolic subgroups with the same MA are associated. The choices for N are in obvious one-to-one correspondence with the Weyl chambers of a formed by the a-root hyperplanes. Let $M' = N_{\rm K}(\mathfrak{a})M$. The "Weyl group" for this situation is $W(\mathfrak{a}) = M'/M$. The group $W(\mathfrak{a})$ permutes the Weyl chambers, and a nontrivial element of $W(\mathfrak{a})$ does not leave any Weyl chamber stable. However, $W(\mathfrak{a})$ does not necessarily act transitively on the set of Weyl chambers. In terms of the groups N, if w is in M', then $w^{-1}Nw$ is another choice of the N group, but not every choice of N group arises by conjugating a particular one.

M' acts on characters of A and representations of M by

$$w\lambda(a) = \lambda(w^{-1}aw)$$
$$w\xi(m) = \xi(w^{-1}mw).$$

Then $W(\mathfrak{a})$ acts on characters of A and classes of representations of M. Later we shall denote the class of the representation ξ of M by $[\xi]$.

It is not known in general whether W(a) is isomorphic with the Weyl group of a full root system. However, it is known in a special case that will be sufficient for the purposes of Part II of this paper. See [17].

There is another kind of construction that leads to subgroups of G satisfying the axioms (1.1). Fix MA arising from a parabolic subgroup. Let β be an a-root

in the dual \mathfrak{a}', H_{β} the corresponding member of a under the identification set up by B_{θ} , and $(H_{\theta})^{\perp}$ the orthogonal complement of $\mathbb{R}H_{\theta}$ in a. Then

$$Z_{\mathfrak{g}}((H_{\beta})^{\perp}) = \mathfrak{a} \oplus \mathfrak{m} \oplus \sum_{c \neq 0} \mathfrak{g}_{c\beta},$$

where $g_{c\beta}$ is a root space. Define

$$\mathfrak{g}^{(\beta)} = \mathbb{R} H_{\beta} \oplus \mathfrak{m} \oplus \sum_{c \neq 0} \mathfrak{g}_{c\beta},$$

and let $G_0^{(\beta)}$ be the corresponding analytic subgroup. We shall be interested in

$$G^{(\beta)} = G_0^{(\beta)} M.$$
 (1.5)

Since *M* normalizes $g^{(\beta)}$, $G^{(\beta)}$ is a group. Essentially by Lemma 2.3 of [15], $G^{(\beta)}$ satisfies the axioms (1.1). Also $\theta|_{g^{(\beta)}}$ is a Cartan involution, and the corresponding maximal compact subgroup of $G^{(\beta)}$ is $K^{(\beta)} = K \cap G^{(\beta)}$.

ing maximal compact subgroup of $G^{(\beta)}$ is $K^{(\beta)} = K \cap G^{(\beta)}$. Let $\mathfrak{n}^{(\beta)} = \sum_{c>0} \mathfrak{g}_{c\beta}$, $\mathfrak{v}^{(\beta)} = \theta \mathfrak{n}^{(\beta)} = \sum_{c<0} \mathfrak{g}_{c\beta}$, and $\mathfrak{a}^{(\beta)} = \mathbb{R} H_{\beta}$; let $A^{(\beta)}$, $N^{(\beta)}$, and $V^{(\beta)}$ be the analytic subgroups corresponding to $\mathfrak{a}^{(\beta)}$, $\mathfrak{n}^{(\beta)}$, and $\mathfrak{v}^{(\beta)}$. Then $MA^{(\beta)}N^{(\beta)}$ and $MA^{(\beta)}V^{(\beta)}$ are maximal parabolic subgroups of $G^{(\beta)}$.

We now introduce classes of representations. Let P = MAN be a parabolic subgroup, and let $\rho = \rho_P$ be $\frac{1}{2} \sum_{\beta > 0} (\dim g_\beta)\beta$. To each continuous representation ξ of M on a Hilbert space, say H^{ξ} , and each complex-valued real-linear functional Λ on a we associate a representation $U_P(\xi, \Lambda, \cdot)$ of G as follows. A dense

subspace of the representation space is

$$\{f: G \to H^{\xi} | f \text{ is } C^{\infty} \text{ and } f(xman) = e^{-(\rho + \Lambda)\log a} \xi(m)^{-1} f(x)\}$$

the action is

$$U_P(\xi, \Lambda, g)f(x) = f(g^{-1}x),$$

and the norm is the L^2 norm of the restriction to K. This representation is unitary if Λ is imaginary and ξ is unitary.

What we have just described is the "induced picture" for $U_P(\xi, \Lambda, \cdot)$. The "compact picture" is the restriction of the induced picture to K. Here the dense subspace is

$$\{f: K \rightarrow H^{\xi} | f \text{ is } C^{\infty} \text{ and } f(km) = \xi(m)^{-1}f(k)\}$$

and is independent of Λ . For the action, we introduce notation for the G = KMAN decomposition of (1.4), writing

$$g = \kappa(g) \,\mu(g)(\exp H(g)) \,n. \tag{1.6}$$

Then

$$U_{p}(\xi,\Lambda,g)f(k) = e^{-(\rho+\Lambda)H(g^{-1}k)}\xi(\mu(g^{-1}k))^{-1}f(\kappa(g^{-1}k))$$

Since the space is independent of Λ , we can speak of holomorphic functions with values in the space, and it is clear that $U_P(\xi, \Lambda, g)f$ depends holomorphically on Λ .

Next we introduce formal expressions, often divergent, for operators that implement equivalences among some of these representations. For now, we work in the induced picture. Let P = MAN and P' = MAN', and set

$$A(P':P:\zeta:\Lambda)f(x) = \int_{V \cap N'} f(xv) dv, \qquad (1.7)$$

with the normalization of Haar measure to be specified in §2.

Proposition 1.1. When the indicated integrals are convergent,

$$U_{P'}(\xi, \Lambda, g) A(P' : P : \xi : \Lambda) = A(P' : P : \xi : \Lambda) U_P(\xi, \Lambda, g)$$

$$(1.8)$$

for all g in G.

Sketch. The point is that $A(P': P:\xi:\Lambda)$ carries members of the representation space for U_P into members of the representation space for $U_{P'}$. If f transforms appropriately under MAN on the right, the image function is to transform appropriately under MAN'. One verifies this separately for M, A, $N' \cap N$, and $N' \cap V$ as in [28], page 395. The action of G is on the left and does not interfere with the transformation laws on the right, and the proposition follows.

For w in $K \cap M'$, let R(w)f(x) = f(xw). Then it follows from Proposition 1.1 that

$$A_{P}(w,\xi,\Lambda) = R(w) A(w^{-1} P w; P;\xi;\Lambda)$$
(1.9)

satisfies

$$U_{p}(w\,\xi,w\,\Lambda,\cdot)\,A_{p}(w,\xi,\Lambda) = A_{p}(w,\xi,\Lambda)\,U_{p}(\xi,\Lambda,\cdot) \tag{1.10}$$

whenever the indicated integrals are convergent.

We shall want to relate induced representations and intertwining operators defined relative to different subgroups of G. For this purpose it will be necessary to know how the various quantities ρ (half the sum of the positive roots) are related. First, in the case of a parabolic subgroup MAN containing a minimal parabolic $M_p A_p N_p$, so that $a_p = a \oplus a_M$, we have

$$\rho_p = \rho + \rho_M. \tag{1.11}$$

The ordering on a_p -roots here is such that an a_p -root α is positive if $\alpha|_a$ is positive or if $\alpha|_a = 0$ and α is a positive a_M -root. To see (1.11), we note first that $W(a_M)$ fixes no nonzero members of a_M and consequently the sum of the elements in any $W(a_M)$ -orbit of a_M is 0. From this we see that if β is an a-root, then the sum of all a_p -roots α with $\alpha|_a = \beta$ has 0 component in a_M . Formula (1.11) then follows.

The situation with $G^{(\beta)}$ and its associated $\rho^{(\beta)}$ is more complicated and is given in the next proposition. In the case of minimal parabolics, this result appears on p. 399 of [28]. In that case, root reflections are available, but in the general case they are not.

Proposition 1.2. Let P = MAN and P' = MAN' be associated parabolic subgroups such that $V \cap N' = V^{(\beta)}$ for an a-root β . Let $\rho = \rho_P$, and let H_{β} be the member of a

Intertwining Operators for Semisimple Groups, II

corresponding to β . Then

$$\rho(H_{\beta}) = \rho^{(\beta)}(H_{\beta}). \tag{1.12}$$

If β is reduced (i.e., $c\beta$ is not an α -root for 0 < c < 1), then β is simple for P and is the restriction to α of an α_p -root simple for P_p .

A proof is given in Appendix A.

§2. Normalization of Haar Measures on Nilpotent Groups

In this section we shall describe normalizations simultaneously for the Haar measures of all relevant nilpotent subgroups of all groups G under consideration. Our construction is motivated by the one given by Schiffmann $[32]^2$

To define the normalization, we proceed as follows. To each a_p -root α , we normalize Haar measure on $V^{(\alpha)}$ by the requirement

$$\int_{V^{(\alpha)}} \exp\left\{-2\rho^{(\alpha)}H^{(\alpha)}(v)\right\} dv = 1.$$

For any simply-connected nilpotent group, the exponential map carries Lebesgue measure to a Haar measure, and we use this fact to transfer normalized Haar measure on $V^{(\alpha)}$ to a multiple of Lebesgue measure on $v^{(\alpha)}$. Each of the nilpotent groups that we work with will have as its Lie algebra the direct sum of some $v^{(\alpha)}$'s with the α 's lying in an open half space. Accordingly we form the product measure on the Lie algebra and then carry it to the group by the exponential map. Our normalization is then well defined and completely determined.

Lemma 2.1. Let u be a nilpotent Lie algebra contained in the vector space $\mathfrak{n}_p \oplus \mathfrak{v}_p$, and suppose that u is of the form $\mathfrak{u} = \sum_{\alpha \in S} \mathfrak{v}^{(\alpha)}$ for a set S of \mathfrak{a}_p -roots α lying in an open half space. Put $U = \exp \mathfrak{u}$, and let w be in the normalizer of \mathfrak{a}_p in K. Then the normalized Haar measures on U and $w^{-1}Uw$ satisfy

$$\int_{U} F(u) \, du = \int_{w^{-1}Uw} F(w \, u' \, w^{-1}) \, du'.$$

Proof. In view of our construction, we pass to the Lie algebras of U and $w^{-1}Uw$ and compare the Lebesgue measure there. Each is given as a product, and consequently the lemma will follow if we show that

$$\int_{V^{(\alpha)}} f(v) dv = \int_{w^{-1}V^{(\alpha)}w} f(wv'w^{-1}) dv'.$$
(2.1)

Here $w^{-1} V^{(\alpha)} w = V^{(w^{-1}\alpha)}$, and it is enough to prove (2.1) for the single function

$$f(v) = \exp\left\{-2\rho^{(\alpha)} \mathbf{H}^{(\alpha)}(v)\right\}.$$

² Two slips need correction on p. 35 of [32]. Formula (2.2.8) should have an additional factor of $c_w(\rho)^{-1}$ on the right side, and the right side of formula (2.2.9) should be $c_w(\rho)$. The corrected (2.2.8) is by induction from [8] and (2.2.5).

The left side of (2.1) is then 1 by definition of dv. For g in $G^{(w^{-1}\alpha)}$, we have

$$\rho^{(\alpha)} H^{(\alpha)}(w g w^{-1}) = \rho^{(w^{-1}\alpha)} H^{(w^{-1}\alpha)}(g),$$

and hence the right side of (2.1) is 1 by definition of dv'. The lemma follows.

Lemma 2.2. Let MAN_0 and MAN_1 be associated parabolic subgroups, and let w be a representative of a member of $W(\mathfrak{a}_p)$ such that $Ad(w)(\mathfrak{n}_1+\mathfrak{n}_M)=\mathfrak{n}_0+\mathfrak{n}_M$. Then

$$(V_p)_0 \cap w^{-1}(N_p)_0 w = V_0 \cap N_1.$$

Remark. This lemma allows one to relate the integral formulas in [32] and in the present paper.

Proof. The Lie algebra of the intersection on the left is

$$(\mathfrak{v}_0 + \mathfrak{v}_M) \cap (\mathfrak{n}_1 + \mathfrak{n}_M),$$

which is just $v_0 \cap n_1$.

Proposition 2.3. Suppose that $P_i = MAN_i$, $0 \le i \le 2$, are three associated parabolic subgroups such that $n_2 \cap n_0 \le n_1 \cap n_0$. Then

$$\int_{V_0 \cap N_2} f(v) dv = \int_{(V_1 \cap N_2) \times (V_0 \cap N_1)} f(u_1 u_2) du_1 du_2.$$

Proof. We have

$$\mathfrak{v}_1 \cap \mathfrak{n}_2 = \mathfrak{v}_1 \cap \mathfrak{n}_2 \cap \mathfrak{v}_0 \oplus \mathfrak{v}_1 \cap \mathfrak{n}_2 \cap \mathfrak{n}_0$$
$$\subseteq \mathfrak{v}_1 \cap \mathfrak{n}_2 \cap \mathfrak{v}_0 + \mathfrak{v}_1 \cap \mathfrak{n}_1 \cap \mathfrak{n}_0 = \mathfrak{v}_1 \cap \mathfrak{n}_2 \cap \mathfrak{v}_0$$

and

$$\mathfrak{v}_0 + \mathfrak{n}_1 = \mathfrak{v}_0 \cap \mathfrak{n}_1 \cap \mathfrak{n}_2 \oplus \mathfrak{v}_0 \cap \mathfrak{n}_1 \cap \mathfrak{v}_2 \subseteq \mathfrak{v}_0 \cap \mathfrak{n}_1 \cap \mathfrak{n}_2 + \mathfrak{v}_0 \cap \mathfrak{n}_1 \cap \mathfrak{v}_1 = \mathfrak{v}_0 \cap \mathfrak{n}_1 \cap \mathfrak{n}_2$$

Thus

$$\mathfrak{v}_1 \cap \mathfrak{n}_2 = \mathfrak{v}_1 \cap (\mathfrak{v}_0 \cap \mathfrak{n}_2)$$
 and $\mathfrak{v}_0 \cap \mathfrak{n}_1 = \mathfrak{n}_1 \cap (\mathfrak{v}_0 \cap \mathfrak{n}_2)$,

and

$$\mathfrak{v}_0 \cap \mathfrak{n}_2 = \mathfrak{v}_1 \cap (\mathfrak{v}_0 \cap \mathfrak{n}_2) \oplus \mathfrak{n}_1 \cap (\mathfrak{v}_0 \cap \mathfrak{n}_2) = (\mathfrak{v}_1 \cap \mathfrak{n}_2) \oplus (\mathfrak{v}_0 \cap \mathfrak{n}_1).$$

In view of our normalization of Haar measures, we therefore have

$$\int_{V_0 \cap N_2} f(v) dv = \int_{v_0 \cap u_2} f(\exp x) dx$$

= $\int_{(v_1 \cap u_2) \oplus (v_0 \cap u_1)} f(\exp (x_1 + x_2)) dx_1 dx_2$
= $\int_{(v_1 \cap u_2) \oplus (v_0 \cap u_1)} f(\exp y_1 \exp y_2) dy_1 dy_2$
= $\int_{(V_1 \cap N_2) \times (V_0 \cap N_1)} f(u_1 u_2) du_1 du_2,$

with the third equality holding since $(y_1, y_2) \rightarrow \exp^{-1}(\exp y_1 \exp y_2)$ is a diffeomorphism whose Jacobian determinant is identically one. (See [36], pages 95 and 235.)

Lemma 2.4. Let MAN and MAN' be associated parabolic subgroups. Then the normalized Haar measures on N, $N \cap V'$, and $N \cap N'$ satisfy

$$dn_N = dn_{N \cap V'} dn_{N \cap N'}$$

Proof. We apply Proposition 2.3 to the three parabolic subgroups MAV, MAN', and MAN. The result applies since

$$0 = \mathfrak{n} \cap \mathfrak{v} \subseteq \mathfrak{n}' \cap \mathfrak{v}.$$

Lemma 2.5. Let MAN be a parabolic subgroup. Then the normalized Haar measures on NN_M , N, and N_M satisfy

$$dn_{NN_{M}} = dn_{N} dn_{N_{M}}.$$

Proof. This follows from Proposition 2.3 applied to the three parabolic subgroups $M_p A_p V V_M$, $M_p A_p V N_M$, and $M_p A_p N N_M$.

Lemma 2.6. Let MAN and MAN' be associated parabolic subgroups and let s be in $N_{K}(\alpha)$. Then the normalized Haar measures satisfy

$$\int_{V \cap N'} f(v) \, dv = \int_{s(V \cap N') \, s^{-1}} f(s^{-1} \, u \, s) \, du.$$

Proof. Under the assumption that s is also in $N_K(\mathfrak{a}_p)$, this result follows from Lemma 2.1. In the general case, by Lemma 8 of [17], we can write s = mt with t in $N_K(\mathfrak{a}_p)$ and m in M. The special case applies to t, and we have

$$\int_{V \cap N'} f(v) dv = \int_{t(V \cap N')t^{-1}} f(t^{-1}ut) du$$

=
$$\int_{s(V \cap N')s^{-1}} f(t^{-1}m^{-1}umt) du$$

=
$$\int_{s(V \cap N')s^{-1}} f(s^{-1}us) du,$$

the middle equality holding since m is in M. This proves the lemma.

Corollary 2.7. Let MAN and MAN' be associated parabolic subgroups and let s be in $N_K(\mathfrak{a})$ and satisfy $sNs^{-1} = N'$. Then the normalized Haar measures on N and N' satisfy

$$\int_{N} f(n) dn = \int_{N'} f(s^{-1}n's) dn'.$$

Proof. This follows from Lemma 2.6 applied to the parabolics MAV and MAN and to the same element s.

Lemma 2.8. Let MAN and MAN' be associated parabolic subgroups, and let dn and dn' be the normalized Haar measures of N and N'. Then the integrals

$$\int_{KMNA} f(kmna) dk dm dn da \quad and \quad \int_{KMN'A} f(kmn'a) dk dm dn' da$$

define the same normalization of Haar measure on G.

Proof. We can write $dm = dk_M dn_M da_M$ for a suitable normalization of da_M . Conjugation of N by a_M does not affect dn, since a_M is in M, and thus we can regroup the first integral as

$$\int_{K} \int_{K_M} \int_{A_M A} \int_{N_M N} f(kk_M n_M n a_M a) da_M da dn_M dn dk_M dk.$$

The dk_M goes away after a change of variables, $da_M da$ can be grouped as da_p , and $dn_M dn$ can be grouped as dn_p according to Lemma 2.5. Thus Lemma 2.8 reduces to the identity

$$\int_{\mathbf{KN}_p A_p} f(k n_p a_p) dk dn_p da_p = \int_{\mathbf{KN}'_p A_p} f(k n'_p a_p) dk dn'_p da_p,$$

which follows from Corollary 2.7 and a change of variables.

§3. Existence of Operators, Real-rank One Minimal Case

In this section we shall assume that G has $\dim a_p = 1$, and we shall drop the subscripts p. The theory of intertwining operators for this real-rank one minimal case was developed in [20] when G is a linear connected semisimple group. Much of that development is unnecessary for our current purposes, and we shall now isolate the essential results, referring to [20] for most of the proofs.

Our basic minimal parabolic subgroup is P = MAN, and M is contained in K since P is minimal. The assumption that dim A = 1 enters in the following way: The group $M' = N_K(\mathfrak{a})$ has $W(\mathfrak{a}) = M'/M$ of order 2. Let w be in M' but not M. By the Bruhat decomposition, we have

$$G = MAN \cup MAN w MAN$$
,

and it follows that every $v \neq 1$ in V has the property that $w^{-1}v$ is in VMAN. [To see this, we note that $V \cap MAN = 1$. Thus $v \neq 1$ implies that v is in MAN w MAN = N w MAN and hence that $w^{-1}v$ is in $w^{-1}N w MAN = VMAN$.] This property of V means that the basic convolution operator given by (3.6) and (3.7) below has a one-point singularity. The analysis of the operator is therefore relatively simple.

Convergence and analytic continuation follow after a computation giving a number of equivalent forms for the intertwining operator $A_P(w, \xi, \Lambda)$. Before giving the computation, we assemble some identities. Corresponding to the decomposition G = KAN, we write $g = \kappa(g)e^{H(g)}n$ as in §1. Corresponding to the decomposition of most of G as VMAN, we write g = vm(g)a(g)n. Then we have

$$e^{AH(v)} = e^{-A\log a(\kappa(v))} \tag{3.1}$$

$$m(\kappa(v)) = 1. \tag{3.2}$$

The unique positive reduced a-root is denoted α , and we let $p = \dim g_{\alpha}$ and $q = \dim g_{2\alpha}$. The linear functional $\rho = \rho_p$ is given as $\rho = \frac{1}{2}(p+2q)\alpha$. With the

normalization of Haar measure as in §2, we have

$$\int_{V} e^{-2\rho H(v)} dv = 1$$

since $V = V^{(\alpha)}$. Consequently we see from [10, p. 287] that

$$\int_{K} f(k) dk = \int_{V \times M} f(\kappa(v)m) e^{-2\rho H(v)} dm dv.$$
(3.3)

We can now do our computation for a function f on G satisfying

$$f(x man) = e^{-(\rho + \Lambda) \log a} \xi(m)^{-1} f(x),$$

provided one of the integrals in question is absolutely convergent:

$$\int_{V} f(x w v) dv = \int_{V} e^{-(\rho - A)H(v)} f(x w \kappa(v)) dv$$

$$= \int_{V} e^{-(\rho - A)\log a(\kappa(v))} e^{-2\rho H(v)} \xi(m(\kappa(v))) f(x w \kappa(v)) dv$$

$$= \int_{V \times M} e^{-(\rho - A)\log a(\kappa(v)m_{0})} e^{-2\rho H(v)} \xi(m(\kappa(v)m_{0})) f(x w \kappa(v)m_{0}) dm_{0} dv$$

$$= \int_{K} e^{-(\rho - A)\log a(k)} \xi(m(k)) f(x w k) dk$$

$$= \int_{K} e^{-(\rho - A)\log a(w^{-1}k)} \xi(m(w^{-1}k)) f(x k) dk$$

$$= \int_{V \times M} e^{-(\rho - A)\log a(w^{-1}\kappa(v)m_{0})} \xi(m(w^{-1}\kappa(v)m_{0})) f(x \kappa(v)m_{0}) e^{-2\rho H(v)} dm_{0} dv$$

$$= \int_{V} e^{-(\rho - A)\log a(w^{-1}\kappa(v))} \xi(m(w^{-1}\kappa(v))) f(x \kappa(v)) e^{-2\rho H(v)} dv$$

$$= \int_{V} e^{-(\rho - A)\log a(w^{-1}v)} e^{-(\rho + A)H(v)} \xi(m(w^{-1}v)) f(x \kappa(v)) dv$$

$$= \int_{V} e^{-(\rho - A)\log a(w^{-1}v)} \xi(m(w^{-1}v)) f(x v) dv.$$
(3.7)

The left side of (3.4) is, of course, the formal expression for $A_P(w, \xi, \Lambda) f(x)$. Formulas (3.5) and (3.7) show how to write this expression as a convolution on K and V, respectively, and (3.6) is the useful form of the expression in the proof of the theorem below.

Theorem 3.1. For the rank-one minimal case, let $\Lambda = z\rho$ and $\rho = \frac{1}{2}(p+2q)\alpha$. Suppose f is a C^{∞} function in the space of the representation $U_P(\xi, \Lambda, \cdot)$, realized in the "compact picture", i.e., f is a C^{∞} function on K satisfying $f(km) = \xi(m)^{-1}f(k)$ for k in K, m in M. Then

(i) for $\operatorname{Re} z > 0$, $A_P(w, \xi, z\rho)f$ is convergent,

(ii) for general z, $A_p(w, \xi, z\rho)f$ extends to a meromorphic function of z with at most simple poles at nonnegative integral multiples of $-(p+2q)^{-1}$; except on this set, the map $(z, f) \rightarrow A_p(w, \xi, z\rho)f$ is continuous from $\mathbb{C} \times \mathbb{C}^{\infty}$ into \mathbb{C}^{∞} .

Conclusion (i) was observed in [28]. It follows from (3.4), the finiteness of $\int_{V} e^{-(1+\varepsilon)\rho H(v)} dv$ (see [10], p. 290), and the boundedness of $f(x w \kappa(v))$. Conclusion (ii) is Theorem 3 of [20] if G is linear connected semisimple, and the proof is the same for general G.

As soon as we have the convergence in conclusion (i), we obtain the intertwining property (1.10). By conclusion (ii), (1.10) extends to be valid for all Λ , as an identity of meromorphic functions (when applied to a C^{∞} function f).

We now introduce the function $\eta_{\xi}(z)$, which was called $c_{\xi}(z)$ in [20]. The operator $A_{P}(w^{-1}, w\xi, wA)A_{P}(w, \xi, A)$ commutes with $U_{P}(\xi, A, \cdot)$, which by Bruhat's theorem ([5], p. 193) has no nonscalar self-intertwining operators continuous in the C^{∞} topologies if A is imaginary. Letting $A = z\rho$ and noting that wA = -A, we have

$$A_{P}(w^{-1}, w\xi, -z\rho)A_{P}(w, \xi, z\rho) = \eta_{\xi}(z)I$$
(3.8)

for z imaginary. From Theorem 3.1 (ii), this identity extends to be valid for all z, with $\eta_{\xi}(z)$ meromorphic in \mathbb{C} .

The operator $A_P(w, \xi, z\rho)$ commutes with left translation by K, and each K-space of functions is finite-dimensional. In other words, there are disjoint finite-dimensional spaces left stable by $A_P(w, \xi, z\rho)$ whose sum is a dense subspace. In the sense of K-space by K-space, straightforward computation from (3.5) yields the adjoint formula

$$A_{P}(w,\xi,-\bar{A})^{*} = A_{P}(w^{-1},w\xi,wA).$$
(3.9)

Proposition 3.2. The function $\eta_{\xi}(z)$ has the following properties:

- (a) η_{ξ} is independent of the choice of w and depends only on the class of ξ ,
- (b) $\eta_{\xi}(z) = \eta_{\xi}(-\overline{z}),$
- (c) $\eta_{\xi}(z) \ge 0$ on the imaginary axis, and $\eta_{\xi}(z)$ is not identically 0,
- (d) $\eta_{w\xi}(-z) = \eta_{\xi}(z),$

(e) $\eta_{\xi^{\varphi}}(z) = \eta_{\xi}(z)$ if φ is an automorphism of G leaving K stable and the positive chamber of A fixed and if $\xi^{\varphi}(m) = \xi(\varphi^{-1}(m))$,

(f)
$$\eta_{\xi}(z) = \eta_{\xi}(-z)$$
.

Proof. Conclusions (a), (b), (c), and (d) are contained in Proposition 27 of [20]. For (e), we can check directly that

$$(A_P(w,\xi,\Lambda)f)(\varphi^{-1}(k)) = A_P(\varphi(w),\xi^{\varphi},\Lambda)(f\circ\varphi)(k),$$

and then (e) follows readily. For (f), we combine (d) and (e), using $\varphi(g) = w^{-1}(\theta g)w$.

Finally we define $A(\overline{P}:P:\xi:\Lambda)$ by means of (1.9), where $\overline{P} = MAV$. Namely

Intertwining Operators for Semisimple Groups, II

$$A(\overline{P}:P:\xi:\Lambda) = R(w)^{-1} A_P(w,\xi,\Lambda).$$
(3.10)

Proposition 3.3. For the rank-one minimal case

- (i) $A(P: \vec{P}: \xi: \Lambda) = R(w^{-1})A(\vec{P}: P: w\xi: w\Lambda)R(w),$
- (ii) $A(P:\overline{P}:\xi:\Lambda)A(\overline{P}:P:\xi:\Lambda) = \eta_{\xi}(z)I$ if $\Lambda = z\rho_{P}$.

Proof. In (i), apply each side to f and evaluate at k, under the assumption that $A = -z \rho_P$ with Re z > 0. The left side is

$$\int_N f(kn)\,dn,$$

and the right side is

$$\int_V f(kw^{-1}vw)\,dv,$$

and these are equal by Lemma 2.6. Then (ii) follows from (i), (3.10), and (3.8).

§4. Existence of Operators, Higher-rank Minimal Case

We drop the assumption that G has dim $a_p = 1$. But since we shall work in this section only with minimal parabolic subgroups, we continue to omit the subscripts p.

The operators $A_P(w, \xi, \Lambda)$ and their normalizations were dealt with in [32] and [20], and the operator $A(P_2: P_1: \xi: \Lambda)$ may be defined in terms of them by (1.9). However, following a suggestion due to N. Wallach, we shall rederive the theory by dealing with $A(P_2: P_1: \xi: \Lambda)$ first; this approach is one that can be adapted easily to the case of nonminimal parabolics and will make it possible to omit a number of proofs in §6 and §7.

The inner product B_{θ} on g induces an inner product on the dual a' of a, which we denote by $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$.

Recall that the formal expression for an intertwining operator is

$$A(P_2:P_1:\xi:\Lambda)f(x) = \int_{V_1 \cap N_2} f(xv) dv$$

if $P_1 = MAN_1$ and $P_2 = MAN_2$. For a reduced a-root α , we recall the definition of $G^{(\alpha)}$ in (1.5) and of the subgroups $N^{(\alpha)}$ and $V^{(\alpha)}$.

Proposition 4.1. Let $P_1 = MAN_1$ and $P_2 = MAN_2$ be minimal parabolic subgroups such that $V_1 \cap N_2 = V^{(\alpha)}$ for a P_1 -positive reduced root α . Let f be in the C^{∞} space for $U_{P_1}(\xi, \Lambda, \cdot)$, and let f_k be the restriction to $G^{(\alpha)}$ of the left translate of f by k in K. Then f_k is in the C^{∞} space for $U_{P^{(\alpha)}}(\xi, \Lambda|_{\alpha^{(\alpha)}}, \cdot)$, and

$$A(P_2:P_1:\xi:\Lambda)f(k) = A^{(\alpha)}(\theta P^{(\alpha)}:P^{(\alpha)}:\xi:\Lambda|_{a^{(\alpha)}})f_k(1).$$

$$(4.1)$$

Consequently $A(P_2: P_1: \xi: \Lambda) f$ is given by an absolutely convergent integral if $\langle \operatorname{Re} \Lambda, \alpha \rangle > 0$, and it continues to a global meromorphic function in Λ . Moreover,

$$A(P_1:P_2:\xi:\Lambda)A(P_2:P_1:\xi:\Lambda) = \eta(P_2:P_1:\xi:\Lambda)I, \qquad (4.2)$$

where η is the meromorphic function of Λ given by

$$\eta(P_2:P_1:\xi:\Lambda) = \eta_{\xi}^{(\alpha)} \left(\frac{\langle \Lambda, \rho^{(\alpha)} \rangle}{\langle \rho^{(\alpha)}, \rho^{(\alpha)} \rangle} \right).$$

Proof. It is clear that f_k satisfies the appropriate transformation law, apart from the relationship between ρ_{P_1} and $\rho^{(\alpha)}$. Here $\rho_{P_1}H_{P_1}(v) = \rho^{(\alpha)}H^{(\alpha)}(v)$ by p. 399 of [28] or by Proposition 1.2. The two sides of (4.1) are, respectively,

$$\int_{V_1 \cap N_2} f(kv) dv \text{ and } \int_{V^{(\alpha)}} f(ku) du.$$

Since $V_1 \cap N_2 = V^{(\alpha)}$, formula (4.1) is a question of whether the normalizations of Haar measure, the one for $V_1 \cap N_2 \subseteq G$ and the one for $V^{(\alpha)} \subseteq G^{(\alpha)}$, are the same. But both normalizations are defined the same way, in terms of the integral of exp $\{-2\rho^{(\alpha)}H^{(\alpha)}(v)\}$, and hence the two normalizations are the same.

In view of (4.1), the absolute convergence of the integral when $\langle \operatorname{Re} \Lambda, \alpha \rangle > 0$ is a consequence of Theorem 3.1 (i), and the meromorphic continuation follows from Theorem 3.1 (ii). Formula (4.2) then follows from Proposition 3.3 (ii).

Let P = MAN and P' = MAN' be minimal parabolic subgroups. A sequence $P_i = MAN_i$, $0 \le i \le r$, is called a *string* from P to P' if there are P-positive reduced a-roots α_i , $1 \le i \le r$, such that

$$V_{i-1} \cap N_i = V^{(\alpha_i)} \quad \text{or} \quad N^{(\alpha_i)}, \quad 1 \le i \le r,$$

$$P_0 = P \quad \text{and} \quad P_r = P'. \tag{4.3}$$

The string P_i is called a *minimal string* from P to P' if

$$V_{i-1} \cap N_i = V^{(\alpha_i)}, \quad 1 \le i \le r,$$

$$P_0 = P \quad \text{and} \quad P_r = P'.$$
(4.4)

The parabolics P and P' can always be connected by a minimal string ([12], p. 145). Namely, we choose H and H' in the respective open positive Weyl chambers of a for P and P' so that

$$H(t) = (1-t)H + tH', \quad 0 \le t \le 1,$$

is never annihilated by more than one *P*-positive reduced a-root for a given *t*. Let $0 < t_1 < ... < t_r < 1$ be the values of *t* such that $H(t_i)$ is annihilated by some *P*-positive reduced a-root α_i . Let $P_i = MAN_i$ be associated to the Weyl chamber in which (t_i, t_{i+1}) lies, for $0 \le i \le r$, with $t_0 = 0$ and $t_{r+1} = 1$. Then P_i , $0 \le i \le r$, is a minimal string from *P* to *P'*.

Theorem 4.2. Suppose that P = MAN and P' = MAN' are minimal parabolic subgroups and $P_i = MAN_i$, $0 \le i \le r$, is a minimal string from P to P', with associated reduced P-positive a-roots $\{\alpha_i\}$. Then

(i) the set $\{\alpha_i\}$ is characterized as the set of reduced α -roots α that are positive for P and negative for P'.

(ii) r is characterized as the number of roots described in (i).

(iii) the unnormalized intertwining operators satisfy

$$A(P':P:\xi:\Lambda) = A(P_r:P_{r-1}:\xi:\Lambda) \cdot \ldots \cdot A(P_1:P_0:\xi:\Lambda),$$

they converge when $\langle \operatorname{Re} \Lambda, \alpha_i \rangle > 0$ for each *i*, and they have global meromorphic continuations in Λ that satisfy the intertwining identity (1.8). The meromorphic continuation of $A(P':P:\xi:\Lambda)$ is holomorphic at Λ_0 unless

$$\frac{2\langle \Lambda_0, \alpha \rangle}{|\alpha|^2} \in \mathbb{Z}$$
(4.5)

for some reduced a_n -root α that is positive for P and negative for P'.

(iv) $P_{r-i}, 0 \leq i \leq r$, is a minimal string from P' to P, with associated reduced P'-positive a-roots $\{-\alpha_i\}$.

(v) $A(P:P':\xi:\Lambda)A(P':P:\xi:\Lambda) = \eta(P':P:\xi:\Lambda)I$, where η is the scalar-valued function meromorphic in Λ given by

$$\eta(P':P:\zeta:\Lambda) = \prod_{\substack{\alpha \text{ reduced} \\ \alpha > 0 \text{ for } P \\ \alpha < 0 \text{ for } P'}} \eta_{\xi}^{(\alpha)} \left(\frac{\langle \Lambda, \rho^{(\alpha)} \rangle}{\langle \rho^{(\alpha)}, \rho^{(\alpha)} \rangle} \right).$$

The function η is holomorphic at Λ_0 unless (4.5) holds for some α -root α that is positive for P and negative for P', and it satisfies

$$\eta(P:P':\xi:\Lambda) = \eta(P':P:\xi:\Lambda). \tag{4.6}$$

Proof. First we show by downward induction on i that

$$\{\delta = \text{reduced } \mathfrak{a} \text{-root} | \mathfrak{g}_{\delta} \subseteq \mathfrak{n}_{i} \cap \mathfrak{n} \}$$

= $\{\delta = \text{reduced } \mathfrak{a} \text{-root} | \mathfrak{g}_{\delta} \subseteq \mathfrak{n}' \cap \mathfrak{n} \} \cup \{\alpha_{r}\} \cup \ldots \cup \{\alpha_{i+1}\}$ (4.7)

disjointly. Formula (4.7) is clear for i=r. Assume (4.7) holds inductively for i=j+1; we prove (4.7) holds for i=j. Then we have

$$\mathfrak{n}_{j} \cap \mathfrak{n} = (\mathfrak{n}_{j} \cap \mathfrak{v}_{j+1} \cap \mathfrak{n}) + (\mathfrak{n}_{j} \cap \mathfrak{n}_{j+1} \cap \mathfrak{n}) \subseteq \mathfrak{n}^{(\alpha_{j+1})} + (\mathfrak{n}_{j+1} \cap \mathfrak{n}),$$

which says that the left side of (4.7) is contained in the right side for i=j. Also

$$\mathfrak{n}_{j+1} \cap \mathfrak{n} = (\mathfrak{n}_{j+1} \cap \mathfrak{v}_j \cap \mathfrak{n}) + (\mathfrak{n}_{j+1} \cap \mathfrak{n}_j \cap \mathfrak{n}) \subseteq 0 + (\mathfrak{n}_j \cap \mathfrak{n})$$

and

$$\mathfrak{n}^{(\alpha_{j+1})} = \mathfrak{n}_j \cap \mathfrak{v}_{j+1} \subseteq \mathfrak{n}_j,$$

which says that the right side of (4.7) is contained in the left side for i=j. If the union stopped being disjoint for i=j, we would have

$$\mathfrak{n}^{(\alpha_{j+1})} \subseteq \mathfrak{n}_{j+1} \cap \mathfrak{n},$$

but this inclusion contradicts the inclusion $n^{(\alpha_{j+1})} \subseteq v_{j+1}$. Thus the induction goes through, and (4.7) holds.

Taking i=0 in (4.7) and identifying the left side as the set of reduced a-roots δ that are positive for P and the right side as the set of reduced a-roots δ that are positive for both P and P', we obtain conclusion (i) of the theorem. Then (ii) is immediate.

For (iii), if we disregard convergence questions, we can use (4.7) to see that $n_i \cap n \subseteq n_{i-1} \cap n$. Applying Proposition 2.3 inductively on *i* downward, with

$$MAN$$
, MAN_{i-1} , and MAN_i

as the three parabolics in the proposition, we obtain

$$\int_{V \cap N'} f(xv) dv = \int_{(V_{r-1} \cap N_r) \times (V \cap N_{r-1})} f(xv_r v) dv_r dv$$
$$= \int_{V^{(\alpha_r)} \times (V \cap N_{r-1})} f(xv_r v) dv_r dv$$
$$= \dots = \int_{V^{(\alpha_r)} \times \dots \times V^{(\alpha_1)}} f(xv_r \dots v_1) dv_r \dots dv_1,$$

which is formally the identity in conclusion (iii). To deal with the convergence, we note that if f is in the space for $U_P(\xi, \Lambda, \cdot)$, then |f| is in the space for $U_P(1, \text{Re }\Lambda, \cdot)$. We apply our formal computation to |f|, and the *i*th integration on the right produces a finite result since $\langle \text{Re }\Lambda, \alpha_i \rangle > 0$. (Here the relevant part of the proof of Proposition 4.1 is valid, even though the function acted on by the intertwining operator need not be C^{∞} .) Thus the integral on the left is absolutely convergent, and our formal computation is justified. As soon as we have convergence, the intertwining identity (1.8) is valid, and the meromorphic continuation follows from the continuation of each factor of (iii), known from Proposition 4.1. The singularities of $\Lambda(P': P:\xi:\Lambda)$ are limited in location to (4.5) by the product decomposition of the operator and by Theorem 3.1. This proves (iii).

For (iv), let $Q_i = P_{r-i}$. Then

$$V_{Q_{i-1}} \cap N_{Q_i} = V_{r-i+1} \cap N_{r-i} = \theta(N_{r-i+1} \cap V_{r-i})$$

= $\theta V^{(\alpha_{r-i+1})} = V^{(-\alpha_{r+1-i})}, \quad 1 \le i \le r.$

This proves (iv). For (v), we expand the two factors on the left by means of (iii) and (iv) and then collapse pairs of factors (starting from the center) by means of (4.2). This proves the product formula. In (4.6), at any Λ where either side of (4.6) is nonzero the two operators $A(P':P:\xi:\Lambda)$ and $A(P:P':\xi:\Lambda)$ must commute with each other on each K-space, hence globally. Then (4.6) follows. This proves (v).

Lemma 4.3. Suppose that f is a C^{∞} function on K such that

$$f(km) = \xi(m)^{-1} f(k) \quad \text{for } k \text{ in } K, m \text{ in } M,$$

and such that $\Lambda \to A(P':P:\xi:\Lambda)f$ fails to be holomorphic at $\Lambda = \Lambda_0$. Let $f = \sum f_{\tau}$ be the Fourier expansion of f on K, with f_{τ} the projection of f to the space of the K-type τ . Then $\Lambda \to A(P':P:\xi:\Lambda)f_{\tau}$ fails to be holomorphic at $\Lambda = \Lambda_0$ for some τ .

Proof. Expand $A(P':P:\xi:\Lambda)$ as in Theorem 4.2(iii) and let $A(P_i:P_{i-1}:\xi:\Lambda)$ be the term corresponding to the *P*-positive reduced root α . By Theorem 3 of [20] and Proposition 4.1, the operator

$$\langle A - A_0, \alpha \rangle A(P_i : P_{i-1} : \xi : A)$$

is holomorphic at Λ_0 on all of C^{∞} and is continuous on C^{∞} . Consequently

$$\{\prod_{\substack{\alpha \text{ reduced} \\ \alpha > 0 \text{ for } P \\ \alpha < 0 \text{ for } P'}} \langle \Lambda - \Lambda_0, \alpha \rangle\} A(P' : P : \xi : \Lambda)$$
(4.7)

is holomorphic at Λ_0 on all of C^{∞} and is continuous on C^{∞} . Applying (4.7) to both sides of the identity $f = \sum f_{\tau}$, we obtain an equality of holomorphic functions near Λ_0 :

$$\{\prod \langle \Lambda - \Lambda_0, \alpha \rangle\} A(P': F: \xi: \Lambda) f$$

= $\sum \{\prod \langle \Lambda - \Lambda_0, \alpha \rangle\} A(P': P: \xi: \Lambda) f_{\tau}.$ (4.8)

Assuming by way of contradiction that our operator is holomorphic at Λ_0 on K-finite functions, we see that the right side of (4.8) is 0 term by term for all Λ near Λ_0 such that $\prod \langle \Lambda - \Lambda_0, \alpha \rangle = 0$. The factors in $\prod \langle \Lambda - \Lambda_0, \alpha \rangle$ are of the first order, and their zero varieties are distinct. From the theory of one complex variable, we may divide through the right side of (4.8) by one factor at a time, retaining the holomorphic behavior. Thus the left side of (4.8) is holomorphic at Λ_0 if the factor $\prod \langle \Lambda - \Lambda_0, \alpha \rangle$ is dropped, and we have arrived at a contradiction.

At this time we could derive further properties of the operators $A(P': P: \xi: \Lambda)$, and we could introduce their normalizations, as well as the operators $A_P(w, \xi, \Lambda)$ and their normalizations. But these further properties will not be needed to develop the operators for nonminimal parabolics, and consequently we shall obtain the further properties as special cases of the theory for nonminimal parabolics.

§ 5. Subrepresentation Theorem

Casselman [6] has proved the following subrepresentation theorem. A detailed exposition has been given by Miličić [31].

Theorem 5.1. (Casselman). Let G be a connected semisimple group with finite center, and let $\mathcal{U}(g)$ be the universal enveloping algebra of $g^{\mathbb{C}}$. Let ξ be an irreducible admissible representation of G on a Banach space H^{ξ} , and let H_K^{ξ} be the subspace of K-finite vectors. Then there exists a nonunitary principal series representation $U(\sigma, \Lambda_0, \cdot)$ such that H_K^{ξ} imbeds in $\mathcal{U}(g)$ -equivariant fashion in the space of K-finite vectors for $U(\sigma, \Lambda_0, \cdot)$.

In unpublished work, Casselman and Miličić have extended this result to all groups satisfying the basic axioms of §1. We shall give such an extension here,

providing a proof that starts from Casselman's theorem and keeps track of the parameters in the imbedding. We need the result only for irreducible unitary representations and shall limit ourselves to that context. The result we seek is Theorem 5.4. Before stating the result, we put matters into perspective with Lemma 5.3 below, giving a proof based on Lemma 5.2, which is well known.

Lemma 5.2. Let ξ be an irreducible unitary representation on a Hilbert space X of a group G satisfying the axioms of §1. For each z in the center \mathscr{Z} of the universal enveloping algebra $\mathscr{U}(\mathfrak{g}), \xi(z)$ acts as a scalar on the \mathbb{C}^{∞} space of X.

Proof. Since Ad(G) is contained in the connected adjoint group of the complexification $g^{\mathbb{C}}$, Ad(G) fixes every element z of \mathscr{Z} . It follows then from standard arguments that $\xi(z)$ is scalar on the C^{∞} space of X.

Lemma 5.3.³ Let ξ be an irreducible unitary representation on a Hilbert space X of a group G satisfying the axioms of §1. Then under $\xi|_{G_0}$, X admits a splitting into the finite orthogonal sum of irreducible closed subspaces, with at most $[G:G_0]$ terms in the orthogonal sum.

Proof. By Lemma 5.2, $\xi|_{G_0}$ is quasisimple. We shall apply Corollary 2, p. 229, of [9], which is proved in [9] for connected semisimple groups and is easily seen to be valid for G_0 . By this corollary, there exist closed G_0 -invariant subspaces $V \subseteq U$ such that $\xi|_{G_0}$ is irreducible on U/V. Since ξ is unitary, $F = U \cap V^{\perp}$ is a closed subspace of X invariant and irreducible under G_0 .

Let g_i , $1 \le i \le n$, be coset representatives of G/G_0 . Since G_0 is normal, $E_i = \xi(g_i)F$ is another closed irreducible subspace under G_0 . Since ξ is irreducible, it follows that $\sum_{i=1}^{n} E_i$ is dense in X. Here the K_0 -finite vectors of E_i are irreducible under g and are dense in E_i . If P_1 denotes the orthogonal projection on E_1^{\perp} , then P_1 is a bounded G_0 -intertwining operator from E_i into E_1^{\perp} . So

$$\sum E_{i} = E_{1} + P_{1} E_{2} + \ldots + P_{1} E_{n},$$

and the K_0 -finite vectors in P_1E_i , $2 \le i \le n$, are dense in P_1E_i and irreducible (or 0) under g. Let P_2 be the orthogonal projection on $(P_1E_2)^{\perp}$. Proceeding as above, we obtain

$$\sum E_{i} = E_{1} + P_{1}E_{2} + P_{2}P_{1}E_{3} + \dots + P_{2}P_{1}E_{n},$$

with each space on the right invariant under G_0 and such that its K_0 -finite vectors are dense in the space and are irreducible (or 0) under g. In similar fashion, we obtain

$$\sum E_i = E_1 + P_1 E_2 + P_2 P_1 E_3 + P_3 P_2 P_1 E_4 + \dots + P_{n-1} \cdot \dots \cdot P_1 E_n.$$

The closure of each space on the right is irreducible under G_0 . Since the sum is orthogonal, the sum of the closures is the closure of the sum. Then X is

³ This is a relatively easy special case of Lemma 1.16 of Miličić [38]: If G is a locally compact group and H is an open subgroup of finite index and ξ is an irreducible unitary representation on X, then, under $\xi|_{H}$, X admits a splitting into the finite orthogonal sum of irreducible closed subspaces, with at most [G:H] terms.

exhibited as the orthogonal sum of at most n closed G_0 -irreducible subspaces, as required.

It follows from Lemma 5.3 that, in an irreducible unitary representation of G, the K-finite vectors for each K-type form a finite-dimensional space and are necessarily analytic vectors. We can therefore form an infinitesimal representation in the subspace of K-finite vectors; this consists of the algebra action by $\mathcal{U}(g)$ and the group action by K, and the two are consistent in the obvious fashion. The space of K-finite vectors is irreducible in the sense that there are no proper subspaces invariant under $\mathcal{U}(g)$ and K.

Theorem 5.4 (Casselman-Miličić). Let G be a group satisfying the axioms of §1, let ξ be an irreducible unitary representation of G on a Hilbert space H^{ξ} , and let H_{K}^{ξ} be the subspace of K-finite vectors. Then there exists a nonunitary principal series representation $U(\sigma, \Lambda_0, \cdot)$ such that H_{K}^{ξ} imbeds in the space of K-finite vectors for $U(\sigma, \Lambda_0, \cdot)$, equivariantly with respect to g and K.

Proof. Let MAN be a minimal parabolic subgroup of G. Then $(M \cap G_0)AN$ is a minimal parabolic subgroup of G_0 . We have $G_0 = Z_{G_0} \cdot G_s$, where Z_{G_0} is the compact center of G_0 and G_s is the (semisimple) commutator subgroup of G_0 . The group $(M \cap G_s)AN$ is a minimal parabolic subgroup of G_s , and $(M \cap G_0) = Z_{G_0} \cdot (M \cap G_s)$.

By Lemma 5.3, we can choose a constituent ξ_0 of ξ , irreducible under G_0 . Then Z_{G_0} acts as scalars under ξ_0 (say $\xi_0(z) = \chi(z)I$), and $\xi_0|_{G_s}$ is irreducible. By Theorem 5.1, we form an equivariant imbedding of the $(K \cap G_s)$ -finite vectors of $\xi_0|_{G_s}$ in a nonunitary principal series $U(\sigma_s, \Lambda_0, \cdot)$ of G_s . The latter representation extends to a representation of G_0 given as $U(\sigma_s, \Lambda_0, \cdot)$ on G_s and the scalar $\chi(z)$ on z in Z_{G_0} , and this extended representation is easily seen to be canonically identified with $U(\sigma_0, \Lambda_0, \cdot)$ of G_0 , where

$$\sigma_0 = \begin{cases} \sigma_s & \text{on } (M \cap G_s) \\ \chi & \text{on } Z_{G_0}. \end{cases}$$

Thus we have the required result for G_0 : ξ_0 imbeds infinitesimally in $U(\sigma_0, A_0, \cdot)$.

Now we pass to G. By Theorem 4' of [30], Frobenius reciprocity holds for G and G_0 , provided we count only discrete occurrences of representations. The formula gives

$$[\xi|_{G_0}:\xi_0] = [\inf_{G_0\uparrow G}\xi_0:\xi].$$

Since the left side is nonzero, ξ occurs in $\inf_{\substack{G_0 \uparrow G \\ \sigma_0 \uparrow G}} \xi_0$, which in turn imbeds in equivariant fashion in $\inf_{\substack{G_0 \uparrow G \\ \sigma_0 \uparrow G}} U(\sigma_0, \Lambda_0, \cdot)$. This last representation is canonically identified with $U(\inf_{\substack{G_0 \uparrow M \\ (M \cap G_0) \uparrow M}} \sigma_0, \Lambda_0, \cdot)$, which in turn is identified with a direct sum

$$\sum_{i=1}^{n} U(\sigma_i, \Lambda_0, \cdot),$$

where

$$\inf_{(M \cap G_0) \uparrow M} \sigma_0 = \sum_{i=1}^n \sigma_i,$$

 σ_i irreducible. Since ξ imbeds in the direct sum and is irreducible, it must imbed into one of the factors, by projection. This proves the theorem.

In Lemma 5.2 we saw that the center \mathscr{Z} of $\mathscr{U}(g)$ acts by scalars, for an irreducible unitary representation, and thereby defines a character of \mathscr{Z} . It is well known that such characters are classified by complex-linear functionals on a Cartan subalgebra of $g^{\mathbb{C}}$, modulo the action of the complex Weyl group.

Lemma 5.5. Let the irreducible unitary representation ξ of G imbed in the nonunitary principal series representation of G with parameters (σ, Λ_0) . If the infinitesimal character of ξ is a real linear combination of roots, then Λ_0 is real.

Proof. The infinitesimal character of ξ must match that of the nonunitary principal series representation, which is $\chi_{A^- + \rho^- + A_0}$, where A^- is the highest weight of σ and ρ^- is half the sum of the positive roots of M_p . Since the infinitesimal character of ξ has been assumed real, it follows that A_0 is real.

§6. Existence of Operators, General Case

We turn to the general case with P = MAN a parabolic subgroup, and we deal with MAN and its associated parabolics. We fix an Iwasawa decomposition $M = K_M A_M N_M$ of M such that K_M is $K \cap M$ and \mathfrak{a}_M is in \mathfrak{p} . Then $G = KA_p N_p$ is an Iwasawa decomposition of G if we put $\mathfrak{a}_p = \mathfrak{a} \oplus \mathfrak{a}_M$ and $\mathfrak{n}_p = \mathfrak{n} \oplus \mathfrak{n}_M$, as in §1.

We shall construct intertwining operators that go with representations induced from P and associated parabolics. An approach that works when the representation ξ of M is in the discrete series is to connect intertwining operators with Harish-Chandra's *c*-functions (cf. §9). However, we shall follow a different approach, for two reasons:

(1) there would be no evident way of handling a representation ξ that is not in the discrete series

(2) there would be no clear way of dealing with functions in the induced space that are not K-finite, and such functions are critical to the proof of the linear independence in Theorem 12.1.

The different approach is to use an imbedding of ξ in the nonunitary principal series of M, by means of Theorem 5.4 applied to M. On an algebraic level, we shall see that

$$U_P(\xi,\Lambda,\cdot) = \inf_{MAN \uparrow G} (\xi \otimes e^{\Lambda} \otimes 1)$$

then imbeds in the nonunitary principal series of G and its intertwining operators are identified with restrictions of the operators constructed in §4 and §5. The results in this section were announced in [22].

Let ξ be an irreducible unitary representation of M, and let $P_1 = MAN_1$ and $P_2 = MAN_2$ be given. The formal integral for the intertwining operator is

$$A(P_2: P_1: \zeta: \Lambda) F(x) = \int_{V_1 \cap N_2} F(xv) dv.$$
(6.1)

By means of Theorem 5.4 applied to M, let the space $H_{K_M}^{\xi}$ of K_M -finite vectors in ξ imbed by a mapping i in the space $H_{K_M}^{\omega}$ of K_M -finite vectors of

$$\omega = \inf_{M_M A_M N_M \uparrow M} (\sigma \otimes e^{A_M} \otimes 1),$$

with the K_M and $\mathscr{U}(m)$ actions equivariant. Here ω acts on the space⁴

$$H^{\omega} = \{ f: M \to H^{\sigma} | f(x m_M a_M n_M) = e^{-(A_M + \rho_M) \log a_M} \sigma(m_M)^{-1} f(x) \},$$

whose norm is the L^2 norm on K_M . Form

$$U_P(\omega, \Lambda, \cdot) = \inf_{MAN \uparrow G} (\omega \otimes e^{\Lambda} \otimes 1)$$

acting on

$$H^{U_P} = \{F: G \to H^{\omega} | F(x m a n) = e^{-(\Lambda + \rho_P) \log a} \omega(m)^{-1} F(x)\}$$

$$(6.2)$$

with norm squared

$$\int_{K} |F(k)|^2_{H^{\omega}} dk.$$

Evaluation $F(\cdot) \rightarrow F(\cdot)(1)$ exhibits $U_P(\omega, \Lambda, \cdot)$ as equivalent via a unitary mapping with the nonunitary principal series representation

$$\inf_{M_pA_pN_p\uparrow G}(\sigma\otimes e^{(A_M\oplus A)}\otimes 1).$$

(This is routine to check and uses the equalities $M_M = M_p$ and $\rho_p = \rho + \rho_M$.) Now we pass to intertwining operators. In terms of $\dot{N_1}$ and $\dot{N_2}$, we let

 $(N_1)_n = N_1 N_M$ and $(N_2)_n = N_2 N_M$,

$$(V_1)_p = V_1 V_M$$
 and $(V_2)_p = V_2 V_M$.

Then the set of integration for (6.1) is

$$V_1 \cap N_2 = (V_1)_p \cap (N_2)_p$$

Therefore, using our evaluation map, we see that we have an equality of two formal expressions:

$$A(P_2: P_1: \omega: \Lambda) F(x)(m)$$

$$= (A((P_2)_p: (P_1)_p: \sigma: \Lambda_M \oplus \Lambda) F(\cdot)(1))(xm).$$
(6.3)

⁴ To avoid measure-theoretic complications, we may stick to smooth functions.

The expression on the right has a definition and analytic continuation whenever $F(\cdot)(1)$ is smooth, and we can therefore use it to define the left side of (6.3) for smooth F and give an analytic continuation for it. (The left side of (6.3) is not identically singular in Λ ; we shall identify in Theorem 6.6 a dense set of Λ in which it is holomorphic.)

Next we bring in ξ . For now, we shall be content with the effect of $A(P_2:P_1:\xi:\Lambda)$ on K-finite functions.⁵ We have

$$\iota(H^{\xi}_{K_{\mathcal{M}}}) \subseteq H^{\omega}_{K_{\mathcal{M}}}.$$

Let

 $H_0^{\omega} =$ closure of $\iota(H_{K_M}^{\xi})$ in norm topology of H^{ω} .

The space H_0^{ω} is ω -stable under M_0 and K_M , by [9], hence is stable under $\omega(M)$. (But beware: A priori, the C^{∞} vectors of H_0^{ω} need not be related to C^{∞} vectors of H^{ξ} , since no continuity of *i* has been established.)

Let

 $C^{\infty}(H_0^U) = \{ \text{smooth } F \text{ in } H^U | F(x) \text{ is in } H_0^{\omega} \text{ for all } x \text{ in } G \}$ $= \{ \text{smooth } F \text{ in } H^U | F(k) \text{ is in } H_0^{\omega} \text{ for all } k \text{ in } K \}.$

Lemma 6.1. The closure of $C^{\infty}(H_0^U)$ in the norm topology of H^U yields a representation of G in a Hilbert space, and the C^{∞} subspace is $C^{\infty}(H_0^U)$. The topology that $C^{\infty}(H_0^U)$ gets as the C^{∞} subspace is the same as the topology it inherits as a subset of the C^{∞} subspace $C^{\infty}(H^U)$ of H^U .

Proof. $C^{\infty}(H_0^U)$ is G-invariant, and hence so is its closure $\operatorname{cl} C^{\infty}(H_0^U)$. If $g \to U(g) F_0$ is C^{∞} and F_0 is in the closure, then F_0 is in $C^{\infty}(H^U) \cap \operatorname{cl} C^{\infty}(H_0^U)$. Let l be any continuous linear functional on H^{ω} that vanishes on H_0^{ω} and let h be in $L^2(K, \mathbb{C})$. Then

$$F \to \int_{K} h(k) F(k) dk \to l(\int_{K} hF dk)$$

is a composition of continuous functions in the norm topology and so vanishes on F_0 . Peaking *h*, we obtain $l(\text{image } F_0) = 0$. Allowing *l* to vary, we obtain image $F_0 \subseteq H_0^{\omega}$. Hence F_0 is in $C^{\infty}(H_0^U)$.

In the reverse direction, if F_0 is in $C^{\infty}(H_0^U)$, then F_0 is in $C^{\infty}(H^U)$ and $g \rightarrow U(g)F_0$ is C^{∞} . Hence F_0 is a C^{∞} vector.

To see that the topologies coincide,⁶ we note that the representations in question are quasisimple. A Laplacian on G can therefore be given in terms of the scalar Casimir operator and a Laplacian \triangle on K. This means that both topologies in question are given in terms of seminorms $|| \Delta^n F ||$, and they coincide.

⁵ It will be crucial in §12 and in Appendix B to consider a wider class of functions than the K-finite functions. The wider class that we use will be smooth functions on K that transform appropriately under K_M and have their values in a finite-dimensional K_M -finite subspace of H^{ξ} .

This style of argument for dealing with C^{∞} topologies was pointed out to us by Roe Goodman.

Lemma 6.2. The imbedding ι induces an imbedding $\iota^{\#}$ of the K-finite space for $U_{\mathbb{P}}(\xi, \Lambda, \cdot)$ onto the K-finite space for $U_{\mathbb{P}}(\omega, \Lambda, \cdot)|_{cl^{\infty}(H_{0}^{U})}$. The map $\iota^{\#}$ is equivariant with respect to K and g.

Proof. The K-finite space for $U_P(\xi, \Lambda, \cdot)$ consists of

$$\{F: G \to H^{\xi} | F(xman) = e^{-(\rho + \Lambda) \log a} \xi(m)^{-1} F(x) \text{ and } \dim \{ \operatorname{span} F(k \cdot) \} < \infty \}$$

These functions are determined by their restrictions to K, which satisfy

$$F(km) = \xi(m)^{-1} F(k) \quad \text{for } k \in K, \ m \in K \cap M$$

and

$$\dim \{ \sup_{k \in K} F(k \cdot) \} < \infty.$$

For such an F, F(k) is in $H_{K_M}^{\xi}$ because

$$span_{m\in K\cap M} \xi(m)^{-1}(F(k)) = span_{m\in K\cap M} F(km)$$
$$= eval_1 \{ span_{m\in K\cap M} F(km \cdot) \} \subseteq eval_1 \{ span_{k\in K} F(k \cdot) \}.$$

Hence these F are characterized as

$$\left\{F: K \to H^{\xi}_{K_M} \middle| \begin{array}{l} F(km) = \xi(m)^{-1} F(k) \text{ for } k \in K, \ m \in K_M \\ \dim \left\{ \operatorname{span}_{k \in K} F(k \cdot) \right\} < \infty \end{array}\right\}.$$
(6.4)

Similarly the K-finite space for $U_P(\omega, \Lambda, \cdot)|_{clC^{\infty}(H_{\Delta}^U)}$ is

$$\left\{F: K \to (H_0^{\omega})_{K_M} \middle| \begin{array}{l} F(km) = \omega(m)^{-1} F(k) \text{ for } k \in K, \ m \in K_M \\ \dim \left\{ \operatorname{span}_{k \in K} F(k \cdot) \right\} < \infty \end{array} \right\}.$$
(6.5)

If F is in the space (6.4), then $\iota^{\#} F = \iota \circ F$ is in the space (6.5), since ι is K_{M} -equivariant. It is obvious that $\iota^{\#}$ is K-equivariant. For the g-equivariance, let X be in g. Then we have

$$U_{P}(\xi, \Lambda, X) F(k) = \frac{d}{dt} F((\exp t X)^{-1} k)|_{t=0}$$

= $\frac{d}{dt} F(k \exp(-t \operatorname{Ad}(k^{-1}) X))|_{t=0}.$

Thus if we decompose $-\operatorname{Ad}(k^{-1})X$ according to $g=\mathfrak{t}\oplus\mathfrak{m}\oplus\mathfrak{a}\oplus\mathfrak{n}$, we see that that above expression is given in terms of differentiation on K, the transformation law of $\zeta(\mathfrak{m})$, and the transformation law for a. These are compatible with the corresponding formula for $U_P(\omega, \Lambda, X)$, and thus $\iota^{\#}$ is g-equivariant. Finally $\iota^{\#}$ is one-one onto since $(\iota^{\#})^{-1}F = \iota^{-1} \circ F$ provides a two-sided inverse.

For F in the K-finite space of $U_{P_1}(\xi, \Lambda, \cdot)$, we define

$$A(P_2:P_1:\xi:\Lambda)F = (\iota^*)^{-1}A(P_2:P_1:\omega:\Lambda)\iota^*F.$$
(6.6)

The right side is meaningful, in view of the following lemma.

Lemma 6.3. $A(P_2:P_1:\omega:\Lambda)$ carries the space $C^{\infty}(H_0^U)$, with transformation laws according to P_1 , ω , and Λ , continuously into $C^{\infty}(H_0^U)$, with transformation laws according to P_2 , ω , and Λ , provided Λ is a regular value.

Proof. By (6.3) and Theorem 4.2(iii), $A(P_2:P_1:\omega:\Lambda)F(k)$ is given by a convergent integral of values F(kv), provided Λ is in a suitable region. Each F(kv) is in H_0^{ω} and hence so is the integral. Then $A(P_2:P_1:\omega:\Lambda)F(k)$ must be in H_0^{ω} for all Λ , by analytic continuation. The continuity of the intertwining operator follows easily from Lemma 6.1 and the technique at the end of its proof.

Formula (6.6) gives us a definition and analytic continuation for the left side of (6.6) for *K*-finite *F*. Before deriving the basic properties of the operators, we shall show that this definition is independent of the choice of nonunitary principal series ω into which ξ is imbedded. We do so by giving an intrinsic definition for the left side of (6.6) by means of a convergent integral for Λ in a suitable region; the definition extends to be intrinsic for all Λ because of the analyticity that has already been proved.

Lemma 6.4. The trivial representation of M is imbedded as a subspace of the nonunitary principal series when $\sigma = 1$ and $\Lambda_M = -\rho_M$.

Proof. The space for this induced representation of M is

$$\{f: M \to \mathbb{C} | f(mm_M a_M n_M) = e^{-(\rho_M + A_M) \log a_M} f(m) \}$$

= $\{f: M \to \mathbb{C} | f \text{ is right invariant under } M_M A_M N_M \},$

and the space of constant functions is an M-invariant subspace.

Lemma 6.5. For each \mathfrak{a} -root β , let

$$c_{\beta} = \max\{\rho_{M}(H_{\alpha})\},\tag{6.7}$$

where the maximum is taken over all \mathfrak{a}_p -roots α such that $\alpha|_a = \beta$. If MAN and MAN' are associated parabolics, then $\exp(-(\Lambda + \rho_p)H_p(v))$ is integrable on $V \cap N'$, provided $\langle \operatorname{Re} \Lambda, \beta \rangle > c_\beta$ for all β with $\mathfrak{g}_\beta \subseteq \mathfrak{n} \cap \mathfrak{v}'$.

Remark. For a minimal parabolic, each c_{β} should be interpreted as 0.

Proof. Taking note of Lemma 6.4, we apply our theory to the representation $U_P(1, \Lambda, \cdot)$ of G. The function $F: G \to \mathbb{C}$ given by

$$F(x) = \exp(-(\Lambda + \rho_P)H_P(x))$$

is in the space of this representation, and $\iota^{\#} F(x)$ is the constant function on M given by

$$\iota^{\#} F(x)(m) = F(x).$$

By (6.3), we have, for k in K and m in K_M ,

$$(A(P':P:\omega:\Lambda)\iota^*F)(k)(m)$$

= $(A(P'_p:P_p:1:-\rho_M\oplus\Lambda)\iota^*F(\cdot)(1))(km),$

with the expression on the right given by the absolutely convergent integral

$$= \int_{V_{p} \cap N'_{p}} \iota^{*} F(kmv)(1) dv = \int_{V \cap N'} F(kmv) dv$$

= $\int_{V \cap N'} \exp(-(\Lambda + \rho_{p}) H_{p}(v)) dv,$ (6.8)

provided the condition of Theorem 4.2(iii) is satisfied,

$$\langle \operatorname{Re}(-\rho_M + \Lambda), \alpha \rangle > 0$$

for every \mathfrak{a}_p -root α such that $\mathfrak{g}_{\alpha} \subseteq \mathfrak{n}_p \cap \mathfrak{v}'_p$. The α 's with $\mathfrak{g}_{\alpha} \subseteq \mathfrak{n}_p \cap \mathfrak{v}'_p = \mathfrak{n} \cap \mathfrak{v}'$ are the α 's with $\alpha|_{\alpha} = \beta$ and $\beta \subseteq \mathfrak{n} \cap \mathfrak{v}'$. For such an α , our hypothesis gives

$$\langle \operatorname{Re}(-\rho_M + \Lambda), \alpha \rangle = -\rho_M(H_\alpha) + \langle \operatorname{Re}\Lambda, \beta \rangle$$
$$\geq -c_\beta + \langle \operatorname{Re}\Lambda, \beta \rangle > 0.$$

Hence the integral on the right of (6.8) is indeed convergent.

Theorem 6.6. Let $P_1 = MAN_1$ and $P_2 = MAN_2$ be associated parabolics, and suppose that $\langle \operatorname{Re} A, \beta \rangle > c_{\beta}$ for every a-root β such that $g_{\beta} \subseteq n_1 \cap v_2$, where c_{β} is given by (6.7). If F is a smooth function in the space for $U_{P_1}(\xi, \Lambda, \cdot)$, then the integral

$$\int_{V_1 \cap N_2} F(xv) \, dv$$

is a convergent H^{ξ} -valued integral. If, in addition, F is K-finite, then

$$A(P_2: P_1: \xi: \Lambda) F(x) = \int_{V_1 \cap N_2} F(xv) dv.$$
(6.9)

In this case, if the restriction of F to K is regarded as a member of a space independent of Λ and if x is in K, then the integral has an analytic continuation to a global meromorphic function in Λ . Moreover, there exist a rational number c and finitely many complex numbers $d_i(\xi)$ such that the meromorphic continuation of $A(P_2:P_1:\xi:\Lambda)$ is holomorphic at Λ_0 unless

$$\frac{2\langle \Lambda_0, \beta \rangle}{|\beta|^2} \in c \mathbb{Z} + d_i(\xi)$$
(6.10)

for some a-root β that is positive for P_1 and negative for P_2 . If rank $M = \operatorname{rank} K_M$, the number c can be taken to be 1/3. If the infinitesimal character of ζ is a real linear combination of roots of M, then the numbers $d_i(\zeta)$ are all real.

Proof. For convergence of the integral, we have

and

$$F(xv) = \exp\{-(\Lambda + \rho_{P_1})H_{P_1}(xv)\} \,\xi(\mu(xv))^{-1} F(\kappa(xv))$$
$$|F(xv)|_{H^{\xi}} \le \exp\{-(\operatorname{Re}\Lambda + \rho_{P_1})H_{P_1}(xv)\} \sup_{k \in K} |F(k)|_{H^{\xi}}.$$

Write $x = kman_1v_1$, with n_1 in $N_1 \cap N_2$ and v_1 in $V_1 \cap N_2$. For a suitable constant C depending on a, we have

$$\int_{V_1 \cap N_2} |F(xv)|_{H^\zeta} dv \leq C \int_{V_1 \cap N_2} \exp\{-(\operatorname{Re} \Lambda + \rho_{P_1}) H_{P_1}(n_1 v_1 v)\} dv$$
$$= C \int_{V_1 \cap N_2} \exp\{-(\operatorname{Re} \Lambda + \rho_{P_1}) H_{P_1}(n_1 v)\} dv.$$

Since $N_2 = (N_1 \cap N_2)(V_1 \cap N_2) = (V_1 \cap N_2)(N_1 \cap N_2)$, we can write $n_1 v = \tilde{v}\tilde{n}_1$, and it is known that $v \to \tilde{v}$ is unimodular (cf. [28] or [8]). Thus the above integral equals

$$= C \int_{V_1 \cap N_2} \exp\{-(\operatorname{Re} \Lambda + \rho_{P_1}) H_{P_1}(v)\} dv,$$

which is finite by Lemma 6.5. This proves convergence of the integral.

To prove (6.9), it is enough to handle x = k in K, since both sides transform the same way under MAN_2 on the right. Set

$$AF(k) = \int_{V_1 \cap N_2} F(kv) \, dv.$$

Here F is K-finite, and it follows that AF and $A(P_2: P_1: \xi: \Lambda)$ are K-finite. Taking the spaces of left K-translates of F and AF and evaluating at 1, we see that

$$\operatorname{span}\left\{\operatorname{all} F(k), \operatorname{all} AF(k), \operatorname{all} A(P_2 : P_1 : \xi : \Lambda) F(k)\right\}$$
(6.11)

is finite-dimensional in $H_{K_M}^{\xi}$. Then we can find an orthogonal projection E on H^{ξ} that is 1 on (6.11), has finite-dimensional image, and is 1 on every vector of a given K_M -type whenever it is 1 on one nonzero vector of that K_M -type. Let $E' = \iota E \, \iota^{-1}$ be the corresponding projection for H_0^{ω} .

We shall show that

$$E'\omega(m)E' = \iota E\,\xi(m)E\,\iota^{-1} \tag{6.12}$$

for all *m* in *M*. The K_M -equivariance of *i*, *E*, and *E'* implies (6.12) for *m* in K_M , and it is enough to prove (6.12) for *m* in M_0 . For X in $\mathcal{U}(m)$, the m-equivariance of *i* implies

$$\omega(X)E' = \omega(X)\iota E\iota^{-1} = \iota\xi(X)E\iota^{-1}.$$

Left multiplication of both sides by E' gives (6.12), but with *m* replaced by *X*. This means that the two sides of (6.12) are analytic functions on M_0 (since image E' is finite-dimensional) with respective derivatives of all orders equal at m=1. This proves (6.12) for M_0 , hence for *M*.

Thus we obtain

$$\begin{split} AF(k) &= EAF(k) = E \int_{V_1 \cap N_2} \exp \left\{ - (A + \rho_{P_1}) H_{P_1}(v) \right\} E\xi(\mu(v))^{-1} F(k\kappa(v)) dv \\ &\text{since } E \text{ is bounded} \\ &= E \int_{V_1 \cap N_2} \exp \left\{ - (A + \rho_{P_1}) H_{P_1}(v) \right\} E\xi(\mu(v))^{-1} EF(k\kappa(v)) dv \\ &= E \int_{V_1 \cap N_2} \exp \left\{ - (A + \rho_{P_1}) H_{P_1}(v) \right\} i^{-1} E' \omega(\mu(v))^{-1} E' i F(k\kappa(v)) dv \\ &= \int_{V_1 \cap N_2} \exp \left\{ - (A + \rho_{P_1}) H_{P_1}(v) \right\} E i^{-1} E' \omega(\mu(v))^{-1} i EF(k\kappa(v)) dv \\ &= E i^{-1} E' \int_{V_1 \cap N_2} \exp \left\{ - (A + \rho_{P_1}) H_{P_1} \right\} \omega(\mu(v))^{-1} i F(k\kappa(v)) dv \\ &\text{since } E i^{-1} E' \text{ is bounded} \\ &= E i^{-1} E' A(P_2 : P_1 : \omega : A)(i^* F)(k) \\ &= E i^{-1} (i^* (A(P_2 : P_1 : \xi : A) F)(k)) \\ &= A(P_2 : P_1 : \xi : A) F(k). \end{split}$$

The qualitative statements about analytic continuation were proved earlier and center about Theorem 4.2(iii) and formulas (6.3) and (6.6). We still have to prove the quantitative estimate (6.10). Imbed ξ in a nonunitary principal series representation of M with parameters (σ , Λ_M). Theorem 4.2(iii) and formulas (6.3) and (6.6) show that $A(P_2: P_1: \xi: \Lambda)$ is holomorphic at Λ_0 unless

$$\frac{2\langle \Lambda_0 + \Lambda_M, \alpha \rangle}{|\alpha|^2} \in \mathbb{Z}$$

for some a_p -root α that is positive for $(P_1)_p$ and negative for $(P_2)_p$. For such an α , write $\alpha = \beta + \gamma$, where $\beta = \alpha|_{\alpha}$ and $\gamma = \alpha|_{\alpha_M}$. The condition is that the operator is holomorphic at Λ_0 unless

$$\frac{2\langle \Lambda_0, \beta \rangle}{|\beta + \gamma|^2} \in \mathbb{Z} - \frac{2\langle \Lambda_M, \gamma \rangle}{|\beta + \gamma|^2}$$

for some $\beta + \gamma$. To obtain (6.10), we are to show that $|\beta + \gamma|^2 = cn|\beta|^2$ for some integer *n* and fixed rational *c*. Since $W(\mathfrak{a}_M)$ fixes no nonzero member of \mathfrak{a}_M , we know that

$$\sum_{w \in W(\mathfrak{a}_M)} w \gamma = 0.$$

Then

$$\sum_{\mathbf{w}\in W(\mathfrak{a}_{M})} \frac{2\langle \beta+\gamma, w(\beta+\gamma)\rangle}{|\beta+\gamma|^{2}} = \sum_{\mathbf{w}} \frac{2\langle \beta+\gamma, \beta+w\gamma\rangle}{|\beta+\gamma|^{2}} = \frac{2|\beta|^{2}|W(\mathfrak{a}_{M})|}{|\beta+\gamma|^{2}}$$

The left side of this expression is an integer $\leq 2|W(\mathfrak{a}_M)|$, and (6.10) follows. If rank $M = \operatorname{rank} K_M$, we can compute c directly from [17]. In fact, $|\beta + \gamma|^2 = r|\beta|^2$ with r = 1, 2, 4, or 4/3; hence c = 1/3. Finally if ξ has a real infinitesimal character, Λ_M is real by Lemma 5.5, and then $2\langle \Lambda_M, \gamma \rangle / |\beta + \gamma|^2$ is real.

§7. Properties of Unnormalized Operators

We retain the notation of $\S6$, working with general parabolic subgroups. The results in this section were announced in [22].

Proposition 7.1. The analytic continuations of the operators $A(P_2:P_1:\xi:\Lambda)$, defined on K-finite functions for $U_{P_1}(\xi, \Lambda, \cdot)$, have the following properties:

(i) Let F be a finite set of K-types, and let E be the orthogonal projection onto the span of all functions of one of the K-types in F. Then

$$E_{F}U_{P_{2}}(\xi, \Lambda, x)E_{F}A(P_{2}: P_{1}: \xi: \Lambda) = A(P_{2}: P_{1}: \xi: \Lambda)E_{F}U_{P_{2}}(\xi, \Lambda, x)E_{F}$$

for all x in G.

(ii) $A(P_2:P_1:E\xi E^{-1}:\Lambda) = EA(P_2:P_1:\xi:\Lambda)E^{-1}$ if E is a unitary operator on H^{ξ} (carrying $H^{\xi}_{K_M}$ onto $H^{E\xi E^{-1}}_{K_M}$).

(iii) If w is in $N_K(\mathfrak{a})$, then

$$A(P_2: P_1: \xi: \Lambda) = R(w)^{-1} A(w P_2 w^{-1}: w P_1 w^{-1}: w \xi: w \Lambda) R(w).$$
(7.1)

(iv) $A(P_2: P_1: \xi: \Lambda)^* = A(P_1: P_2: \xi: -\overline{\Lambda})$, with the adjoint defined K-space by K-space.

Proof. For (i), let Λ be in the region of convergence of Theorem 6.6, and define $A(P_2:P_1:\xi:\Lambda)F$ by (6.9) for F in C^{∞} . By Proposition 1.1,

$$U_{P_{1}}(\xi, \Lambda, x)A(P_{2}: P_{1}: \xi: \Lambda) = A(P_{2}: P_{1}: \xi: \Lambda)U_{P_{1}}(\xi, \Lambda, x)$$

for all x in G. Multiplying by E_F on the right and left and commuting E_F past $A(P_2: P_1: \xi: \Lambda)$, we obtain (i) for Λ in the region of convergence. On the range of E_F , both sides of (i) are operators in a finite-dimensional space varying meromorphically in Λ . Hence (i) extends to all Λ .

For (ii), let F be in the K-finite space for $U_{P_1}(E \xi E^{-1}, \Lambda, \cdot)$. Then $E^{-1}(F(\cdot))$ satisfies

$$E^{-1}F(xman) = e^{-(\rho P_1 + A)\log a} E^{-1}(E\xi(m)^{-1}E^{-1})F(x)$$

= $e^{-(\rho P_1 + A)\log a}\xi(m)^{-1}(E^{-1}F(x))$

and

$$\dim \{\operatorname{span} E^{-1} F(k \cdot)\} = \dim \{\operatorname{span} F(k \cdot)\},\$$

so that $E^{-1}(F(\cdot))$ is in the K-finite space for $U_{P_1}(\xi, \Lambda, \cdot)$. For Λ in the region of convergence,

$$EA(P_{2}:P_{1}:\xi:\Lambda)E^{-1}F(x)$$

$$=E\int_{V_{1}\cap N_{2}}E^{-1}F(xv)dv$$

$$=\int_{V_{1}\cap N_{2}}EE^{-1}F(xv)dv \text{ since } E \text{ is bounded}$$

$$=\int_{V_{1}\cap N_{2}}F(xv)dv$$

$$=A(P_{2}:P_{1}:E\xi E^{-1}:\Lambda)F(x),$$

and (ii) follows by analytic continuation.

For (iii), suppose Λ is in the region of convergence of Theorem 6.6 for the operator on the left side of (7.1). This means that

 $\langle \operatorname{Re} \Lambda, \beta \rangle > c_{\beta}$ whenever $g_{\beta} \subseteq \mathfrak{n}_1 \cap \mathfrak{v}_2$.

Then

 $\langle \operatorname{Re} w \Lambda, w \beta \rangle > c_{\beta}$ whenever $g_{w\beta} \subseteq \operatorname{Ad}(w)(\eta_1 \cap \mathfrak{v}_2)$.

Setting $\beta' = w\beta$, we obtain

$$\langle \operatorname{Re} w \Lambda, \beta' \rangle > c_{w^{-1}\beta'}$$
 whenever $\mathfrak{g}_{\beta'} \subseteq \operatorname{Ad}(w)(\mathfrak{n}_1 \cap \mathfrak{v}_2)$.

It is easy to see from Lemma 8 of [17] that $c_{w^{-1}\beta'} = c_{\beta'}$, and it follows that wA is in the region of convergence of Theorem 6.6 for the operator on the right side of (7.1). For such A, the left and right sides of (7.1), applied to F at 1, respectively are

 $\int_{V_1 \cap N_2} F(v) dv \text{ and } \int_{w(V_1 \cap N_2)w^{-1}} F(w^{-1}uw) du,$

and these are equal by Lemma 2.6. Translating the functions by members of K on the left, we obtain (7.1) for Λ in the region of convergence. The conclusion for general Λ then follows by analytic continuation.

For the proof of (iv), we need the lemma below, which is also needed for the detailed proof of Proposition 1.1.

Lemma 7.2.
$$\int_{V_1 \cap N_2} f(ava^{-1}) dv = e^{(\rho_1 - \rho_2)\log a} \int_{V_1 \cap N_2} f(v) dv$$
 for a in A.

Proof. We have

$$c(a) \int_{V_1 \cap N_2} f(a v a^{-1}) dv = \int_{V_1 \cap N_2} f(v) dv,$$

where

$$c(a) = \det \operatorname{Ad}(a)|_{\mathfrak{g}_1 \cap \mathfrak{n}_2} = \exp \left\{ \sum_{\mathfrak{g}_\beta \subseteq \mathfrak{p}_1 \cap \mathfrak{n}_2} (\dim \mathfrak{g}_\beta) \beta(\log a) \right\}.$$

But

$$2\sum_{\mathfrak{g}_{\beta}\subseteq\mathfrak{v}_{1}\cap\mathfrak{n}_{2}}(\dim\mathfrak{g}_{\beta})\beta=\sum_{\mathfrak{g}_{\beta}\subseteq\mathfrak{v}_{1}}-\sum_{\mathfrak{g}_{\beta}\subseteq\mathfrak{v}_{1}\cap\mathfrak{v}_{2}}+\sum_{\mathfrak{g}_{\beta}\subseteq\mathfrak{n}_{2}}-\sum_{\mathfrak{g}_{\beta}\subseteq\mathfrak{n}_{1}\cap\mathfrak{n}_{2}}$$

The second and fourth terms on the right cancel, and the lemma follows.

Proof of Proposition 7.1(iv).⁷ Let Λ be in the region of convergence for $A(P_2:P_1:\xi:\Lambda)$ given in Theorem 6.6. Then $-\overline{\Lambda}$ is in the region of convergence for $A(P_1:P_2:\xi:-\overline{\Lambda})$. Suppose f and g transform according to

$$g(x man_1) = e^{-(\rho_1 + \Lambda) \log a} \xi(m)^{-1} f(x)$$
(7.2)

$$f(xman_2) = e^{-(\rho_2 - \bar{A})\log a} \xi(m)^{-1} f(x).$$
(7.3)

Choose $\varphi \ge 0$ on G with

x

$$\int_{MAN_2} \varphi(xs) d_l s = 1$$

for all x in G, where d_1s denotes left Haar measure. Then

$$\begin{aligned} (g, A(P_{2}: P_{1}: \xi: A)^{*} f) \\ &= (A(P_{2}: P_{1}: \xi: A) g, f) \\ &= \int_{K} (\int_{V_{1} \cap N_{2}} g(kv) dv, f(k))_{H^{\xi}} dk \\ &= \int_{KMAN_{2}} (\int_{V_{1} \cap N_{2}} g(kv) dv, f(k))_{H^{\xi}} \varphi(kman_{2}) d_{l}(man_{2}) dk \\ &= \int_{KMAN_{2}} (\int_{V_{1} \cap N_{2}} e^{-(\rho_{1}+A) \log a} \xi(m)^{-1} g(kv) dv, e^{-(\rho_{2}-\bar{A}) \log a} \xi(m)^{-1} f(k))_{H^{\xi}} \\ &\cdot e^{(\rho_{1}+\rho_{2}) \log a} \varphi(kman_{2}) d_{l}(man_{2}) dk \\ &= \int_{KMAN_{2}} (\int_{V_{1} \cap N_{2}} g(kmav^{a^{-1}}) dv, f(kma))_{H^{\xi}} \\ &\cdot e^{(\rho_{1}+\rho_{2}) \log a} \varphi(kman_{2}) d_{l}(man_{2}) dk \\ &= \int_{KMAN_{2}} (\int_{V_{1} \cap N_{2}} g(kmav) dv, f(kma))_{H^{\xi}} \\ &\cdot e^{2\rho_{2} \log a} \varphi(kman_{2}) d_{l}(man_{2}) dk \quad \text{by Lemma 7.2} \\ &= \int_{KMAN_{2}} (\int_{V_{1} \cap N_{2}} g(kma(n_{2})_{V_{1} \cap N_{2}}(n_{2})_{N_{1} \cap N_{2}} v) dv, f(kman_{2}))_{H^{\xi}} \\ &\cdot e^{2\rho_{2} \log a} \varphi(kman_{2}) d_{l}(man_{2}) dk \end{aligned}$$

with n_2 introduced into f by (7.3), $(n_2)_{V_1 \cap N_2}$ introduced into g by translation, and $(n_2)_{N_1 \cap N_2}$ introduced into g by (7.2) and the same change of variables as in the proof of Theorem 6.6. Then the above expression is

40

⁷ This proof evolved from an argument by Schiffmann [32].

$$= \int_{KMAN_{2}} (\int_{V_{1}\cap N_{2}} g(kman_{2}v) dv, f(kman_{2}))_{H^{\xi}} \varphi(kman_{2}) e^{2\rho_{2}\log a} d_{l}(man_{2}) dk$$

$$= \int_{G} \int_{V_{1}\cap N_{2}} (g(xv), f(x))_{H^{\xi}} \varphi(x) dv dx$$
since $e^{2\rho_{2}\log a} d_{l}(man_{2}) dk = dx$

$$= \int_{G} \int_{V_{1}\cap N_{2}} (g(x), f(x))_{H^{\xi}} \varphi(xv) dv dx$$
under $xv \to x$ and $v \to v^{-1}$

$$= \int_{KMAN_{1}} \int_{V_{1}\cap N_{2}} (g(kman_{1}), f(kman_{1}))_{H^{\xi}} \varphi(kman_{1}v)$$

$$\cdot e^{2\rho_{1}\log a} dm da dn_{1} dv dk \quad \text{by Lemma 2.8}$$

$$= \int_{KMA(N_{1}\cap V_{2})(N_{1}\cap N_{2})} \int_{V_{1}\cap N_{2}} (g(kma), f(kman_{N_{1}\cap V_{2}}))_{H^{\xi}} \varphi(kman_{N_{1}\cap V_{2}}n_{N_{1}\cap N_{2}}v)$$

$$\cdot e^{2\rho_{1}\log a} dm da dn_{N_{1}\cap V_{2}} dn_{N_{1}\cap N_{2}} dv dk$$

by Lemma 2.4 with $n_1 = n_{N_1 \cap V_2} n_{N_1 \cap N_2}$ and by (7.2) and (7.3), and this is

$$= \int_{K} \int_{MAN_{2}} \int_{N_{1} \cap V_{2}} (e^{-(\rho_{1}+A)\log a} g(k), e^{-(\rho_{2}-\bar{A})\log a} f(k n_{N_{1} \cap V_{2}}^{ma}))_{H^{\xi}}$$

$$\cdot \varphi(kman_{N_{1} \cap V_{2}}n_{2}) e^{2\rho_{1}\log a} dn_{N_{1} \cap V_{2}} dm da dn_{2} dk$$
by Lemma 2.4 and (7.2) and (7.3)
$$= \int_{K} \int_{N_{1} \cap V_{2}} \int_{MAN_{2}} (g(k), f(kn_{N_{1} \cap V_{2}}))_{H^{\xi}} \varphi(kn_{N_{1} \cap V_{2}}man_{2}) d_{l}s dn_{N_{1} \cap V_{2}} dk$$
by Lemma 7.2
$$= \int_{K} \int_{N_{1} \cap V_{2}} (g(k), f(kn_{N_{1} \cap V_{2}}))_{H^{\xi}} dn_{N_{1} \cap V_{2}} dk$$
by the defining property of φ

$$= (g, A(P_{1}: P_{2}: \xi: -\bar{A}) f).$$

The result for general Λ follows by analytic continuation. This completes the proof of Proposition 7.1.

Proposition 7.3. Let $P_1 = MAN_1$ and $P_2 = MAN_2$ be associated parabolic subgroups. Then there exists a scalar-valued function $\eta(P_2:P_1:\zeta:\Lambda)$ meromorphic in Λ such that

$$A(P_1:P_2:\xi:\Lambda)A(P_2:P_1:\xi:\Lambda) = \eta(P_2:P_1:\xi:\Lambda)I.$$
(7.4)

The function η satisfies

$$\eta(P_2:P_1:\xi:\Lambda) = \eta(P_1:P_2:\xi:\Lambda).$$
(7.5)

Moreover, there exist a rational number c and finitely many complex numbers $d_i(\xi)$ such that the meromorphic continuation of $\eta(P_2:P_1:\xi:\Lambda)$ is holomorphic at Λ_0 unless

$$\frac{2\langle \Lambda_0, \beta \rangle}{|\beta|^2} \in c \mathbb{Z} + d_i(\xi)$$
(7.6)

for some a-root β that is positive for P_1 and negative for P_2 . If rank $M = \operatorname{rank} K_M$, the number c can be taken to be 1/3. If the infinitesimal character of ξ is a real linear combination of roots of M, then the numbers $d_i(\xi)$ are all real. If ξ imbeds in the nonunitary principal series representation of M with parameters (σ, Λ_M) , then

$$\eta(P_2:P_1:\xi:\Lambda) = \eta((P_2)_p:\sigma:(\Lambda \oplus \Lambda_M)). \tag{7.7}$$

Proof. By means of (6.6), it is enough to prove (7.4) and (7.7) with ξ replaced by the nonunitary principal series representation ω of M. We compute the left side of (7.4) from (6.3), obtaining

$$\begin{aligned} (A(P_1:P_2:\omega:\Lambda)A(P_2:P_1:\omega:\Lambda)F)(x)(m) \\ &= A((P_1)_p:(P_2)_p:\sigma:\Lambda\oplus\Lambda_M)((A(P_2:P_1:\omega:\Lambda)F)(\cdot)(1))(xm) \\ &= A((P_1)_p:(P_2)_p:\sigma:\Lambda\oplus\Lambda_M)\{[A((P_2)_p:(P_1)_p:\sigma:\Lambda\oplus\Lambda_M)F(\cdot\cdot)(1)](\cdot)\}(xm) \\ &= [A((P_1)_p:(P_2)_p:\sigma:\Lambda\oplus\Lambda_M)A((P_2)_p:(P_1)_p:\sigma:\Lambda\oplus\Lambda_M)F(\cdot\cdot)(1)](xm) \\ &= \eta((P_2)_p:(P_1)_p:\sigma:\Lambda\oplus\Lambda_M)F(xm)(1) \\ & \text{by Theorem 4.2(v)} \\ &= \eta((P_2)_p:(P_1)_p:\sigma:\Lambda\oplus\Lambda_M)F(x)(m), \end{aligned}$$

and (7.4) and (7.7) follow. Applying (4.6), we obtain (7.5). Then (7.6) follows from Theorem 6.6, provided we enlarge the set $d_i(\xi)$ so as to be closed under multiplication by -1.

Proposition 7.4. Let dim A = 1 and let P = MAN and $\overline{P} = MAV$ be associated parabolic subgroups. Define

$$\eta_{z}(z) = \eta(\overline{P}: P: \xi: z \rho_{P}).$$

Then $\eta_{\xi}(z)$ is a scalar-valued meromorphic function of one complex variable with the following properties:

- (a) η_{ξ} depends only on the class of ξ ,
- (b) $\eta_{\xi}(z) = \overline{\eta_{\xi}(-\overline{z})},$
- (c) $\eta_{\xi}(z) \ge 0$ on the imaginary axis, and $\eta_{\xi}(z)$ is not identically $0, {}^{8}$
- (d) $\eta_{w\xi}(-z) = \eta_{\xi}(z)$ if w is an element of $N_{K}(a)$ satisfying $wPw^{-1} = \overline{P}$,

⁸ Actually η_{ξ} vanishes nowhere on the imaginary axis. The proof of this fact is deferred to Appendix B.

(e) $\eta_{\xi\varphi}(z) = \eta_{\xi}(z)$ if φ is an automorphism of G leaving K stable and the positive chamber of A fixed and if $\xi^{\varphi}(m) = \xi(\varphi^{-1}(m))$.

(f) $\eta_{\xi}(z) = \eta_{\xi}(-z)$ if the infinitesimal character of ξ is a real linear combination of the roots of M. In this case all the poles of $\eta_{\xi}(z)$ are real.

Proof. Part (a) is immediate from (7.4) and Proposition 7.1 (ii). For (b), we take the adjoint of (7.4) on a single K-space and then apply Proposition 7.1 (iv). For (c), we apply Proposition 7.1 (iv) to the first factor in (7.4) to exhibit $\eta_{\xi}(z)I$ as an operator times its adjoint for z imaginary. Then $\eta_{\xi}(z) \ge 0$ for z imaginary. The proof that $\eta_{\xi}(z)$ is not identically 0 is harder.

If $\eta_{\xi}(z)$ is identically 0, then the vanishing on the imaginary axis of $\eta_{\xi}(z)$ implies that $A(\vec{P}:P:\xi:z\rho_{P})=0$ for all imaginary z. By analytic continuation, $A(\vec{P}:P:\xi:z\rho_{P})=0$ for all z, and then Theorem 6.6 gives

$$0 = \int_{V} F(v) \, dv = \int_{V} e^{-(1+z)\rho_{P}H_{P}(v)} \, \xi(\mu(v))^{-1} F(\kappa(v)) \, dv \tag{7.8}$$

whenever F is in the K-finite space of the induced representation and Re z is sufficiently large. Passing to the limit by dominated convergence and the integrability in Lemma 6.5, we obtain (7.8) also for all smooth F on K such that $F(km) = \xi(m)^{-1}F(k)$ for k in K and m in K_M : there are many such F, by the techniques of [5]. If F is one such function and φ is the lift to K of a function on K/K_M , then φF is another such function. Now Lemma B.1 assures us that we can make $\varphi(\kappa(v))$ have compact support in V and then peak $\varphi(\kappa(v))$ for v=1, and it follows from (7.8) that F(1)=0. Since this equality holds for all the left Ktranslates of F, F is 0. Thus (7.8) for all F implies F=0 is the only function in the space, contradiction. This finishes the proof of (c).

For (d), we apply Proposition 7.1 (iii) to obtain

$$A(\overline{P}:P:\xi:\Lambda) = R(w)^{-1} A(P:\overline{P}:w\xi:w\Lambda) R(w)$$

and

$$A(P:\overline{P}:\xi:\Lambda) = R(w)^{-1}A(\overline{P}:P:w\xi:w\Lambda)R(w).$$

Here if $\Lambda = z \rho_P$, we have $w \Lambda = -z \rho_P$. Then (d) follows by making use of (7.5).

For (e), let $\Lambda = z \rho_P$ be in the region of convergence. If F is in the space for $U_P(\xi, \Lambda, \cdot)$, then $F \circ \varphi$ is in the space for $U_P(\xi^{\varphi}, \Lambda, \cdot)$. In the region of convergence for Λ ,

$$(A(\overline{P}:P:\xi:\Lambda)F) \circ \varphi(k) = \int_{V} F(\varphi(k)v) dv$$

= $\int_{V} F(\varphi(k\varphi^{-1}(v))) dv$
= $\int_{V} F(\varphi(kv)) dv$
= $A(\overline{P}:P:\xi^{\varphi}:\Lambda)(F \circ \varphi)(k),$ (7.9)

since φ acts in unimodular fashion on V (because a finite power of φ must be Ad(k_0) on [g, g] for some k_0 in K). By analytic continuation, (7.9) extends to all Λ , and then (e) follows.

For (f), let ξ imbed in the nonunitary principal series of M with parameters (σ, Λ_M) . By Lemma 5.5, Λ_M is real. Thus we apply (a) to our parabolic, then (7.7), then (a) to a minimal parabolic, then (f) to a minimal parabolic, and finally (7.7) again to find

$$\begin{aligned} \eta_{\xi}(z) &= \eta_{\xi}(-\overline{z}) = \overline{\eta}(\overline{P}:P:\xi:-\overline{A}) \\ &= \overline{\eta}(M_{p}A_{p}VN_{M}:M_{p}A_{p}NN_{M}:\sigma:-\overline{A}+A_{M}) \\ &= \eta(M_{p}A_{p}VN_{M}:M_{p}A_{p}NN_{M}:\sigma:A-A_{M}) \quad \text{since } A_{M} \text{ is real} \\ &= \eta(M_{p}A_{p}VN_{M}:M_{p}A_{p}NN_{M}:\sigma:-A+A_{M}) \\ &= \eta(\overline{P}:P:\xi:-A) = \eta_{\xi}(-z). \end{aligned}$$

In this case, the poles of $\eta_{\xi}(z)$ occur only for z real by Proposition 7.3.

Proposition 7.5. Let $P_1 = MAN_1$ and $P_2 = MAN_2$ be associated parabolic subgroups such that $V_1 \cap N_2 = V^{(\beta)}$ for a P_1 -positive reduced \mathfrak{a} -root β . Let f be in the K-finite space for $U_{P_1}(\xi, \Lambda, \cdot)$, and let f_k be the restriction to $G^{(\beta)}$ of the left translate of f by k in K. Then f_k is in the $K^{(\beta)}$ -finite space for $U_{P(\beta)}(\xi, \Lambda|_{\mathfrak{a}^{(\beta)}}, \cdot)$, and

$$A(P_2: P_1: \xi: \Lambda) f(k) = A^{(\beta)}(\theta P^{(\beta)}: P^{(\beta)}: \xi: \Lambda|_{\mathfrak{a}^{(\beta)}}) f_k(1).$$
(7.10)

Moreover,

$$\eta(P_2:P_1:\xi:\Lambda) = \eta^{(\beta)}(\theta P^{(\beta)}:P^{(\beta)}:\xi:\Lambda|_{\alpha^{(\beta)}}).$$

Proof. The transformation law for f_k under $MA^{(\beta)}N^{(\beta)}$ is immediate if we take into account Proposition 1.2. Also

$$\operatorname{span}_{k_{\beta} \in K^{(\beta)}} \{f_{k}(k_{\beta} \cdot)\} \subseteq \operatorname{span}_{k \in K} \{f(k \cdot)\}$$

shows f_k is $K^{(\beta)}$ -finite. As in Proposition 4.1, the remainder of the proof comes down to the question of whether the normalized Haar measure for $V_1 \cap N_2$ within G is the same as the normalized Haar measure for $V^{(\beta)}$ within $G^{(\beta)}$. If α is an a_p -root whose restriction to α is a nonzero multiple of β , then the proof of Proposition 4.1 notes that $V^{(\alpha)}$ gets the same Haar measure whether considered as in G or in $G^{(\alpha)}$. Applying this result to $G^{(\beta)}$ in place of G, we see that $V^{(\alpha)}$ gets the same Haar measure whether considered as in G or in $G^{(\beta)}$. We therefore run through the proof of the first three parts of Theorem 4.2, applied to minimal parabolics, to see that the Haar measure in $V_1 \cap N_2 = V^{(\beta)}$ can be written as the product of the Haar measures for the various $V^{(\alpha)}$. Since the normalizations of the measures for $V^{(\alpha)}$ are the same in G as in $G^{(\beta)}$.

Let P = MAN and P' = MAN' be associated parabolic subgroups. Proceeding as in §4 after Proposition 4.1, we can define strings $\{MAN_i\}$ and minimal strings from P to P'. The parabolics P and P' can always be connected by a minimal string, just as in §4 (see [12], p. 145).

Theorem 7.6. Suppose that P = MAN and P' = MAN' are associated parabolic subgroups and $P_i = MAN_i$, $0 \le i \le r$, is a minimal string from P to P', with associated reduced P-positive α -roots $\{\beta_i\}$. Then
(i) the set $\{\beta_i\}$ is characterized as the set of reduced α -roots β that are positive for P and negative for P'.

- (ii) r is characterized as the number of roots described in (i).
- (iii) the unnormalized intertwining operators satisfy

 $A(P':P:\xi:\Lambda) = A(P_r:P_{r-1}:\xi:\Lambda) \cdot \ldots \cdot A(P_1:P_0:\xi:\Lambda).$

(iv) $P_{r-i}, 0 \leq i \leq r$, is a minimal string from P' to P, with associated reduced P'-positive a-roots $\{-\beta_i\}$.

(v) the η -functions satisfy

$$\eta(P':P:\xi:\Lambda) = \prod_{\substack{\beta \text{ reduced} \\ \beta > 0 \text{ for } P \\ \beta < 0 \text{ for } P \\ \beta < 0 \text{ for } P'}} \eta^{(\beta)}(\theta P^{(\beta)}:P^{(\beta)}:\xi:\Lambda|_{\mathfrak{a}^{(\beta)}}).$$

Proof. Conclusions (i) and (ii) are proved just as in Theorem 4.2. For (iii), let Λ be in the region of convergence of Theorem 6.6 for the operator on the left. Then Λ is in the region of convergence for each of the operators on the right. The proof of the formula for (iii) is then the same as in Theorem 4.2. Conclusion (iv) is proved as in Theorem 4.2. For (v), we obtain, by the method of Theorem 4.2,

$$\eta(P':P:\xi:\Lambda) = \prod_{i=1}^r \eta(P_i:P_{i-1}:\xi:\Lambda),$$

and (v) then follows from Proposition 4.1.

Corollary 7.7. Suppose that P = MAN, P' = MAN', and P'' = MAN'' are associated parabolic subgroups such that $n'' \cap n \subseteq n' \cap n$. Then the unnormalized intertwining operators satisfy

$$A(P'':P:\xi:\Lambda) = A(P'':P':\xi:\Lambda)A(P':P:\xi:\Lambda).$$

Proof. Let P_0, \ldots, P_k be a minimal string from P to P', and let P_k, \ldots, P_r be a minimal string from P' to P''. Applying Theorem 7.6(iii) to the three operators in the statement of the corollary, we see that it is enough to prove that P_0, \ldots, P_r is a minimal string from P to P''. Referring to the definition of minimal string, we see that we are to show that the P'-positive a-roots β_i associated to the string P_k, \ldots, P_r are P-positive. From Theorem 7.6(i), we see that these β_i are characterized as the reduced a-roots β that are positive for P' and negative for P''. If such a β_i were P-negative, then we would have $g_{-\beta_i} \subseteq \mathfrak{n}'' \cap \mathfrak{n}$ and $g_{-\beta_i} \notin \mathfrak{n}' \cap \mathfrak{n}$, in contradiction to hypothesis. Thus β_i is P-positive, as required.

Let P = MAN be a parabolic subgroup. Recall from §1 the definition

$$A_P(w, \xi, \Lambda) = R(w) A(w^{-1} Pw: P: \xi: \Lambda),$$

where w is assumed to be in $N_K(a)$ and where R(w) is defined by R(w)f(x) = f(xw).

Proposition 7.8. The analytically continued operators $A_P(w, \xi, \Lambda)$, defined on K-finite functions for $U_P(\xi, \Lambda, \cdot)$, have the following properties:

(i) Let F be a finite set of K-types, and let E_F be the orthogonal projection onto the span of all functions of some K-type in F. Then

$$E_F U_P(w\xi, w\Lambda, x) E_F A_P(w, \xi, \Lambda) = A_P(w, \xi, \Lambda) E_F U_P(\xi, \Lambda, x) E_F$$

for all x in G.

1

(ii) $A_P(w, E\xi E^{-1}, \Lambda) = EA_P(w, \xi, \Lambda)E^{-1}$ if E is a unitary operator on H^{ξ} .

(iii) $A_P(w, \xi, \Lambda)^* = A_P(w^{-1}, w\xi, -w\overline{\Lambda})$, with the adjoint defined K-space by K-space.

(iv) $A_P(w_1, w_2, \xi, \Lambda) = A_P(w_1, w_2, \xi, w_2, \Lambda) A_P(w_2, \xi, \Lambda)$ if every P-positive a-root β such that $w_1 w_2 \beta$ is P-positive has $w_2 \beta$ P-positive.

Proof. For (i), start with the formula of Proposition 7.1(i) with $P_1 = P$ and $P_2 = w^{-1}Pw$, and multiply on the left by R(w). Since R(w) commutes with E_F , the identity in question will follow from knowing

$$R(w) U_{w^{-1}Pw}(\xi, \Lambda, x) = U_P(w\xi, w\Lambda, x) R(w),$$
(7.11)

which is readily verified. (The identity $\rho_{w^{-1}Pw} = w^{-1}\rho_P$ is relevant here.)

Conclusion (ii) is immediate from Proposition 7.1 (ii) and the fact that R(w) commutes with E. For (iii), we note that R(w) is unitary on $L^2(K)$, since it is given by translation, and hence

$$A_{P}(w, \xi, A)^{*} = A(w^{-1}Pw: P:\xi:A)^{*}R(w)^{-1}$$

= $A(P:w^{-1}Pw:\xi:-\bar{A})R(w)^{-1}$
by Proposition 7.1 (iv)
= $R(w)^{-1}A(wPw^{-1}:P:w\xi:-w\bar{A})$
by Proposition 7.1 (iii)
= $A_{P}(w^{-1}, w\xi, -w\bar{A}).$

For (iv), we apply Corollary 7.7 with $P' = w_2^{-1} P w_2$ and $P'' = w_2^{-1} w_1^{-1} P w_1 w_2$. Suppose g_β is in $n'' \cap n$. Then β is a *P*-positive root such that $w_1 w_2 \beta$ is *P*-positive, and by assumption $w_2 \beta$ is *P*-positive. Therefore g_β is in $n' \cap n$. Thus

$$\begin{aligned} &A_{P}(w_{1}w_{2},\xi,\Lambda) \\ &= R(w_{1}w_{2})A(w_{2}^{-1}w_{1}^{-1}Pw_{1}w_{2}:P:\xi:\Lambda) \\ &= R(w_{1})R(w_{2})A(w_{2}^{-1}w_{1}^{-1}Pw_{1}w_{2}:w_{2}^{-1}Pw_{2}:\xi:\Lambda)R(w_{2})^{-1} \\ &\cdot R(w_{2})A(w_{2}^{-1}Pw_{2}:P:\xi:\Lambda) \quad \text{by the corollary} \\ &= R(w_{1})A(w_{1}^{-1}Pw_{1}:P:w_{2}\xi:w_{2}\Lambda)R(w_{2})A(w_{2}^{-1}Pw_{2}:P:\xi:\Lambda) \\ &\text{by Proposition 7.1 (iii)} \\ &= A_{P}(w_{1},w_{2}\xi,w_{2}\Lambda)A_{P}(w_{2},\xi,\Lambda). \end{aligned}$$

In dealing with questions of reducibility and complementary series, we shall use also a slight variant of $A_P(w, \xi, \Lambda)$ addressed in Proposition 7.10 below. We first need the construction in Lemma 7.9.

Lemma 7.9.⁹ Let $H \subseteq H'$ be locally compact groups with H closed and normal and with H'/H cyclic of order n, let x be an element of H' whose powers meet all cosets of H'/H, and let L be an irreducible unitary representation of H on a Hilbert space V such that L and xL are equivalent. Then it is possible to define L(x) as an operator on V in exactly n ways, differing only by an nth root of unity as a factor, such that L extends to a unitary representation of H' on V.

Proof. For existence, let E be an operator, which we may take to be unitary, such that $L(x^{-1}hx) = E^{-1}L(h)E$ for h in H, and put $L(x) = e^{i\theta}E$, with θ to be specified shortly. According to Lemma 59 of [20], it suffices to check that

$$L(x) L(h) L(x)^{-1} = L(x h x^{-1})$$
(7.12)

and

$$L(x)^n = L(x^n).$$
 (7.13)

Now (7.12) follows from

$$L(x) L(h) L(x)^{-1} = e^{i\theta} E L(h) e^{-i\theta} E^{-1} = E L(h) E^{-1} = L(x h x^{-1}).$$

For (7.13), we have

$$L(x)^{n} L(x^{-n}) = e^{in\theta} E^{n} L(x^{-n}), \qquad (7.14)$$

and the conjugate of L(h) by $E^n L(x^{-n})$ is

$$E^{n}L(x^{-n})L(h)L(x^{n})E^{-n} = E^{n}L(x^{-n}hx^{n})E^{-n}.$$

By successive applications of the definition of E, we see that the right side simplifies to L(h). By Schur's Lemma, $E^n L(x^{-n}) = cI$ for a constant c (necessarily of modulus 1). Define $e^{i\theta}$ by $e^{in\theta} = c^{-1}$. Then the right side of (7.14) is the identity, and so (7.13) holds. This proves existence.

For the uniqueness result, we observe that any choice of L(x) exhibits xL and L as equivalent and hence by Schur's Lemma is a multiple of E. The existence proof found all possible multiples of E. The proof of the lemma is complete.

Returning to the situation with P = MAN a parabolic subgroup and ξ an irreducible unitary representation of M, let us suppose that w is a member of $N_K(a)$ such that $w\xi$ is equivalent with ξ . Taking H in the lemma to be M and H' to be the smallest group containing M and w, we see that we can define $\xi(w)$ so as to extend ξ to a larger group acting on the same space H^{ξ} .

Proposition 7.10. If w is in $N_K(\mathfrak{a})$ and if $w\xi$ is equivalent with ξ , then the operators $\xi(w)A_P(w, \xi, \Lambda)$, defined on K-finite functions for $U_P(\xi, \Lambda, \cdot)$, have the following properties:

(i) Let F be a finite set of K-types, and let E_F be the orthogonal projection onto the span of all functions of some K-type in F. Then

⁹ S. Lichtenbaum has pointed out to us that when dim V=1, the lemma is an immediate consequence of the long exact sequence for cohomology of groups and the easy fact that H^2 of a finite cyclic group with coefficients in the circle is 0.

$$E_F U_P(\xi, w\Lambda, x) E_F \xi(w) A_P(w, \xi, \Lambda) = \xi(w) A_P(w, \xi, \Lambda) E_F U_P(\xi, \Lambda, x) E_F$$

for all x in G.

(ii) $[\xi(w)A_P(w,\xi,\Lambda)]^* = \xi(w)^{-1}A_P(w^{-1},\xi,-w\bar{\Lambda})$, with the adjoint defined K-space by K-space.

Proof. For conclusion (i), we note that if f is in the space for $U_P(w\xi, w\Lambda, \cdot)$, then $\xi(w)f$ is in the space for $U_P(\xi, \Lambda, \cdot)$. Then (i) follows from Proposition 7.8(i). For (ii) we use Proposition 7.8, parts (ii) and (iii), to find

$$\begin{split} [\xi(w)A_{P}(w,\,\xi,\,\Lambda)]^{*} &= A_{P}(w,\,\xi,\,\Lambda)^{*}\,\xi(w)^{-1} \\ &= A_{P}(w^{-1},\,w\,\xi,\,-w\,\bar{\Lambda})\,\xi(w)^{-1} \\ &= \xi(w)^{-1}A_{P}(w^{-1},\,\xi(w)(w\,\xi)\,\xi(w)^{-1},\,-w\,\bar{\Lambda}) \\ &= \xi(w)^{-1}A_{P}(w^{-1},\,\xi,\,-w\,\bar{\Lambda}). \end{split}$$

A final remark is in order. The operator $\xi(w)A_P(w, \xi, \Lambda)$ is unchanged if w is replaced by wm with m in K_M . In other words, the operator depends only on the element of W(a) that w represents. We shall occasionally use notation that incorporates this fact.

§8. Normalization of Operators, General Case

We retain the notation of §6, working with general parabolic subgroups. The results in this section were announced in [23]. Taking into account the functions $\eta_{\xi}(z)$ and their properties as given in Proposition 7.4, we recall the following lemma.

Lemma 8.1 (Lemma 36 of [20]). If $\eta(z)$ is a meromorphic function in the plane that is not identically 0 and is such that

(i)
$$\eta(z) = \eta(-\overline{z})$$
 for all z and

(ii) $\eta(z) \ge 0$ on the imaginary axis,

then there exists a meromorphic function $\gamma(z)$ in the plane such that

$$\eta(z) = \gamma(z) \overline{\gamma(-\bar{z})}. \tag{8.1}$$

The function $\gamma(z)$ can be chosen to be regular and nonvanishing whenever $\eta(z)$ is and to have all its zeros in the closed right half plane and all its poles in the closed left half plane. If also $\eta(z)$ satisfies

(iii)
$$\eta(z) = \eta(-z)$$
 for all z,

then $\gamma(z)$ can be chosen to be real for real z.

We shall apply this lemma to our functions $\eta_{\xi}(z)$ to obtain normalizing factors $\gamma_{\xi}(z)$. A construction of such factors was made in [20], but we shall redo

the construction even there because, by error, the functions $\gamma_{\xi}(z)$ in [20] may not have had the important invariance property suggested by Proposition 3.2(e).¹⁰

Thus assume now that P = MAN and P' = MAN' are any parabolic subgroups. We first treat the case that dim A = 1. Guided by Proposition 7.4(f), we introduce the following

Basic Assumption. The infinitesimal character of the irreducible unitary representation ξ of M is a real linear combination of the roots of M.

What we do is select simultaneously for each scalar-valued meromorphic function $\eta(z)$ of one complex variable satisfying (i), (ii), and (iii) in Lemma 8.1 a meromorphic $\gamma(z)$ that satisfies (8.1) and is real for real z. (When it is convenient to do so, we shall assume that $\gamma(z)$ is regular and nonvanishing whenever $\eta(z)$ is and that $\gamma(z)$ has all its zeros in the closed right half plane and all its poles in the closed left half plane.)

Proposition 7.4 says that $\eta_{\xi}(z)$ is such a function $\eta(z)$, and we let $\gamma_{\xi}(z)$ be the corresponding function $\gamma(z)$. In this way, we obtain $\gamma_{\xi}(z) = \gamma_{\xi'}(z)$ whenever $\eta_{\xi}(z) = \eta_{\xi'}(z)$, in particular when $\xi' = \xi^{\varphi}$ (see Proposition 7.4(e)).

Restoring the notation that carries all the variables, let us write

$$\gamma(P:P:\xi:\Lambda)$$
 for $\gamma_{\varepsilon}(z)$

whenever $\Lambda = z \rho_P$ and $\eta_{\xi}(z)$ is given by $\eta(\overline{P} : P : \xi : \Lambda)$.

Lemma 8.2. If dim A = 1, then

- (i) $\gamma(P:\overline{P}:\xi:\Lambda) = \gamma(\overline{P}:P:\xi:-\Lambda),$
- (ii) $\gamma(P:\overline{P}:\xi:\Lambda)\gamma(\overline{P}:P:\xi:\Lambda) = \eta(\overline{P}:P:\xi:\Lambda).$

Proof. Let $\Lambda = z \rho_P = -z \rho_F$. By Proposition 7.3

$$\eta(P:\overline{P}:\xi:\Lambda) = \eta(\overline{P}:P:\xi:\Lambda),$$

and hence

$$\eta(P:\overline{P}:\xi:-z\rho_{\overline{P}})=\eta(\overline{P}:P:\xi:z\rho_{\overline{P}}).$$

Because of the Basic Assumption and Proposition 7.4(f),

$$\eta(P:\overline{P}:\xi:-z\rho_{\overline{P}})=\eta(P:\overline{P}:\xi:z\rho_{\overline{P}}).$$

Therefore

$$\eta(P:\overline{P}:\xi:z\,\rho_{\overline{P}}) = \eta(\overline{P}:P:\xi:z\,\rho_{\overline{P}}).$$

That is, the function $\eta_{\xi}(z)$ for $(P:\overline{P})$ is the same as for $(\overline{P}:P)$, and the same must be true of $\gamma_{\xi}(z)$. Consequently

$$\gamma(P:\overline{P}:\xi:\Lambda) = \gamma(P:\overline{P}:\xi:-z\rho_{P}) = \gamma(\overline{P}:P:\xi:-z\rho_{P}) = \gamma(\overline{P}:P:\xi:-\Lambda)$$

¹⁰ This error becomes troublesome when we pass to G of higher rank. In a construction in that case, we recognize a certain subgroup as being of real-rank one, and we do not want our normalizing factors to depend on what isomorphism we choose between this subgroup and a standard real-rank one group.

and (i) follows. The right term here equals the complex conjugate of

$$\gamma(\overline{P}:P:\xi:-\overline{z}\rho_P),$$

since $\gamma_{\xi}(z)$ is real for real z. Substituting in (8.1), we obtain (ii).

For the general case with dim A arbitrary, we define

$$\gamma(P':P:\zeta:\Lambda) = \prod_{\substack{\beta \text{ reduced} \\ \beta > 0 \text{ for } P \\ \beta < 0 \text{ for } P'}} \gamma^{(\beta)}(\theta P^{(\beta)}:P^{(\beta)}:\zeta:\Lambda|_{\mathfrak{a}^{(\beta)}}),$$

where $\gamma^{(\beta)}$ is a factor attached to data for the group $G^{(\beta)}$, β an a-root. The normalized intertwining operators are defined, *under our Basic Assumption*, by

$$\mathscr{A}(P':P:\xi:\Lambda) = \gamma(P':P:\xi:\Lambda)^{-1}A(P':P:\xi:\Lambda)$$
$$\mathscr{A}_{P}(w,\xi,\Lambda) = \gamma(w^{-1}Pw:P:\xi:\Lambda)^{-1}A_{P}(w,\xi,\Lambda)$$

Once the initial choice of functions $\gamma(z)$ has been made, these definitions are unambiguous. Notice that $\gamma(P': P: \xi: \Lambda)$ is not identically 0 since it is a product of functions that satisfy (8.1), and $\eta_{\xi}(z)$ is not identically 0 by Proposition 7.4(c).

Lemma 8.3. Let P = MAN and P' = MAN' be associated parabolic subgroups. Then

(i) $\mathscr{A}(P:P':\xi:\Lambda) \mathscr{A}(P':P:\xi:\Lambda) = I$,

(ii) for any minimal string $P_i = MAN_i$, $0 \le i \le r$, from P to P',

 $\mathscr{A}(P':P:\xi:\Lambda) = \mathscr{A}(P_r:P_{r-1}:\xi:\Lambda) \cdot \ldots \cdot \mathscr{A}(P_1:P_0:\xi:\Lambda).$

Proof. Conclusion (ii) is trivial from Theorem 7.6, parts (iii) and (i), and from the definition of the normalization. For (i), we use (ii) and Theorem 7.6 (iv) to see that it is enough to conclude that

$$\mathscr{A}(P_{i-1}:P_i:\xi:\Lambda)\mathscr{A}(P_i:P_{i-1}:\xi:\Lambda) = I$$

for each *i*. Let β be the associated P_{i-1} -positive reduced a-root here. The left side, in view of Proposition 7.3 and the definition of the normalizing factors, is

$$\gamma^{(\boldsymbol{\beta})}(P^{(\boldsymbol{\beta})}:\theta P^{(\boldsymbol{\beta})}:\boldsymbol{\xi}:\boldsymbol{\Lambda}|_{\mathfrak{a}^{(\boldsymbol{\beta})}})^{-1}\gamma^{(\boldsymbol{\beta})}(\theta P^{(\boldsymbol{\beta})}:P^{(\boldsymbol{\beta})}:\boldsymbol{\xi}:\boldsymbol{\Lambda}|_{\mathfrak{a}^{(\boldsymbol{\beta})}})^{-1}\eta(P_{i}:P_{i-1}:\boldsymbol{\xi}:\boldsymbol{\Lambda})I,\qquad(8.2)$$

and the η factor here equals

$$\eta^{(\beta)}(\theta P^{(\beta)}:P^{(\beta)}:\xi:A|_{\sigma^{(\beta)}})$$

by Proposition 7.5. Thus (8.2) collapses to I by Lemma 8.2(ii), and the result follows.

Theorem 8.4. For any three associated parabolic subgroups $P_i = MAN_i$ with $1 \le i \le 3$,

$$\mathscr{A}(P_3:P_1:\xi:\Lambda) = \mathscr{A}(P_3:P_2:\xi:\Lambda) \mathscr{A}(P_2:P_1:\xi:\Lambda).$$

Intertwining Operators for Semisimple Groups, II

Proof. We shall suppress ξ and Λ in the notation. By Lemma 8.3(i), we are to show that

$$\mathscr{A}(P_1:P_3)\mathscr{A}(P_3:P_2)\mathscr{A}(P_2:P_1) = I.$$
(8.3)

Choose minimal strings from P_3 to P_1 , from P_2 to P_3 , and from P_1 to P_2 , and replace each of the factors on the left of (8.3) by the product of operators given in Lemma 8.3(ii). Then we can change notation and reformulate the result in question as follows: If P_0, P_1, \ldots, P_n is a string with $P_0 = P_n$, then

$$\mathscr{A}(P_n; P_{n-1}) \cdot \ldots \cdot \mathscr{A}(P_2; P_1) \mathscr{A}(P_1; P_0) = I.$$
(8.4)

We shall prove this result by induction on *n*. We may assume that no two consecutive parabolics in the string are the same, since $\mathscr{A}(P:P)=I$.

First we show that n is even. Arguing as in the first part of the proof of Theorem 4.2, we see that

$$\mathfrak{n}_i \cap \mathfrak{n}_0 = \mathfrak{n}^{(\beta_{i+1})} \oplus (\mathfrak{n}_{i+1} \cap \mathfrak{n}_0) \quad \text{if } V_i \cap N_{i+1} = V^{(\beta_{i+1})}$$

and

$$\mathfrak{n}_{i+1} \cap \mathfrak{n}_0 = \mathfrak{n}^{(\beta_{i+1})} \oplus (\mathfrak{n}_i \cap \mathfrak{n}_0) \quad \text{if } V_i \cap N_{i+1} = N^{(\beta_{i+1})}.$$

That is, the number of reduced a-roots β such that $g_{\beta} \subseteq n_i \cap n_0$ either increases or decreases by one in passing from *i* to *i*+1. Since $P_0 = P_n$, the number of such roots is the same for *i*=0 as it is for *i*=*n*, and it follows that *n* must be even.

The same argument shows that if P and P' are parabolics that are connected by a nonminimal string $P = P^{(0)}$, $P^{(1)}$, ..., $P^{(r)} = P'$, than any minimal string $P = Q^{(0)}$, $Q^{(1)}$, ..., $Q^{(s)} = P'$ between P and P' must have s < r. In fact, the counting argument of the previous paragraph shows that the number of reduced a-roots β such that $g_{\beta} \subseteq n$ exceeds the number such that $g_{\beta} \subseteq n' \cap n$ by less than r (and also by exactly s). Thus s < r.

We return to (8.4). For n=2, the result follows from Lemma 8.3. Fix n and the expression on the left of (8.4), and assume that such an identity holds for all shorter "circular" strings. We examine the strings

$$P_0, P_1, \dots, P_{\frac{n}{2}}$$
 (8.5a)

$$P_{\frac{n}{2}}, P_{\frac{n}{2}+1}, \dots, P_n$$
 (8.5 b)

and distinguish three cases.

If both (8.5a) and (8.5b) are minimal, then Lemma 8.3(ii) allows us to collapse the left side of (8.4) to

$$\mathscr{A}(P_n:P_{n/2})\mathscr{A}(P_{n/2}:P_0),$$

and this collapses to I by Lemma 8.3(i) since $P_0 = P_n$.

If (8.5a) is not minimal, let $Q_0, ..., Q_r$ be a minimal string with $P_0 = Q_0$ and $P_{n/2} = Q_r$. We have seen that r < n/2. Then

$$P_0 = Q_0, Q_1, \dots, Q_{r-1}, Q_r = P_{\underline{n}}, P_{\underline{n}-1}, \dots, P_0$$

is a string with $r + \frac{n}{2} < n$ members, beginning and ending with P_0 . By inductive hypothesis

$$\mathscr{A}(Q_0:Q_1)\mathscr{A}(Q_2:Q_3)\ldots\mathscr{A}(Q_{r-1}:Q_r)\mathscr{A}(P_{\frac{n}{2}}:P_{\frac{n}{2}-1})\ldots\mathscr{A}(P_1:P_0)=I$$

and hence, by Lemma 8.3(i),

$$\mathscr{A}(P_{\underline{n}}; P_{\underline{n}-1}) \dots \mathscr{A}(P_1; P_0) = \mathscr{A}(Q_r; Q_{r-1}) \dots \mathscr{A}(Q_1; Q_0).$$

We make this substitution on the left side of (8.4). Then

$$P_0 = P_n, P_{n-1}, \dots, P_{\frac{n}{2}} = Q_r, \dots, Q_0 = P_0$$

is another string of $r + \frac{n}{2}$ members to which we can apply the inductive hypothesis. Thus the left side of (8.4) collapses to I.

Finally if (8.5b) is not minimal, nor is the string in the reverse order. Then no string of that length can be a minimal string from P_0 to $P_{n/2}$, and (8.5a) cannot be minimal. Thus we are reduced to the previous case. This proves the theorem.

Proposition 8.5. The operators $\mathscr{A}(P_2: P_1: \xi: \Lambda)$, defined on K-finite functions for $U_{\mathbf{P}_{i}}(\xi, \Lambda, \cdot)$, have the following properties:

(i) Let F be a finite set of K-types, and let E_F be the orthogonal projection onto the span of all functions of one of the K-types in F. Then

$$E_F U_{P_2}(\xi, \Lambda, x) E_F \mathscr{A}(P_2 : P_1 : \xi : \Lambda) = \mathscr{A}(P_2 : P_1 : \xi : \Lambda) E_F U_{P_1}(\xi, \Lambda, \cdot) E_F$$

for all x in G.

(ii) $\mathscr{A}(P_2: P_1: E \xi E^{-1}: \Lambda) = E \mathscr{A}(P_2: P_1: \xi: \Lambda) E^{-1}$ if E is a unitary operator on H^{ξ} .

(iii) If w is in $N_{\kappa}(\mathfrak{a})$, then

$$\mathscr{A}(P_2:P_1:\xi:\Lambda) = R(w)^{-1} \mathscr{A}(wP_2w^{-1}:wP_1w^{-1}:w\xi:w\Lambda)R(w).$$

(iv) $\mathscr{A}(P_2:P_1:\xi:\Lambda)^* = \mathscr{A}(P_1:P_2:\xi:-\overline{\Lambda})$, with the adjoint defined K-space by K-space.

(v) $\mathscr{A}(P_2: P_1: \xi: \Lambda)$ extends to a holomorphic function of Λ for Λ imaginary, is unitary for every imaginary value of Λ , and, for such Λ , exhibits $U_{P_1}(\xi, \Lambda, \cdot)$ and $U_{\mathbf{P}_2}(\xi, \Lambda, \cdot)$ as unitarily equivalent.

Proof. Property (i) is immediate from Proposition 7.1, as is (ii) if we take into account Proposition 7.4(a). For (iii), Proposition 7.1 shows it is enough to prove

$$\gamma(P_2:P_1:\xi:\Lambda) = \gamma(wP_2w^{-1}:wP_1w^{-1}:w\xi:w\Lambda).$$
(8.6)

The left side here is

$$\prod_{\substack{\beta \text{ reduced} \\ \beta > 0 \text{ for } P_{i} \\ \beta < 0 \text{ for } P_{i}}} \gamma^{(\beta)}(\theta P^{(\beta)} : P^{(\beta)} : \xi : \Lambda|_{\mathfrak{a}^{(\beta)}}),$$

and the right side is

 $\prod_{\substack{\beta' \text{ reduced} \\ \beta' > 0 \text{ for } w P_1 w^{-1} \\ \beta' < 0 \text{ for } w P_2 w^{-1}}} \gamma^{(\beta')}(\theta P^{(\beta')} : P^{(\beta')} : w \xi : w A|_{\mathfrak{a}^{(\beta')}}).$

For $\beta' = w\beta$, let us notice that $G^{(\beta)}$ and $G^{(\beta')}$ are isomorphic since $G^{(\beta')} = wG^{(\beta)}w^{-1}$. This isomorphism matches the parameters in $\gamma^{(\beta')}$ and $\gamma^{(\beta)}$ and shows the two products are equal, factor by factor. This proves (8.6) and (iii).

For (iv), Proposition 7.1 (iv) shows we want

$$\gamma(P_2:P_1:\xi:\Lambda) = \overline{\gamma(P_1:P_2:\xi:-\overline{\Lambda})}.$$

Expanding each side as a product of factors $\gamma^{(\beta)}$, we see we are to prove that

$$\gamma^{(\beta)}(\theta P^{(\beta)}: P^{(\beta)}: \xi: \Lambda|_{\mathfrak{a}^{(\beta)}}) = \overline{\gamma^{(\beta)}(P^{(\beta)}: \theta P^{(\beta)}: \xi: -\bar{\Lambda}|_{\mathfrak{a}^{(\beta)}})}.$$
(8.7)

These factors are real for Λ a real multiple of $\rho^{(\beta)}$, and the right side of (8.7) is therefore

$$= \gamma^{(\beta)}(P^{(\beta)}:\theta P^{(\beta)}:\xi:-\Lambda|_{\sigma^{(\beta)}}),$$

which equals the left side of (8.7) by Lemma 8.2(i). This proves (iv).

For (v), Theorem 6.6 and Proposition 7.3 show that $A(P_2:P_1:\xi:\Lambda)$ and $\eta(P_2:P_1:\xi:\Lambda)$ are both holomorphic on a dense open set of imaginary Λ . Moreover, Proposition 7.4(c) and Theorem 7.6(v) show that $\eta(P_2:P_1:\xi:\Lambda)$ is nonzero on a dense open set of imaginary Λ , and therefore the same thing is true for $\gamma(P_2:P_1:\xi:\Lambda)$. Consequently $\mathscr{A}(P_2:P_1:\xi:\Lambda)$ is holomorphic on a dense open set of imaginary Λ , and therefore the same thing is true for $\gamma(P_2:P_1:\xi:\Lambda)$. Consequently $\mathscr{A}(P_2:P_1:\xi:\Lambda)$ is holomorphic on a dense open set of imaginary Λ . Applying (iv) and Lemma 8.3(i), we obtain (v) for such Λ , with the statement about equivalence following from (i).

The full conclusion of (v) will follow by a passage to the limit, provided we show that $\mathscr{A}(P_2:P_1:\xi:\Lambda)$ extends to a holomorphic function for Λ imaginary. If dim A = 1, we can go over the above argument to see that the normalized operator can fail to be holomorphic only on a discrete set. At each point of this set, the possible singularity is at worst a pole but then is removable since $\mathscr{A}(P_2:P_1:\xi:\Lambda)$ is unitary for those imaginary Λ where it is defined. Applying Proposition 7.5 and the definition of normalizing factors, we see that $\mathscr{A}(P':P:\xi:\Lambda)$ extends to be holomorphic for Λ imaginary, provided $V \cap N' = V^{(\beta)}$ for a reduced a-root β . By Lemma 8.3(ii), $\mathscr{A}(P_2:P_1:\xi:\Lambda)$ itself extends to be holomorphic for Λ imaginary in all cases.

Proposition 8.6. The operators $\mathscr{A}_{P}(w, \xi, \Lambda)$, defined on K-finite functions for $U_{P}(\xi, \Lambda, \cdot)$, have the following properties:

(i) Let F be a finite set of K-types, and let E_F be the orthogonal projection onto the span of all functions of some K-type in F. Then

$$E_F U_P(w, \xi, w, \Lambda, x) E_F \mathscr{A}_P(w, \xi, \Lambda) = \mathscr{A}_P(w, \xi, \Lambda) E_F U_P(\xi, \Lambda, x) E_F$$

for all x in G.

(ii) $\mathscr{A}_{\mathbb{P}}(w, E\xi E^{-1}, \Lambda) = E \mathscr{A}_{\mathbb{P}}(w, \xi, \Lambda) E^{-1}$ if E is a unitary operator on H^{ξ} .

(iii) $\mathscr{A}_{\mathbf{P}}(w, \xi, \Lambda)^* = \mathscr{A}_{\mathbf{P}}(w^{-1}, w\xi, -w\overline{\Lambda})$, with the adjoint defined K-space by K-space.

(iv) $\mathscr{A}_{p}(w, \xi, \Lambda)$ is defined and unitary for all Λ imaginary.

(v) $\mathscr{A}_{P}(w_{1}w_{2}, \xi, \Lambda) = \mathscr{A}_{P}(w_{1}, w_{2}\xi, w_{2}\Lambda) \mathscr{A}_{P}(w_{2}, \xi, \Lambda).$

Proof. Conclusion (i) is immediate from Proposition 7.8, and (ii) and (iii) are obtained by repeating the proofs of Proposition 7.8 but relying on Proposition 8.5 instead of Proposition 7.1. Conclusion (iv) follows from Proposition 8.5(v) and the fact the R(w) is unitary. Conclusion (v) is obtained by repeating the calculation of Proposition 7.8 but relying on Theorem 8.4 instead of Corollary 7.7 and on Proposition 8.5(iii) instead of Proposition 7.1(iii).

Corollary 8.7. If w is in $N_K(\mathfrak{a})$ and if $w\xi$ is equivalent with ξ , then the operators $\xi(w) \mathscr{A}_P(w, \xi, \Lambda)$, defined on K-finite functions for $U_P(\xi, \Lambda, \cdot)$, have the following properties:

(i) Let F be a finite set of K-types, and let E_F be the orthogonal projection onto the span of all functions of some K-type in F. Then

$$E_F U_P(\xi, w\Lambda, x) E_F \xi(w) \mathscr{A}_P(w, \xi, \Lambda) = \xi(w) \mathscr{A}_P(w, \xi, \Lambda) E_F U_P(\xi, \Lambda, x) E_F$$

for all x in G.

(ii) $[\xi(w) \mathscr{A}_P(w, \xi, \Lambda)]^* = \xi(w)^{-1} \mathscr{A}_P(w^{-1}, \xi, -w\overline{\Lambda})$, with the adjoint defined K-space by K-space.

Proof. This follows by comparing Propositions 7.10 and 8.6.

II. Applications to Reducibility Questions

§9. Connection with Eisenstein Integrals and c-functions

We mentioned in the introduction that the theory of intertwining operators and the proof of the Plancherel theorem should be regarded as complementary theories. One's first inclination might be to expect the theories to be identical. Indeed, there is a parallel structure to them. Matrix coefficients of induced representations lead, via asymptotics, to intertwining operators, as was pointed out in a special case in [19], and composition of intertwining operators leads to the η -functions. Meanwhile, within Harish-Chandra's theory, Eisenstein integrals lead, via asymptotics, to *c*-functions, and composition of *c*-functions leads to the Plancherel measure. It was already observed in [18] that intertwining operators and *c*-functions can be expressed in terms of each other in some special cases, and [19] gave a connection between η -functions and Plancherel measures. In the year 1971-72, Nolan Wallach (in unpublished work) extended these matters, explicitly relating matrix coefficients to Eisenstein integrals and relating intertwining operators to *c*-functions. In particular, he obtained formula (9.4) below.

But it is apparent that the parallel between the two theories leads not to similar results, but to complementary ones. For example, Harish-Chandra's results lead to an upper bound on the dimension of the space of self-intertwining operators, while the theory of intertwining operators itself leads to a lower bound.

The purpose of this section is to bring Harish-Chandra's results to bear on our own theory, after showing in detail the correspondence between the two theories. This material was announced in [22].

The notation for this section will be as follows. We shall work with a *cuspidal* parabolic subgroup P = MAN (i.e., one in which rank $M = \operatorname{rank} K_M$) and its associated parabolics with the same MA. The representation ξ will always be in the discrete series of M. Then the Basic Assumption of §8 is satisfied: the infinitesimal character of ξ is a real linear combination of the roots of M. For the most part, our notation will be similar to Harish-Chandra's ([12] and [15]), except that our a-parameter and his will be off by a factor of i.

Let F be a finite set of irreducible representations of K, and let α_F be the sum of the degrees times characters of the members of F. Let V_F be the space of complex-valued functions f on $K \times K$ such that

$$\alpha_F * f(\cdot, k_2) = f(\cdot, k_2)$$
 and $\overline{\alpha}_F * f(k_1, \cdot) = f(k_1, \cdot)$.

Define a double representation τ of K on V_F by

$$\tau(k_1) f \tau(k_2)(k, k') = f(k_1^{-1} k, k_2 k').$$

Let ${}^{0}\mathscr{C}_{\xi}(M, \tau_{M})$ be the space of all functions ψ from M to V_{F} such that

$$\psi(k_1 m k_2) = \tau(k_1) \psi(m) \tau(k_2) \quad \text{for } m \in M, \ k_1 \in K_M, \ k_2 \in K_M$$

and such that the entries of ψ are linear combinations of matrix entries of ξ . Finally let H_F be the subspace of functions f in the representation space of $U(\xi, \Lambda, \cdot)$, regarded as H^{ξ} -valued functions on K, such that $\alpha_F * f = f$. It is easy to check that the linear map $T \rightarrow \psi_T$ given by

$$\psi_T(m)(k_1, k_2) = d_{\xi} \operatorname{Tr}(e^* \xi(m) e L(k_2) T L(k_1^{-1})),$$

where

e = evaluation at 1 d_{ξ} = formal degree of ξ L = left regular representation of K,

carries End H_F into ${}^{0}\mathscr{C}_{\xi}(M, \tau_M)$. The lemma below is proved in [15], p. 133 and §9. See also [35].

Lemma 9.1. The linear map $T \rightarrow \psi_T$ of End (H_F) into ${}^{0}\mathscr{C}_{\xi}(M, \tau_M)$ is an isomorphism onto. Apart from a scalar factor, this linear isomorphism is an isometry under the definitions

$$(T_1, T_2) = \operatorname{Tr}(T_1 T_2^*) \quad \text{for } T_1, T_2 \in \operatorname{End} H_F$$
$$(\psi_1, \psi_2) = \int_{K \times K} \int_M \psi_1(m)(k_1, k_2) \overline{\psi_2(m)(k_1, k_2)} \, dm \, dk_1 \, dk_2$$
$$\text{for } \psi_1, \psi_2 \in {}^0 \mathscr{C}_{\xi}(M, \tau_M).$$

Moreover, $\psi_T * \psi_S = \psi_{ST}$ if a product on V_F is defined by

$$f \cdot g(k_1, k_2) = \int_{K} f(k_1, k) g(k, k_2) dk.$$

Using notation that is off by a factor of i from Harish-Chandra's, we define Eisenstein integrals by

$$E(P:\psi:\Lambda:x) = \int_{K} \psi(x\,k)\,\tau(k)^{-1}\,e^{(\Lambda-\rho_{P})H_{P}(x\,k)}\,dk$$

for ψ in ${}^{0}\mathscr{C}_{\xi}(M, \tau_{M})$, under the convention $\psi(kman) = \tau(k)\psi(m)$. The lemma below is proved in §9 of [15]. See also [35].

Lemma 9.2. Let E_F denote the orthogonal projection on H_F . Then

$$E(P:\psi_T:\Lambda:x)(k_1,k_2) = d_{\xi}\operatorname{Tr}(E_F U_P(\xi,\Lambda,k_1^{-1}xk_2)TE_F)$$

for ψ_T in ${}^0\mathscr{C}_{\varepsilon}(M, \tau_M)$.

Before proceeding, let us underline the connection between Eisenstein integrals and matrix coefficients. In one direction, Lemma 9.1 says that every ψ is of the form ψ_T , and therefore Lemma 9.2 expresses all Eisenstein integrals in terms of matrix coefficients. In the reverse direction, take $k_1 = k_2 = 1$, let f and g be members of H_F , and define Th = (h, g) f. Then we see from Lemma 9.2 that

$$E(P:\psi_T: \Lambda: x)(1,1) = d_{\xi}(U_P(\xi,\Lambda,x)f,g)_{H^{\xi}}.$$

Hence all matrix coefficients can be obtained from Eisenstein integrals.

Harish-Chandra (p. 131 of [12]) obtained asymptotics for Eisenstein integrals, showing, for Λ imaginary and for $f = E(P: \psi : \Lambda : \cdot)$, that there exists a unique $f_{P'}$ on MA transforming appropriately and satisfying

$$\lim_{\substack{a\to\infty\\ P'}} \left\{ e^{\rho_{\mathbf{P}'}\log a} f(ma) - f_{\mathbf{P}'}(ma) \right\} = 0.$$

For the proof, see Theorem 21.1 and Lemma 19.1 of [13] and Lemma 17.1 of [14]. Harish-Chandra gave an expansion for $f_{P'}$ for Λ regular (p. 134 of [12]):

$$E_{P'}(P:\psi:\Lambda:ma) = \sum_{s \in W(a)} (c_{P'|P}(s:\Lambda)\psi)(m) e^{s\Lambda \log a},$$

where $c_{P'|P}(s:\Lambda)$ is in End(${}^{0}\mathscr{C}_{\xi}(M, \tau_{M})$) and the dependence on Λ is meromorphic. See Theorem 18.1 of [14]. For $c_{P|P}(1:\Lambda)$, an integral formula is given as Theorem 19.1 of [14] for Re Λ sufficiently far out in the *P*-positive Weyl chamber:

$$c_{P|P}(1:\Lambda)\psi(m)(k_1,k_2) = C_P^{-1} \int_{v} \psi(m\mu(v)^{-1})\tau(\kappa(v))^{-1}(k_1,k_2)e^{-(\rho_P+\Lambda)H_P(v)}dv, \qquad (9.1)$$

$$C_{P} = \int_{V} e^{-2\rho_{P}H_{P}(v)} dv.$$
(9.2)

Intertwining Operators for Semisimple Groups, II

In applying these results, we shall work with ξ and its transforms $w\xi$ by $N_K(\mathfrak{a})$, and we shall be led outside the space ${}^{0}\mathscr{C}_{\xi}(M, \tau_M)$. To emphasis the space to which ψ belongs, we shall write ψ^{ξ} or $\psi^{w\xi}$, as needed, and the *c* functions should be understood to be those appropriate to the space of ψ 's being acted upon.

Proposition 9.3. Let T be in End H_F , let s be in $W(\mathfrak{a})$ with w in $N_K(\mathfrak{a})$ as a representative, and denote θP by \overline{P} . Then

(i)
$$E(P_2: \psi_{A(P_2:P_1:\xi;A)T}^{\xi}: \Lambda: x) = E(P_1: \psi_{TA(P_2:P_1:\xi;A)}^{\xi}: \Lambda: x)$$

and

 $c_{P_2|P_2}(s:\Lambda)\psi_{A(P_2:P_1:\xi:\Lambda)T}^{\xi} = c_{P_2|P_1}(s:\Lambda)\psi_{TA(P_2:P_1:\xi:\Lambda)}^{\xi}.$ (ii) $E(P:\psi_T^{\xi}:\Lambda:x) = E(w^{-1}Pw:\psi_{R(w)TR(w)^{-1}}^{w\xi}:s\Lambda:x)$

and

$$c_{P|P}(s:\Lambda)\psi_T^{\xi} = c_{P|wPw^{-1}}(1:s\Lambda)\psi_{R(w)TR(w)^{-1}}^{w\xi}$$

(iii) $c_{P|P}(1:\Lambda)\psi_T^{\xi} = C_P^{-1}\psi_{A(P;P;\xi;\Lambda)T}^{\xi}$, where C_P is defined as in (9.2).

(iv) $\psi_S^{w\xi} = \psi_T^{\xi}$ if $w\xi$ is equivalent with ξ and $S = \xi(w)^{-1} T\xi(w)$, where $\xi(w)$ is defined as in Lemma 7.9.

Remarks. From (i) we can express $c_{P|P'}(s:\Lambda)$ in terms of $c_{P|P}(s:\Lambda)$, which by (ii) can be expressed in terms of $c_{P|WPW^{-1}}(1:s\Lambda)$, which by (i) can be expressed in terms of $c_{P|P}(1:s\Lambda)$, which can be evaluated by (ii) in terms of intertwining operators. Thus all *c*-functions for *G* can be computed in terms of intertwining operators for *G*. When $w\xi$ is equivalent with ξ , (iv) shows that all the computations can be made in terms of a single mapping $T \rightarrow \psi_T^{\xi}$.

Proof. Starting from Lemma 9.2, we see that

$$\begin{split} E(P_{2}:\psi_{A(P_{2}:P_{1}:\xi:A)T}^{\xi}:A:x)(k_{1},k_{2}) \\ &= d_{\xi}\operatorname{Tr}(E_{F}U_{P_{2}}(\xi,A,k_{1}^{-1}xk_{2})A(P_{2}:P_{1}:\xi:A)TE_{F}) \\ &= d_{\xi}\operatorname{Tr}(A(P_{2}:P_{1}:\xi:A)E_{F}U_{P_{1}}(\xi,A,k_{1}^{-1}xk_{2})TE_{F}) \\ & \text{by Proposition 7.1(i)} \\ &= d_{\xi}\operatorname{Tr}(E_{F}U_{P_{1}}(\xi,A,k_{1}^{-1}xk_{2})TE_{F}A(P_{2}:P_{1}:\xi:A)) \\ & \text{since }\operatorname{Tr}(AB) = \operatorname{Tr}(BA) \\ &= d_{\xi}\operatorname{Tr}(E_{F}U_{P_{1}}(\xi,A_{1}^{-1}xk_{2})TA(P_{2}:P_{1}:\xi:A)E_{F}) \\ &= E(P_{1}:\psi_{A}^{\xi}(P_{2}:P_{1}:\xi:A):A:x)(k_{1},k_{2}), \end{split}$$

as a meromorphic identity in Λ . Suppressing (k_1, k_2) , we form the P_2 -limit of both Eisenstein integrals when Λ is imaginary and regular, obtaining

$$\sum_{s \in W} (c_{P_2|P_2}(s:\Lambda) \psi^{\xi}_{A(P_2;P_1:\xi:\Lambda)T})(m) e^{sA \log a}$$

=
$$\sum_{s \in W} (c_{P_2|P_1}(s:\Lambda) \psi_{TA(P_2;P_1:\xi:\Lambda)})(m) e^{sA \log a}$$

Since Λ is regular, we may equate coefficients to obtain (i) for Λ imaginary. Analytic continuation gives (i) for all Λ .

For (ii), the operator $T' = R(w)TR(w)^{-1}$ is in $End(H'_F)$ for the associated space H'_F of functions transforming according to $w\xi$, and

$$U_P(\xi, \Lambda, x) T = R(w)^{-1} U_{wPw^{-1}}(w\xi, s\Lambda, x) T'R$$

by (7.11). Hence

$$\begin{split} E(P:\psi_T^{\xi}:\Lambda:x) &= d_{\xi}\operatorname{Tr}(E_F R(w)^{-1} U_{wPw^{-1}}(w\,\xi,s\,\Lambda,k_1^{-1}\,x\,k_2)\,T'\,R(w)E_F) \\ &= d_{\xi}\operatorname{Tr}(R(w)^{-1}\,E'_F\,U_{wPw^{-1}}(w\,\xi,s\,\Lambda,k_1^{-1}\,x\,k_2)\,T'\,E'_F R(w)) \\ &= d_{\xi}\operatorname{Tr}(E'_F\,U_{wPw^{-1}}(w\,\xi,s\,\Lambda,k_1^{-1}\,x\,k_2)\,T'\,E'_F) \\ &= E(wPw^{-1}:\psi_T^{w\xi}:s\,\Lambda:x). \end{split}$$

For regular imaginary Λ , the *P*-limit of both sides gives

$$\sum_{t \in W} c_{P|P}(t:\Lambda) \psi_T^{\xi} e^{t\Lambda \log a} = \sum_{r \in W} c_{P|wPw^{-1}}(r:s\Lambda) \psi_T^{w\xi} e^{rs\Lambda \log a}.$$

Equating the terms in which t=s and r=1 and using analytic continuation, we obtain (ii).

For (iii) we start from (9.1) for $\operatorname{Re} \Lambda$ sufficiently far out in the *P*-positive Weyl chamber and find

$$\begin{split} C_P c_{P|P}(1:\Lambda) \psi_T^{\xi}(m)(k_1,k_2) \\ &= \int_V \psi_T^{\xi}(m\mu(v)^{-1}) \tau(\kappa(v))^{-1}(k_1,k_2) e^{-(\rho_P + \Lambda)H_P(v)} dv \\ &= \int_V \psi_T^{\xi}(m\mu(v)^{-1})(k_1,\kappa(v)^{-1}k_2) e^{-(\rho_P + \Lambda)H_P(v)} dv \\ &= d_{\xi} \int_V Tr(e^*\xi(m)\xi(\mu(v))^{-1} e L(\kappa(v)^{-1}k_2)TL(k_1^{-1})) e^{-(\rho_P + \Lambda)H_P(v)} dv \\ &= d_{\xi} \sum_i \int_V (\xi(m)\xi(\mu(v))^{-1}Th_i(k_2^{-1}\kappa(v)), h_i(k_1^{-1}))_{H^{\xi}} e^{-(\rho_P + \Lambda)H_P(v)} dv \end{split}$$

where h_i runs through a (finite) orthonormal basis of H_F , and this is

$$= d_{\xi} \sum_{i} (\xi(m) A(\overline{P} : P : \xi : \Lambda) Th_{i}(k_{2}^{-1}), h_{i}(k_{1}^{-1}))_{H^{\xi}}$$
$$= \psi_{A(P; P; \xi : \Lambda)T}^{\xi}(m)(k_{1}, k_{2}).$$

Analytic continuation gives the result for general Λ .

Finally for (iv), with h_i running through an orthonormal basis of the space H_F for ξ , we have

$$\begin{split} \psi_{S}^{w\xi}(m)(k_{1},k_{2}) &= d_{\xi} \operatorname{Tr}\left(e^{*} w \,\xi(m) e \,L(k_{2}) S L(k_{1}^{-1})\right) \\ &= d_{\xi} \sum_{i} (w \,\xi(m) \,S \,h_{i}(k_{2}^{-1}),h_{i}(k_{1}^{-1}))_{H\xi} \\ &= d_{\xi} \sum_{i} (\xi(m) \,\xi(w) \,S \,h_{i}(k_{2}^{-1}),\xi(w) \,h_{i}(k_{1}^{-1}))_{H\xi} \\ &= d_{\xi} \sum_{i} (\xi(m) \,T \,\xi(w) \,h_{i}(k_{2}^{-1}),\xi(w) \,h_{i}(k_{1}^{-1}))_{H\xi} \\ &= d_{\xi} \operatorname{Tr}\left(e^{*} \,\xi(m) e \,L(k_{2}) \,T L(k_{1})^{-1}\right) \\ &= \psi_{\xi}^{\xi}(m)(k_{1},k_{2}), \end{split}$$

the next to last equality holding since $\xi(w) h_i$ runs through an orthonormal basis of the space for $w\xi$.

Corollary 9.4. Let T be in End H_F , let s be in $W(\mathfrak{a})$ with w in $N_K(\mathfrak{a})$ as a representative, and denote θP by \overline{P} . Then

$$c_{P|P}(s:\Lambda)\psi_T^{\xi} = C_P^{-1}\psi_T^{w\xi},$$
$$T' = R(w)A(w^{-1}\overline{P}w:P:\xi:\Lambda)TA(P:w^{-1}Pw:\xi:\Lambda)R(w)^{-1}.$$

where

Remarks. Qualitatively the corollary says that each $c_{P|P}$ is given by a pair of "complementary" unnormalized intertwining operators, one operating on the left and one on the right. This result was obtained independently by Arthur [2].

Proof. We have

$$c_{P|P}(s:A)\psi_{T}^{\xi}$$

$$= c_{P|wPw^{-1}}(1:sA)\psi_{R(w)TR(w)^{-1}}^{w\xi})$$
by Proposition 9.3(ii)
$$= c_{P|P}(1:sA)\psi_{A(P:wPw^{-1}:w\xi:sA)R(w)TR(w)^{-1}A(P:wPw^{-1}:w\xi:sA)^{-1}}$$
by Proposition 9.3(i)
$$= c_{P|P}(1:sA)\psi_{R(w)A(w^{-1}Pw:P;\xi:A)TA(w^{-1}Pw:P;\xi:A)^{-1}R(w)^{-1}}$$
by Proposition 7.1(iii)
$$= C_{P}^{-1}\psi_{A(P:P:w\xi:sA)R(w)A(w^{-1}Pw:P;\xi:A)TA(w^{-1}Pw:P;\xi:A)^{-1}R(w)^{-1}}$$
by Proposition 9.3(ii)
$$= C_{P}^{-1}\psi_{R(w)A(w^{-1}Pw:w^{-1}Pw;\xi:A)A(w^{-1}Pw:P;\xi:A)TA(w^{-1}Pw:P;\xi:A)^{-1}R(w)^{-1}}$$
(9.3)

by Proposition 7.1(iii). Now

$$A(w^{-1}\overline{P}w:w^{-1}Pw:\xi:\Lambda)A(w^{-1}Pw:P:\xi:\Lambda)$$

= $A(w^{-1}\overline{P}w:P:\xi:\Lambda)A(P:w^{-1}Pw:\xi:\Lambda)A(w^{-1}Pw:P:\xi:\Lambda)$
by Corollary 7.7
= $\eta(w^{-1}Pw:P:\xi:\Lambda)A(w^{-1}\overline{P}w:P:\xi:\Lambda)$
by Proposition 7.3

and

$$A(w^{-1}Pw:P:\xi:\Lambda)^{-1} = \eta(w^{-1}Pw:P:\xi:\Lambda)^{-1}A(P:w^{-1}Pw:\xi:\Lambda)$$

by Proposition 7.3.

Upon substitution, the η 's cancel and the result follows.

Corollary 9.5. Let T be in End H_F , let s be in $W(\mathfrak{a})$ with w in $N_K(\mathfrak{a})$ as a representative, and denote θP by \overline{P} . If $w\xi$ and ξ are equivalent, then

where

$$c_{P|P}(s:\Lambda)\psi_T^{\xi} = C_P^{-1}\psi_{T'}^{\xi},$$

$$T' = A(\overline{P}: P: \xi: s\Lambda)(\xi(w) \mathscr{A}_{P}(w, \xi, \Lambda)) T(\xi(w) \mathscr{A}_{P}(w, \xi, \Lambda))^{-1}$$

Proof. Starting from (9.3), we have

$$c_{P|P}(s:\Lambda)\psi_{T}^{\xi} = c_{P|P}(1:s\Lambda)\psi_{A_{P}(w,\xi,\Lambda)TA_{P}(w,\xi,\Lambda)^{-1}}^{w\xi}$$
$$= c_{P|P}(1:s\Lambda)\psi_{\mathscr{A}_{P}(w,\xi,\Lambda)T\mathscr{A}_{P}(w,\xi,\Lambda)^{-1}}^{w\xi}$$
$$= c_{P|P}(1:s\Lambda)\psi_{\xi(w)\mathscr{A}_{P}(w,\xi,\Lambda)T(\xi(w)\mathscr{A}_{P}(w,\xi,\Lambda))^{-1}}^{\xi}$$
(9.4)

by Proposition 9.3(iv). The corollary now follows from Proposition 9.3(iii).

Proposition 9.6. If f and g are in H_F , then

$$(A(\overline{P}:P:\xi:\Lambda)f,g)_{L^{2}(K)} = d_{\xi}^{-1} C_{P} \int_{K} (c_{P|P}(1:\Lambda)\psi_{T}^{\xi}(1))(k,k) dk,$$

where Th = (h, g)f.

Remarks. From this result we can express $A(\overline{P}:P:\xi:\Lambda)$ for G in terms of c-functions for G. By Proposition 7.5 and Theorem 7.6, we can therefore express all unnormalized intertwining operators for G in terms of c-functions for G and its subgroups $G^{(\alpha)}$.

Proof. Take T as above, and let $\{h_i\}$ be an orthonormal basis of H_F with $h_1 = |g|^{-1}g$.

$$\begin{split} \psi_{A(P;P;\xi;A)T}^{\xi}(m)(k_{1},k_{2}) \\ &= d_{\xi} \operatorname{Tr}\left(e^{*} \xi(m) e L(k_{2}) A(\overline{P}:P;\xi;A) T L(k_{1}^{-1})\right) \\ &= d_{\xi} \sum_{i} (\xi(m) A(\overline{P}:P;\xi;A) T h_{i}(k_{2}^{-1}), h_{i}(k_{1}^{-1}))_{H^{\xi}} \\ &= d_{\xi} (\xi(m) A(\overline{P}:P;\xi;A) f(k_{2}^{-1}), g(k_{1}^{-1}))_{H^{\xi}}. \end{split}$$

By Proposition 9.3(iii), the left side is $C_P c_{P|P}(1:\Lambda) \psi_T^{\xi}(m)(k_1,k_2)$. Hence the result follows.

Following Harish-Chandra, put

$${}^{0}c_{P_{2}|P_{1}}(s:\Lambda) = c_{P_{2}|P_{2}}(1:s\Lambda)^{-1}c_{P_{2}|P_{1}}(s:\Lambda).$$

Harish-Chandra's completeness theorem is the following. For a proof see Lemma 38.2 and Theorem 38.1 of [15].

Theorem 9.7 (Harish-Chandra). Let Λ be imaginary and let

$$W_{\xi,\Lambda} = \{s \in W(\mathfrak{a}) | s[\xi] = [\xi] \text{ and } s\Lambda = \Lambda\}.$$

To each s in $W_{\xi,A}$ corresponds an operator γ_s in $GL(H_F)$ such that

$${}^{0}c_{P|P}(s,\Lambda)\psi_{T}^{\xi} = \psi_{\gamma_{s}T\gamma_{s}}^{\xi}$$

for all T in End H_F . Moreover, the set of such γ_s , for s in $W_{\xi,\Lambda}$, spans the commuting algebra of $E_F U_P(\xi,\Lambda,\cdot) E_F$.

Corollary 9.8. Let Λ be imaginary and let $W_{\xi,\Lambda}$ be as in Theorem 9.7. Then the commuting algebra of $U_P(\xi,\Lambda,\cdot)$ is the linear span of the unitary operators $\xi(s) \mathscr{A}_P(s,\xi,\Lambda)$ for s in $W_{\xi,\Lambda}$.¹¹

Proof. It is enough to identify the commuting algebra of the operators projected to H_F . Corollary 9.5 and Proposition 9.3(iii) combine to give

where

$${}^{0}c_{P|P}(s:\Lambda)\psi_{T}^{\xi} = \psi_{T'}^{\xi},$$

$$T' = (\xi(w) \mathscr{A}_{P}(w, \xi, \Lambda)) T(\xi(w) \mathscr{A}_{P}(w, \xi, \Lambda))^{-1}$$

if w is a representative of s. Hence we can take $\gamma_s = \xi(w) \mathscr{A}_P(w, \xi, \Lambda)$ in Theorem 9.7. The operators $\xi(w) \mathscr{A}_P(w, \xi, \Lambda)$ are unitary by Proposition 8.6(iv).

§10. Identities with Plancherel Factors

We continue to work with cuspidal parabolic subgroups built from the same MA, and we continue to assume that ξ is a discrete series representation of M. In this section we shall use Harish-Chandra's formula relating *c*-functions to the Plancherel measure in order to give formulas for the η -functions. As a consequence of these results and the known form of the Plancherel measure when G has dim $a_p = 1$, we obtain explicit formulas for the η -functions. These explicit formulas will be used in a later paper by the first author and G. Zuckerman.

According to Harish-Chandra [12], Theorem 11 and Lemma 15, the contribution to the Plancherel measure of G from the series $U_P(\xi, \Lambda, \cdot)$, with ξ in the discrete series of M and Λ imaginary, is

$$c\,d_{\xi}\,\mu_{\xi}(\Lambda),\tag{10.1}$$

where c is a constant, d_{ξ} is the formal degree of ξ , and $\mu_{\xi}(\Lambda)$ is a meromorphic function that is holomorphic for Λ imaginary, is positive for Λ imaginary and regular, satisfies $\mu_{w\xi}(w\Lambda) = \mu_{\xi}(\Lambda)$ for w representing a member of $W(\mathfrak{a})$, and is

¹¹ As noted at the end of §7, $\xi(w) \mathscr{A}_{p}(w, \xi, \Lambda)$ does not depend upon the choice of the representative w of s, and we may therefore write the operator as $\xi(s) \mathscr{A}_{p}(s, \xi, \Lambda)$.

given by

$$|W(\mathfrak{a})| C_P \mu_{\xi}(\Lambda) c_{P|\tilde{P}}(1:\Lambda) c_{P|P}(1:\Lambda) \psi = \psi$$
(10.2)

for ψ in ${}^{0}\mathscr{C}_{\xi}(M, \tau_{M})$, in the notation of §9.

Proposition 10.1. The contribution $\mu_{\xi}(\Lambda)$ to the Plancherel measure of G is related to the η -function of §7 by

$$\mu_{\varepsilon}(\Lambda)^{-1} = |W(\mathfrak{a})| C_{\mathbf{P}}^{-1} \eta(\overline{P}: P: \xi: \Lambda).$$

Proof. We apply Proposition 9.3. To simplify notation, let us suppress $(1 : \Lambda)$ in the *c*-functions and $(\xi : \Lambda)$ in the intertwining operators and η -functions. Then we have

$$\begin{split} c_{P|P} c_{\bar{P}|P} \psi_T &= c_{P|P} c_{\bar{P}|P} \psi_{A(\bar{P}:P)TA(\bar{P}:P)^{-1}} \\ &= C_{\bar{P}}^{-1} c_{P|P} \psi_{A(\bar{P}:P)A(\bar{P}:P)TA(\bar{P}:P)^{-1}} \\ &= C_{\bar{P}}^{-1} \eta(\bar{P}:P) c_{P|P} \psi_{TA(\bar{P}:P)^{-1}} \\ &= C_{\bar{P}}^{-1} \eta(\bar{P}:P) c_{P|P} \psi_{A(\bar{P}:P)TA(\bar{P}:P)^{-1}A(\bar{P}:\bar{P})^{-1}} \\ &= C_{\bar{P}}^{-1} C_{\bar{P}}^{-1} \eta(\bar{P}:P) \psi_{A(\bar{P}:P)A(\bar{P}:P)TA(\bar{P}:P)^{-1}A(\bar{P}:P)^{-1}} \\ &= C_{\bar{P}}^{-1} C_{\bar{P}}^{-1} \eta(\bar{P}:P) \eta(\bar{P}:P) \eta(\bar{P}:\bar{P}) \eta(\bar{P}:P)^{-1} \psi_{T}. \end{split}$$

Now $C_{\underline{P}} = C_{P}$, as follows from Lemma 2.8 by an easy argument, and $\eta(\overline{P}:P) = \eta(P:\overline{P})$ by Proposition 7.3. The result follows.

We shall not use the full generality of Proposition 10.1 but shall use it only for the groups $G^{(\beta)}$. Let $\mu_{\xi,\beta}$ be the function of Proposition 10.1 in this case. Then we have

$$\mu_{\xi,\beta}(\Lambda|_{\mathfrak{a}^{(\beta)}})^{-1} = |W(\mathfrak{a}^{(\beta)})| \ C_{P^{(\beta)}}^{-1} \eta^{(\beta)}(\overline{P}^{(\beta)}; P^{(\beta)}; \xi; \Lambda|_{\mathfrak{a}^{(\beta)}}).$$
(10.3)

We shall work with $\mu_{\xi,\beta}$ instead of $\eta^{(\beta)}$ in order to convert poles into zeros. For each pair of parabolics built from *MA* we define the *Plancherel factor* $\mu_{P|P}$ by

$$\mu_{P'|P}(\xi:\Lambda) = \prod_{\substack{\beta \text{ reduced a-root} \\ \beta > 0 \text{ for } P \\ \beta < 0 \text{ for } P'}} \mu_{\xi,\beta}(\Lambda|_{a^{(\beta)}}).$$
(10.4)

Proposition 10.2. The Plancherel factors have the following properties.

(a) $\mu_{\xi,\beta}(\Lambda|_{a^{(\beta)}})$ is holomorphic for $\Lambda|_{a^{(\beta)}}$ imaginary and is nonvanishing for $\operatorname{Re} \Lambda|_{a^{(\beta)}} \neq 0$.

(b) $\mu_{P'|P}(\xi; \Lambda)$ is holomorphic for Λ imaginary.

(c) $\mu_{P'|P}(\xi;\Lambda) = c \eta(P';P;\xi;\Lambda)^{-1}$, with c a positive constant depending on P and P'.

(d) $\mu_{P'|P}(\xi;\Lambda) = c' \mu_{P'_{P}|P_{P}}(\sigma;\Lambda \oplus \Lambda_{M})$, with c' a positive constant depending on P and P', if ξ imbeds in the nonunitary principal series representation of M with parameters (σ, Λ_{M}) .

Proof. In (a), $\mu_{\xi,\beta}$ is holomorphic by a result of Harish-Chandra quoted above or by Proposition B.2. Where it vanishes, $\eta^{(\beta)}$ has a pole, and Proposition 7.4(f) says

this can happen only at real points. Then (b) follows from (a) and (10.4), (c) follows from Theorem 7.6(v) and (10.4), and (d) follows from Proposition 7.3 and (10.4).

§11. Intertwining Operators Corresponding to Reflections

Throughout this section ξ will denote a discrete series representation of M. The Plancherel factors μ will be those of §10. The point of this section will be to single out certain intertwining operators corresponding to reflections in $W(\mathfrak{a})$ that have to be scalar.

Our results use two lemmas announced by Harish-Chandra [12] and given as Lemmas 11.1 and 11.2 below. (The proofs of these lemmas appeared later in [15] in Lemmas 3.1 and 39.1.) The first lemma for $\Lambda = 0$ has a long history. It was first proved for minimal parabolics in [19]. Arthur in his thesis [1] gave a completely different proof, which Harish-Chandra was able to extend to the case at hand.

Lemma 11.1. Suppose P = MAN has dim A = 1, and suppose Λ is imaginary. Then $U_P(\xi, \Lambda, \cdot)$ is irreducible unless $\Lambda = 0$, $\mu_{\xi}(0) > 0$, $|W(\mathfrak{a})| = 2$, and $s[\xi] = [\xi]$, where s is the nontrivial element of $W(\mathfrak{a})$.¹²

Lemma 11.2. Suppose P = MAN has dim A = 1. If $\mu_{\xi}(0) = 0$, then $|W(\alpha)| = 2$ and $s[\xi] = [\xi]$, where s is the nontrivial element in $W(\alpha)$.¹²

Lemma 11.3. Let P = MAN and P' = MAN' be parabolic subgroups such that $V \cap N' = V^{(\beta)}$ for a reduced \mathfrak{a} -root β . If the root reflection p_{β} exists in $W(\mathfrak{a})$, then $P' = p_{\beta}^{-1}Pp_{\beta}$.

Proof. We are in the situation of Proposition 1.2. The problem is to show that the only *P*-positive roots γ such that $p_{\beta}\gamma$ is *P*-negative are the multiples of β . By Proposition 1.2 there exists a P_p -simple α_p -root α such that $\alpha|_{\alpha} = \beta$. Let all the P_p -simple roots be

 $\alpha_1,\ldots,\alpha_k,\alpha,\mu_1,\ldots,\mu_l,$

where μ_1, \ldots, μ_l are simple for a_M . Choose by Lemma 8 of [17] an element w of $W(a_p)$ such that $w|_a = p_\beta$. Then w fixes ker β in a and must be the product of reflections in $W(a_p)$ fixing ker β , by Chevalley's Lemma. Each such reflection must then carry each α_j into the sum of α_j and a linear combination of the roots $\alpha, \mu_1, \ldots, \mu_l$, by the formula for a reflection, and then w must have the same property. Thus

$$w(\sum c_i \alpha_i + c \alpha + \sum c'_j \mu_j) = \sum c_i \alpha_i + d \alpha + \sum d'_j \mu_j.$$

If one of the c_i 's is >0, the a_p -root on the right is >0. Thus the only positive a-roots that can go into negative a-roots under w are the multiples of β .

Lemma 11.4. Let P = MAN and P' = MAN' be parabolic subgroups such that $V \cap N' = V^{(\beta)}$ for a reduced α -root β . If $\mu_{\xi,\beta}(\Lambda|_{\alpha^{(\beta)}}) = 0$ with Λ imaginary, then the

¹² [ξ] denotes the equivalence class of ξ .

root reflection p_{β} exists in $W(\mathfrak{a})$ and is such that $p_{\beta}[\xi] = [\xi]$, $p_{\beta}\Lambda = \Lambda$, and $\xi(p_{\beta}) \mathscr{A}_{P}(p_{\beta}, \xi, \Lambda)$ is scalar.

Proof. Let $\mu_{\xi,\beta}(\Lambda|_{\mathfrak{a}^{(\beta)}})=0$. By Proposition 10.2(a), $\Lambda|_{\mathfrak{a}^{(\beta)}}$ must be real. On the other hand, Λ is by assumption imaginary, and we conclude $\Lambda|_{\mathfrak{a}^{(\beta)}}=0$. Hence $\mu_{\xi,\beta}(0)=0$. By Lemma 11.2, p_{β} exists in $W(\mathfrak{a}^{(\beta)})$, hence in $W(\mathfrak{a})$, and it fixes $[\xi]$. Since $\Lambda|_{\mathfrak{a}^{(\beta)}}=0$, $p_{\beta}\Lambda=\Lambda$. By Lemma 11.1, $U_{p(\beta)}^{(\beta)}(\xi,0,\cdot)$ is irreducible. Then Corollary 8.7 shows that

$$\xi(p_{\beta}) \mathscr{A}_{P(\beta)}^{(\beta)}(p_{\beta},\xi,0) = c I \quad \text{with} \quad |c| = 1.$$

By abuse of notation, let us write p_{β} for a representative of the Weyl group element p_{β} within $K^{(\beta)}$. For k in K, we have

$$c R(p_{\beta})^{-1} f(k) = c f(k p_{\beta}^{-1}) = c f_{k}(p_{\beta}^{-1})$$

$$= \xi(p_{\beta}) \mathscr{A}_{p(\beta)}^{(\beta)}(p_{\beta}, \xi, 0) f_{k}(p_{\beta}^{-1})$$

$$= \xi(p_{\beta}) R(p_{\beta}) \mathscr{A}(\overline{P}^{(\beta)} : P^{(\beta)} : \xi : 0) f_{k}(p_{\beta}^{-1})$$

$$= \xi(p_{\beta}) \gamma^{(\beta)}(\overline{P}^{(\beta)} : P^{(\beta)} : \xi : \Lambda|_{a^{(\beta)}})^{-1} A(p_{\beta}^{-1} P^{(\beta)} p_{\beta} : P^{(\beta)} : \xi : \Lambda|_{a^{(\beta)}}) f_{k}(1)$$

$$= \xi(p_{\beta}) \gamma(P' : P : \xi : \Lambda)^{-1} A(P' : P : \xi : \Lambda) f(k)$$

by Proposition 7.5

$$= \xi(p_{\beta}) \mathscr{A}(p_{\beta}^{-1} P p_{\beta} : P : \xi : \Lambda) f(k)$$
 by Lemma 11.3.

Multiplying through on the left by $R(p_{\beta})$ and commuting $R(p_{\beta})$ past $\xi(p_{\beta})$, we obtain

$$\xi(p_{\beta}) \mathscr{A}_{P}(p_{\beta}:\xi:\Lambda) f(k) = c f(k),$$

as required.

Lemma 11.5. Suppose ε is a α -root such that $\mu_{\xi,\varepsilon}(\Lambda|_{\alpha^{(\varepsilon)}})=0$, where Λ is imaginary. Then the root reflection p_{ε} exists in $W(\alpha)$ and is such that $p_{\varepsilon}[\xi] = [\xi]$, $p_{\varepsilon}\Lambda = \Lambda$, and $\xi(p_{\varepsilon}) \mathscr{A}_{P}(p_{\varepsilon}, \xi, \Lambda)$ is scalar for every choice of P.

Proof. First suppose that p_{ε} exists in $W(\mathfrak{a})$ and fixes $[\xi]$ and Λ . Fix P, let $P' = p_{\varepsilon}^{-1} P p_{\varepsilon}$, and choose a minimal string from P to P', say $P = P_0, P_1, \dots, P_r = P'$. Write, by Lemma 8.3(ii),

$$\mathscr{A}(P':P:\xi:\Lambda) = \mathscr{A}(P_r:P_{r-1}:\xi:\Lambda) \cdot \ldots \cdot \mathscr{A}(P_1:P_0:\xi:\Lambda).$$
(11.1)

Multiplying ε by a scalar if necessary, we may assume that ε is *P*-positive and reduced. According to Theorem 7.6(i) the reduced a-roots γ_i such that $V_{i-1} \cap N_i = V^{(\gamma_i)}$ are those such that $g_{\gamma_i} \subseteq \mathfrak{v}' \cap \mathfrak{n}$, and ε satisfies this condition. Hence one factor on the right of (11.1), say

$$\mathscr{A}(P_i: P_{i-1}: \xi: \Lambda),$$

has $V_{i-1} \cap N_i = V^{(\varepsilon)}$. By Lemma 11.3, $P_i = p_{\varepsilon}^{-1} P_{i-1} p_{\varepsilon}$. Since $\mu_{\xi, \varepsilon}(A|_{a^{(\varepsilon)}}) = 0$, Lemma 11.4 yields (with w denoting a representative of p_{ε} in $N_{\mathbf{K}}(\mathbf{a})$)

$$\xi(w) \mathcal{R}(w) \mathscr{A}(w^{-1} P_{i-1} w : P_{i-1} : \xi : \Lambda) = \xi(w) \mathscr{A}_{P_{i-1}}(w, \xi, \Lambda) = c I$$
(11.2)

for a scalar c. With our given parabolic P, we then have

$$\begin{aligned} \xi(w) \mathscr{A}_{P}(w, \xi, \Lambda) \\ &= \xi(w) R(w) \mathscr{A}(w^{-1} P w : P : \xi : \Lambda) \\ &= \xi(w) R(w) \mathscr{A}(w^{-1} P w : w^{-1} P_{i-1} w : \xi : \Lambda) R(w)^{-1} \xi(w)^{-1} \\ &\cdot \xi(w) R(w) \mathscr{A}(w^{-1} P_{i-1} w : P_{i-1} : \xi : \Lambda) \cdot \mathscr{A}(P_{i-1} : P : \xi : \Lambda) \\ &\text{by Theorem 8.4} \\ &= c \xi(w) \mathscr{A}(P : P_{i-1} : w \xi : w \Lambda) \xi(w)^{-1} \cdot \mathscr{A}(P_{i-1} : P : \xi : \Lambda) \\ &\text{by (11.2) and Proposition 8.5(ii)} \\ &= c \mathscr{A}(P : P_{i-1} : \xi, w \Lambda) \cdot \mathscr{A}(P_{i-1} : P : \xi : \Lambda) \\ &\text{by Proposition 8.5(ii)} \\ &= c I \quad \text{by Theorem 8.4 since } w \Lambda = \Lambda. \end{aligned}$$

We still have to prove that p_{ε} exists in $W(\mathfrak{a})$ and fixes $[\xi]$ and Λ . In view of Lemma 11.4, we will be done if we can produce $P_1 = MAN_1$ and $P_2 = MAN_2$ with $V_1 \cap N_2 = V^{(\varepsilon)}$. Choose a basis μ_1, \ldots, μ_k for the dual of \mathfrak{a}_M , adjoin ε , and extend to a basis for the dual of \mathfrak{a}_p by adjoining $\alpha_1, \ldots, \alpha_j$. Write this basis in the order

$$\alpha_1, \ldots, \alpha_j, \varepsilon, \mu_1, \ldots, \mu_k,$$

and use it to define positive a-roots; the N for this ordering will be denoted N_1 . It is easy to see that ε is a simple a-root in this ordering. If instead we use the basis

 $\alpha_1, \ldots, \alpha_j, -\varepsilon, \mu_1, \ldots, \mu_k$

to define another ordering (with N group N_2), then N_1 and N_2 have the required properties.

Lemma 11.6. If s is a member of $W(\mathfrak{a})$ that fixes $[\xi]$ and Λ and satisfies

$$\mu_{s^{-1}Ps|P}(\xi:\Lambda) = 0$$

for an imaginary value of Λ , then there exists a P-positive α -root ε such that the reflection p_{ε} exists in $W(\alpha)$ and fixes $[\xi]$ and Λ , such that $\xi(p_{\varepsilon}) \mathscr{A}_{P}(p_{\varepsilon}, \xi, \Lambda)$ is scalar, and such that ε is P-negative.

Proof. Choose a minimal string from P to $s^{-1}Ps$, say $P = P_0, P_1, ..., P_r = s^{-1}Ps$. We have

$$\mu_{s^{-1}Ps|P}(\xi:\Lambda) = \prod_{\substack{\beta \text{ reduced} \\ \beta > 0 \text{ for } P \\ \beta < 0 \text{ for } s^{-1}Ps}} \mu_{\xi,\beta}(\Lambda|_{\mathfrak{a}^{(\beta)}}) = \prod_{j=1}^{r} \mu_{P_{i}|P_{i-1}}(\xi:\Lambda)$$

by (10.4) and Theorem 7.6(i). Since each μ function in question is holomorphic at Λ by Proposition 10.2(b), the hypothesis implies that there is a value of *i* with

$$\mu_{P_i|P_{i-1}}(\xi:\Lambda)=0.$$

Letting ε be the reduced *P*-positive root associated with this factor, we then have $\mu_{\xi, \varepsilon}(A|_{\mathfrak{a}^{(\varepsilon)}})=0$. Since ε is negative for $s^{-1}Ps$, we see that $s\varepsilon$ is negative for *P*. By Lemma 11.5, p_{ε} exists in $W(\mathfrak{a})$, fixes $[\xi]$ and Λ , and is such that $\xi(p_{\varepsilon}) \mathscr{A}_{P}(p_{\varepsilon}, \xi, \Lambda)$ is scalar.

§12. Linear Independence Theorem

For this section we fix a cuspidal parabolic subgroup P = MAN, and we let ξ be a discrete series representation of M. The Basic Assumption of §8 is then satisfied. For Λ imaginary, let

$$W_{\xi,\Lambda} = \{ w \in W(\mathfrak{a}) | w[\xi] = [\xi] \text{ and } w\Lambda = \Lambda \}.$$

The goal of this section is to prove Theorem 12.1 below, which was announced in [23].

Theorem 12.1. For Λ_0 imaginary, let

$$R' = \{ r \in W_{\xi, A_0} | \mu_{r^{-1}Pr|P}(\xi : A_0) \neq 0 \}.$$

Then the unitary operators $\xi(r) \mathscr{A}_{P}(r, \xi, \Lambda_{0})$ for r in R' are linearly independent.

In this form, the theorem was announced in [23]. For minimal P the result had already been obtained in connection with [21], and the idea behind the proof is implicit in Lemma 64 of [20].

The idea is that the operators in question are given in terms of distributions on K whose supports are filtered according to the complexity of the elements of R'. A linear relation among the operators then implies that the operator with the largest support makes no contribution and is absent. The result readily follows.

The technical aspects of the proof involve two ingredients. One is a description, due to Borel and Tits, of the closure of a Bruhat $M_p A_p N_p$ double coset in G. The other is an analysis of our intertwining operators on a larger domain of functions than the K-finite ones – large enough so that we can shape them to suit our needs and small enough so that we do not have to cope with questions of continuity of i^* or its inverse.¹³

We begin with the result of Borel and Tits [4]. For w in $W(a_p)$, let

$$B(w) = M_{p}A_{p}N_{p}wM_{p}A_{p}N_{p}.$$
 (12.1)¹⁴

The Bruhat decomposition theorem says that the B(w), $w \in W(\mathfrak{a}_p)$, disjointly exhaust G.

Theorem 12.2 (Borel and Tits). For w in $W(\mathfrak{a}_p)$, the closure of B(w) is the union of B(w') for all w' in $W(\mathfrak{a}_p)$ described as follows: Fix a decomposition of w into the

¹³ In [23] it was asserted that $(\iota^*)^{-1}$ is continuous. We have since realized that there is a gap in our argument. However, the proof of Theorem 12.1 that we give here will not require that we know this continuity.

¹⁴ Of course, w should be replaced on the right by any of its representatives in $N_K(a_p)$.

minimal product of simple reflections; then w' can be any element obtained from w by deleting some subset of the factors of w.

Before applying this result, we introduce some notation. For t in $W(a_p)$, let l(t) be the length of t relative to $N_p = NN_M$. This is the number of reduced P_p -positive a_p -roots α such that $t\alpha$ is P_p -negative. For w in W(a), define

$$|w| = \max_{s \in W(a_M)} l(s \, \tilde{w}),$$

where \tilde{w} is any member of $W(a_p)$ with $w = \tilde{w}|_a$. Such an element \tilde{w} exists by Lemma 8 of [17], and $s\tilde{w}$ runs through all such choices as s runs through $W(a_M)$. For w in W(a), let

$$C(w) = MAN w MAN.$$

Lemma 12.3. For w in $W(\mathfrak{a})$, $C(w) = \bigcup_{s \in W(\mathfrak{a}_M)} B(s \tilde{w})$.

Proof. We may choose \tilde{w} so that $\tilde{w}^{-1}\delta > 0$ for all \mathfrak{a}_M -roots $\delta > 0$. Then

$$C(w) = MAN \tilde{w} N$$

$$= \bigcup_{s \in W(a_M)} M_p A_M N_M s N_M AN \tilde{w} N$$
by the Bruhat decomposition for M

$$= \bigcup_{s \in W(a_M)} M_p A_p N_M s N_M N \tilde{w} N$$

$$= \bigcup_{s \in W(a_M)} M_p A_p N_M s N N_M \tilde{w} N$$
since $s N s^{-1} = N$ and $\tilde{w}^{-1} N_M \tilde{w} = N_M$

$$= \bigcup_{s \in W(a_M)} B(s \tilde{w}).$$

Lemma 12.4. If p and w are members of $W(\mathfrak{a})$ with $|p| \ge |w|$ and p in C(w), then p = w.

Proof. Choose \tilde{p} in $W(\mathfrak{a}_p)$ with $\tilde{p}|_{\mathfrak{a}} = p$ and $|p| = l(\tilde{p})$. Then

$$\overline{C(w)} = \bigcup_{s \in W(\mathfrak{a}_{M})} \overline{B(s \,\tilde{w})} \quad \text{by Lemma 12.3}$$
$$= \bigcup_{s \in W(\mathfrak{a}_{M})} (B(s \,\tilde{w}) \bigcup \text{certain } B(t) \text{ with } l(t) < l(s \,\tilde{w}))$$
$$\text{by Theorem 12.2.}$$

If \tilde{p} is in $\overline{C(w)}$, then $\tilde{p} = s \tilde{w}$ for some s or $l(\tilde{p}) < l(s \tilde{w})$ for some s. In the first case, we obtain p = w by restriction to a. In the second case, we have

$$|p| = l(\tilde{p}) < l(s \,\tilde{w}) \leq |w|,$$

contradiction. So p = w.

Lemma 12.5. For Λ_0 imaginary if r is in R', then the normalizing factor for $\mathscr{A}_{\mathbf{P}}(\mathbf{r}, \xi, \Lambda)$ is holomorphic and nonvanishing at $\Lambda = \Lambda_0$.

Proof. The factor in question is $\gamma(r^{-1}Pr:P:\xi:\Lambda)$. By (10.4) and Proposition 10.2(a), each $\mu_{\xi,\beta}(\Lambda|_{\alpha^{(\beta)}})$ is holomorphic and nonvanishing at Λ_0 when $\beta > 0$ and $r\beta < 0$. Hence each reciprocal $\eta^{(\beta)}$ has the same property, and so must each $\gamma^{(\beta)}$ and the product $\gamma(r^{-1}Pr:P:\xi:\Lambda)$.

By Lemma 12.5 the linear independence theorem really concerns the unnormalized operators $\xi(r)A_P(r, \xi, \Lambda_0)$. Instead of limiting ourselves to K-finite functions on K, we shall work with C^{∞} functions on K whose values lie in a finite-dimensional space of K_M -finite vectors in H^{ξ} . Let F' and F'' be finite sets of K_M -types, and let $E_{F'}$ and $E_{F''}$ be the orthogonal projections onto the span of all functions of one of the K_M -finite vectors of a nonunitary principal series representation ω of M, via a mapping ι , and let $E'_{F'}$ and $E'_{F''}$ be the corresponding projections for the space H^{ω}_0 defined in §6. Let X and Y be the images of H^{ξ} under $E_{F'}$ and $E_{F''}$, and let $C^{\infty}_{\xi}(K, X)$ and $C^{\infty}_{\xi}(K, Y)$ be the spaces of smooth functions transforming under K_M according to ξ and having values in X and Y, respectively. Let $C^{\omega}_0(K, X')$ and $C^{\infty}_{\omega}(K, Y')$ be the corresponding spaces for ω .

Lemma 12.6. For r in R' there is an analytic family of operators $B(r:\xi:\Lambda)$ from $C^{\infty}_{\xi}(K, X)$ into $C^{\infty}_{\xi}(K, Y)$ such that

(a) the family is holomorphic in an open connected set containing Λ_0 and all values of Λ with Re Λ sufficiently far out in the positive Weyl chamber

(b) for $\operatorname{Re} \Lambda$ sufficiently far out in the positive Weyl chamber,

$$B(r:\xi:\Lambda) f(k) = \int_{V \cap r^{-1}Nr} e^{-(\Lambda + \rho)H(v)} E_{F''} \xi(\mu(v))^{-1} E_{F'} f(k\kappa(v)) dv$$

(c) for $\Lambda = \Lambda_0$
 $B(r:\xi:\Lambda_0) f(k) = E_{F''} A(r^{-1}Pr:P:\xi:\Lambda_0) E_{F'} f(k).$

Proof. Let

$$B(r:\xi:\Lambda) f(k) = \iota^{-1} E'_{F''} (A(r^{-1} Pr; P:\omega:\Lambda)(\iota \circ E_{F'} \circ f)(k)(\cdot))$$
(12.2a)
= $\iota^{-1} E'_{F''} (A((r^{-1} Pr)_p; P_p; \sigma:\Lambda + \Lambda_M)(\iota \circ E_{F'} \circ f)(\cdot)(1))(k \cdot),$ (12.2b)

where ω has parameters (σ, Λ_M) . Here the variable \cdot in (12.2a) is in K_M , and the variables \cdot in (12.2b) are in K and K_M , respectively.

First we check on the continuity and analyticity. The map $(f, \Lambda) \rightarrow B(r : \xi : \Lambda) f$ is to be continuous from $C_{\xi}^{\infty}(K, X) \times \{\Lambda\}$ into $C_{\xi}^{\infty}(K, Y)$ and is to be holomorphic in Λ for fixed f. In (12.2 b), we have maps

$$f \to \iota \circ E_{F'} \circ f = h \tag{12.3a}$$

and

$$h \to h(\cdot)(1) \to A((r^{-1} P r)_p; P_p; \sigma; \Lambda + \Lambda_M)h(\cdot)(1) = H$$
(12.3b)

and

$$H \to H(k \cdot) = L(k) \tag{12.3 c}$$

and

$$H \to H(\kappa \cdot) = L(\kappa) \tag{12.3 c}$$

$$L(k) \to E'_{F'} L(k) \to \iota^{-1} E'_{F'} L(k).$$
 (12.3d)

Line (12.3a) represents a continuous map of $C^{\infty}_{\xi}(K, X)$ into $C^{\infty}_{\omega}(K, X')$ since X and X' are finite-dimensional and $\iota: X \to X'$ is therefore continuous. In (12.3b), the maps are evaluation at 1 followed by the intertwining operator for the minimal parabolic, and (12.3b) is continuous from $C^{\infty}_{\omega}(K, X')$ into $C^{\infty}_{\sigma}(K, H^{\sigma})$ by Theorems 3.1 and 4.2, provided Λ is a regular value of the intertwining operator. In (12.3 c), the variable \cdot is in K_M , and the map is continuous from $C^{\infty}_{\sigma}(K, H^{\sigma})$ into $C^{\infty}_{\omega}(K, H^{\omega}) \subseteq C^{\infty}(K, C^{\infty}(K_M, H^{\sigma}))$. Finally in (12.3d), the maps are the projection from $C^{\infty}_{\omega}(K, H^{\omega})$ to $C^{\infty}_{\omega}(K, Y')$ and the effect of i^{-1} , which is to carry $C^{\infty}_{\omega}(K, Y')$ to $C^{\infty}_{\xi}(K, Y)$. These are continuous since Y and Y' are finitedimensional and $i^{-1}: Y' \rightarrow Y$ has to be continuous.

The above argument proves $f \rightarrow B(r:\xi:\Lambda)f$ is continuous. To bring in Λ , we simply cross the map in (12.3a) and the first map in (12.3b) with the identity operator in Λ , and we use the joint properties of the second map of (12.3b) in the function and Λ given in Theorems 3.1 and 4.2. Then the joint continuity in (f, Λ) and the holomorphicity in Λ follow, but only for regular values Λ of the intertwining operator in (12.3b).

The argument that $B(r:\xi:\Lambda)$ is given by the integral formula for ReA sufficiently far out in the positive Weyl chamber is the argument of Theorem 6.6, except that the single E there is now replaced by two projections $E_{F'}$ and $E_{F''}$.

Now let us consider a value of Λ near Λ_0 for which the intertwining operator in (12.3b) is holomorphic. For K-finite f, the right side of (12.2a) is equal to

$$E_{F''}A(r^{-1}Pr:P:\xi:\Lambda)E_{F'}f(k)$$

by formula (6.6). Lemma 12.5 shows that this expression is regular at $\Lambda = \Lambda_0$. Therefore the expression in (12.3b) is regular for $\Lambda = \Lambda_0$ on K-finite functions. By Lemma 4.3, the expression in (12.3b) remains regular for $\Lambda = \Lambda_0$ when we pass to C^{∞} functions. This means that $\Lambda = \Lambda_0$ is in the domain in which $B(r:\xi:\Lambda)$ is holomorphic and provides a continuous operator. We have

$$B(r:\xi:\Lambda_0) = E_{F''}A(r^{-1}Pr:P:\xi:\Lambda_0)E_{F'}$$

on K-finite functions with both sides continuous on $C^{\infty}_{\xi}(K, X)$. (The right side is a nonzero scalar times a unitary operator that commutes with translation by Kand so is continuous on C^{∞} .) Hence the two are equal on $C^{\infty}_{\xi}(K, X)$.

Proof of Theorem 12.1. In view of Lemma 12.5, we are to show that

$$\sum_{r \in R'} c_r \,\xi(r) A_P(r,\,\xi,\,\Lambda_0) = 0$$

implies $c_r = 0$ for all r. Pick representatives in $N_{\kappa}(a)$ for each r, calling them r also. Among all members r of R' with $c_r \neq 0$, let p be one with |p| as large as possible. We shall derive a contradiction by producing a smooth function f so

that

$$\xi(w) A_P(w, \xi, \Lambda_0) f(1) = 0$$
 when $c_w \neq 0$ and $w \neq p$
 $\xi(p) A_P(p, \xi, \Lambda_0) f(1) \neq 0.$

First, we claim that p is not in the closure of

$$\bigcup_{\substack{w \neq p \\ c_w \neq 0}} w \kappa (V \cap w^{-1} N w) K_M$$
(12.4)

within G. Here $\kappa(\cdot)$ is the K-component relative to G = KMAN. In fact,

$$w \kappa (V \cap w^{-1} N w) K_M \subseteq w \kappa (w^{-1} N w) K_M = \kappa (N w) K_M \subseteq N w MANM = C(w).$$

Consequently if p were in the closure of (12.4), then p would be in $\overline{C(w)}$ for some $w \neq p$, and Lemma 12.4 and the maximality of |p| would give a contradiction.

Because of the result of the previous paragraph, we can choose a complexvalued C^{∞} function on K/K_M that vanishes on (12.4) but does not vanish at p; let φ_0 be its lift to K.

Next, let $X \subseteq H^{\xi}$ be a finite-dimensional subspace of the kind discussed before Lemma 12.6. Construct F_0 in $C_{\xi}^{\infty}(K, X)$ such that $F_0(p) \neq 0$. (To do so, choose a C^{∞} function F_1 from K into X that is sufficiently peaked at p, and set

$$F_0(k) = \int_{K_M} \xi(k_M) F_1(k k_M) dk_M.$$

Then this F_0 has the required properties.) Put $F = \varphi_0 F_0$, so that F is in $C_{\xi}^{\infty}(K, X)$. Our function f will be $f = \varphi F$, where φ is a complex-valued right K_M -invariant C^{∞} function on K to be specified.

Suppose $w \neq p$. In the notation of Lemma 12.6 we have

$$E_{F''}A_{P}(w,\xi,\Lambda_{0})f(1) = B(w;\xi;\Lambda_{0})f(w).$$
(12.5)

However, when k=w, the integral in (b) of Lemma 12.6 vanishes for ReA sufficiently far out in the positive Weyl chamber. Thus the analyticity asserted in the lemma implies that $B(w, \xi, \Lambda_0) f(w)=0$, and (12.5) gives

 $E_{F''}A_P(w, \xi, \Lambda_0)f(1) = 0.$

This equality holds for all F'', and thus

$$\xi(w)A_P(w,\xi,\Lambda_0)f(1)=0.$$

Now we consider p. For $\operatorname{Re}\Lambda$ sufficiently far out in the positive Weyl chamber, we have

$$B(p:\xi:\Lambda) f(p) = \int_{V \cap p^{-1}Np} e^{-(\Lambda+\rho)H(v)} E_{F''} \xi(\mu(v))^{-1} E_{F'} \varphi(p\kappa(v)) F(p\kappa(v)) dv.$$

By Lemma B.1 choose φ at least to have the property that $\varphi(p \kappa(v))$ has compact support. Then this integral provides its own analytic continuation, and Lemma

Intertwining Operators for Semisimple Groups, II

12.6 implies

$$E_{F''}A_{P}(p,\xi,\Lambda_{0})f(1) = \int_{V \cap p^{-1}Np} e^{-(\Lambda_{0}+\rho)H(v)}E_{F''}\xi(\mu(v))^{-1}\varphi(p\kappa(v))F(p\kappa(v))dv.$$

Choose F'' = F', and then

$$E_{F''}\xi(\mu(1))^{-1}F(p\kappa(1)) = F(p) \neq 0.$$

Then if we choose φ to be sufficiently peaked about p so that all of the mass of $\varphi(p\kappa(v))$ is concentrated near v=1, we conclude that

$$E_{F''}A_{P}(p,\xi,\Lambda_{0})f(1) \neq 0.$$

This inequality persists if we remove $E_{F''}$, and thus we have

$$\xi(p)A_p(p,\xi,A_0)f(1) \neq 0.$$

This completes the proof of Theorem 12.1.

Corollary 12.7. Suppose that ε is an \mathfrak{a} -root such that p_{ε} exists in $W(\mathfrak{a})$ and is in $W_{\xi,A}$, where Λ is imaginary. Then $\xi(p_{\varepsilon}) \mathscr{A}_{P}(p_{\varepsilon},\xi,\Lambda)$ is scalar if and only if $\mu_{\xi,\varepsilon}(\Lambda|_{\mathfrak{a}^{(\varepsilon)}})=0$.

Proof. When $\mu_{\xi,\varepsilon}(\Lambda|_{\mathfrak{a}^{(\varepsilon)}})=0$, the result is contained in Lemma 11.5. When $\mu_{\xi,\varepsilon}(\Lambda|_{\mathfrak{a}^{(\varepsilon)}})=0$, we shall apply Theorem 12.1. We cannot do so immediately because $\mu_{p_{\varepsilon}^{-1}Pp_{\varepsilon}|P}$ may have several factors, i.e., ε may not be simple. We proceed as in the proof of Lemma 11.5. Forming a minimal string $P=P_0, P_1, \ldots, P_r$ = $p_{\varepsilon}^{-1}Pp_{\varepsilon}$ and decomposing $\mathscr{A}(p_{\varepsilon}^{-1}Pp_{\varepsilon}:P:\xi:\Lambda)$ accordingly, we find a factor

$$\mathscr{A}(P_i:P_{i-1}:\xi:\Lambda)$$

in which $V_{i-1} \cap N_i = V^{(\varepsilon)}$. By Lemma 11.3, $P_i = p_{\varepsilon}^{-1} P_{i-1} p_{\varepsilon}$. Here

$$\mu_{p_{\mathfrak{c}}^{-1}P_{\mathfrak{i}-1}p_{\mathfrak{c}}|P_{\mathfrak{i}-1}}(\xi:\Lambda) = \mu_{\xi,\mathfrak{c}}(\Lambda|_{\mathfrak{a}^{(\mathfrak{c})}}) \neq 0,$$

and p_{ϵ} is in the set R' defined relative to P_{i-1} . Thus the unitary operator

$$\xi(p_{\varepsilon}) \mathscr{A}_{P_{i-1}}(p_{\varepsilon}, \xi, \Lambda) \tag{12.6}$$

is not scalar. The computation in the middle of the proof of Lemma 11.5 shows that

$$\xi(p_{\varepsilon}) \mathscr{A}_{P}(p_{\varepsilon}, \xi, \Lambda) = \mathscr{A}(P : P_{i-1} : \xi : \Lambda) \cdot \xi(p_{\varepsilon}) \mathscr{A}_{P_{i-1}}(p_{\varepsilon}, \xi, \Lambda)$$
$$\cdot \mathscr{A}(P_{i-1} : P : \xi : \Lambda).$$

That is, the operator of interest is the conjugate of the nonscalar operator (12.6) by the unitary operator $\mathscr{A}(P:P_{i-1};\xi;\Lambda)$ and hence is nonscalar.

Corollary 12.8. Suppose P = MAN has dimension A = 1, and suppose Λ is imaginary. Then $U_P(\xi, \Lambda, \cdot)$ is reducible if $\Lambda = 0$, $\mu_{\xi}(0) > 0$, $|W(\alpha)| = 2$, and $s[\xi] = [\xi]$, where s is the nontrivial element of $W(\alpha)$.

Remark. This is a converse to Lemma 11.1.

Proof. By Corollary 12.7, the intertwining operator corresponding to the element s (which is a reflection in this case) is not scalar and therefore exhibits the reducibility.

§13. R Group and the Commuting Algebra

Throughout this section ξ will denote a discrete series representation of M, and Λ will be imaginary-valued on a. The parabolic subgroup P = MAN will be fixed. Writing [ξ] for the class of ξ , we recall the definition

$$W_{\xi,\Lambda} = \{s \in W(\mathfrak{a}) | s[\xi] = [\xi] \text{ and } s\Lambda = \Lambda\}.$$

We shall describe below a decomposition of $W_{\xi,A}$ as a semidirect product $W_{\xi,A} = W'_{\xi,A}R_{\xi,A}$, where $W'_{\xi,A}$ is normal and is a Weyl group. The group $R_{\xi,A}$ will turn out to coincide with the set R' of Theorem 12.1, and the operators $\xi(r) \mathscr{A}_P(r, \xi, A)$, for r in $R_{\xi,A}$, will turn out to be a linear basis for the commuting algebra $\mathscr{C}_P(\xi, A)$ of $U_P(\xi, A; \cdot)$. This result is given here as Theorem 13.4 and was announced in [23].

Lemma 13.1. Let w_1 and w_2 be representatives in $N_K(\mathfrak{a})$ of members of $W_{\varepsilon,A}$.

(a) If w_1 and w_2 are in a cyclic extension of K_M and if $\xi(w_1)$ and $\xi(w_2)$ are compatibly defined, then

$$\xi(w_1) \mathscr{A}_P(w_1, \xi, \Lambda) \xi(w_2) \mathscr{A}_P(w_2, \xi, \Lambda) = \xi(w_1 w_2) \mathscr{A}_P(w_1 w_2, \xi, \Lambda)$$

(b) Whether or not w_1 and w_2 are in a cyclic extension of K_M ,

$$\xi(w_1) \mathscr{A}_P(w_1, \xi, \Lambda) \xi(w_2) \mathscr{A}_P(w_2, \xi, \Lambda) = c \xi(w_1 w_2) \mathscr{A}_P(w_1 w_2, \xi, \Lambda)$$

with c a constant satisfying |c| = 1 and given by

$$\xi(w_1 w_2)^{-1} \xi(w_1) \xi(w_2) = c I.$$

Remarks. Without further proof, it might not be possible to choose the constant c in (b) to be 1, because $\xi(w_1 w_2)$ is determined up to an n^{th} root of unity if $w_1 w_2$ has order n modulo K_M . We shall take up this matter further in §14.

Proof. We shall drop Λ from the notation since it is unaffected throughout. We have

$$\begin{aligned} \mathscr{A}_{P}(w_{1}w_{2},\xi)^{-1}\xi(w_{1}w_{2})^{-1}\xi(w_{1})\mathscr{A}_{P}(w_{1},\xi)\xi(w_{2})\mathscr{A}_{P}(w_{2},\xi) \\ &= \mathscr{A}_{P}(w_{1}w_{2},\xi)^{-1}\xi(w_{1}w_{2})^{-1}\xi(w_{1})\xi(w_{2})\mathscr{A}_{P}(w_{1},w_{2}\xi)\mathscr{A}_{P}(w_{2},\xi) \\ &= \mathscr{A}_{P}(w_{1}w_{2},\xi)^{-1}\xi(w_{1}w_{2})^{-1}\xi(w_{1})\xi(w_{2})\mathscr{A}_{P}(w_{1}w_{2},\xi). \end{aligned}$$

Then (a) is immediate. For (b), we need only prove

$$\xi(w_1 w_2)^{-1} \xi(w_1) \xi(w_2) = c I,$$

and we do this by Schur's Lemma, showing commutativity with $\xi(m)$ for m in M. Thus we compute step by step that

$$\xi(w_1 w_2)^{-1} \xi(w_1) \xi(w_2) \xi(m) \xi(w_2)^{-1} \xi(w_1)^{-1} \xi(w_1 w_2) = \xi(m),$$

and the lemma follows.

In order to proceed, we need the main theorem from [17]. A root α of a_p can be written as $\alpha = \beta + \gamma$, where β is the projection on a' and γ is the projection on a'_M . By Lemma 9a of [17], $\bar{\alpha} = \beta - \gamma$ is again an a_p -root. We say that α is *useful* if $2\langle \alpha, \bar{\alpha} \rangle / |\alpha|^2 = +1$, and a root of α is *useful* if it is the nonzero restriction to α of a useful root of a_p .

Theorem 13.2. The useful roots of a form a possibly nonreduced root system Δ_0 in a subspace of a'. A reflection p_β in a root of a is in W(a) if and only if $t\beta$ is useful for some t > 0, if and only if β itself is useful in case g has no split G_2 factors. Moreover, W(a) coincides with the Weyl group of Δ_0 .

We come to the fundamental definitions. We would like to define

$$\Delta' = \{\beta = \mathfrak{a} \operatorname{root} | \mu_{\xi, \beta}(\Lambda|_{\mathfrak{a}^{(\beta)}}) = 0\}.$$
(13.1)

This formula will suffice as definition unless g has a split G_2 factor. In that case, we include in the definition the additional assumption that β is useful in the sense described above; Lemma 11.5 and Theorem 13.2 then assure us that all members of Δ' are useful in every case. Lemma 11.5 tells us also that if β is in Δ' , then the reflection p_{β} is in $W_{\xi,A}$. Bringing in Corollary 12.7, we obtain an alternate characterization of Δ' as

$$\Delta' = \{\beta = \text{useful } \alpha \text{-root} | p_{\beta} \in W_{\xi, \Lambda} \text{ and } \zeta(p_{\beta}) \mathscr{A}_{P}(p_{\beta}, \xi, \Lambda) \text{ is scalar} \}.$$
(13.2)

We shall see in Lemma 13.3 that Δ' is a (possibly nonreduced) root system that is mapped into itself by every element of $W_{\xi,A}$. Thus we can define groups $W'_{\xi,A}$ and $R_{\xi,A}$ by

$$W'_{\xi,A} =$$
 Weyl group of $\Delta' \subseteq W(\mathfrak{a})$

and

$$R_{\xi,A} = \{ p \in W_{\xi,A} | p\beta > 0 \text{ for every } \beta > 0 \text{ in } \Delta' \}.$$

Lemma 13.3. If Δ' is nonempty, Δ' is a (possibly nonreduced) root system in a subspace of α' , and $W_{\xi,\Lambda}$ carries Δ' into itself. Consequently $W'_{\xi,\Lambda}$ is a normal subgroup of $W_{\xi,\Lambda}$ and $R_{\xi,\Lambda}$ is a group.

Proof. By (13.2), Δ' is contained in the root system Δ_0 of Theorem 13.2. Consequently Δ' is a root system if it is closed under its own reflections. Let β and ε be in Δ' . In view of (13.2), we are to show that the operator for $p_{p_{\varepsilon}\beta}$ is scalar if the operators for p_{β} and p_{ε} are. But $p_{p_{\varepsilon}\beta} = p_{\varepsilon}p_{\beta}p_{\varepsilon}$, and so this result follows from Lemma 13.1. More generally if s is in $W_{\xi,\Lambda}$ and β is in Δ' , then we can apply (13.2) and Lemma 13.1 to $p_{s\beta} = sp_{\beta}s^{-1}$ to see that $s\beta$ is in Δ' . The rest follows immediately.

Theorem 13.4. $W_{\xi,A}$ is the semidirect product $W_{\xi,A} = W'_{\xi,A}R_{\xi,A}$ with $W'_{\xi,A}$ normal. This decomposition has the following properties:

(i) $W'_{\xi,A}$ is the set of s in $W_{\xi,A}$ for which $\xi(s) \mathscr{A}_{P}(s, \xi, A)$ is scalar.

(ii) $R_{\xi,\Lambda}$ is the set of r in $W_{\xi,\Lambda}$ for which $\mu_{r^{-1}Pr|P}(\xi;\Lambda) \neq 0$.

(iii) The unitary operators $\xi(r) \mathscr{A}_{P}(r, \xi, \Lambda)$ for r in $R_{\xi,\Lambda}$ are linearly independent and span the commuting algebra $\mathscr{C}_{P}(\xi, \Lambda)$ of $U_{P}(\xi, \Lambda, \cdot)$.

(iv) The dimension of the commuting algebra of $U_{\mathbf{P}}(\xi, \Lambda, \cdot)$ is given by

 $\dim \mathscr{C}_{P}(\xi, \Lambda) = |R_{\xi, \Lambda}| = |\{r \in W_{\xi, \Lambda} | \mu_{r^{-1}Pr|P}(\xi : \Lambda) \neq 0\}|.$

Proof. The first step is to decompose every element of $W_{\xi,A}$ into the product of a member of $R_{\xi,A}$ by a member of $W'_{\xi,A}$. Let C^+ be the positive Weyl chamber of Δ' in the subspace of a spanned by vectors H_{β} , $\beta \in \Delta'$. Let w be given in $W_{\xi,A}$. Since $w\Delta' \subseteq \Delta'$, w carries C^+ into another chamber wC^+ . By the transitivity of a genuine Weyl group on its chambers, we can find w' in the Weyl group $W'_{\xi,A}$ of Δ' such that w' w $C^+ = C^+$. Then w' w is in $R_{\xi,A}$ and $w = (w')^{-1}(w'w)$ exhibits w as the required product.

Now $W'_{\xi,A}$ is normal by Lemma 13.3, and it leads to scalar operators by (13.2) and Lemma 13.1. Lemma 11.6 implies that no element r of $R_{\xi,A}$ can have $\mu_{r^{-1}Pr|P}(\xi;A)=0$. That is, $R_{\xi,A}$ is contained in R', in the notation of Theorem 12.1. By that theorem, the operators corresponding to $R_{\xi,A}$ are linearly independent.

If w is in R', we can write w = w'r with w' in $W'_{\xi,A}$ and r in $R_{\xi,A}$. Applying Lemma 13.1, we see that the operator for w is a scalar times the operator for r. Since Theorem 12.1 says that the operators for R' are linearly independent, we conclude $R_{\xi,A} = R'$. This proves (ii) and the second equality in (iv).

The same argument applied to a general element of $W_{\xi,A}$ shows that scalar operators come only from $W'_{\xi,A}$. (This proves (i).) It shows also that the span of the operators for $R_{\xi,A}$ is the same as that for $W_{\xi,A}$, which proves part of (iii). Obviously $W'_{\xi,A} \cap R_{\xi,A} = \{1\}$, and so we have a semidirect product. By Corollary 9.8 to Harish-Chandra's completeness theorem, the span of the operators for $W_{\xi,A}$ is all of $\mathscr{C}_P(\xi, A)$. This proves the remaining part of (iii), and the first equality in (iv) follows from it.

§14. Reduction Lemmas

Fix a cuspidal parabolic subgroup P = MAN, let ξ be a discrete series representation of M, and let Λ be an imaginary-valued linear functional on \mathfrak{a} . Under some additional assumptions on G, it will be shown in a later paper [37] that the group $R_{\xi,\Lambda}$ of §13 is a finite direct sum of copies of the two-element group \mathbb{Z}_2 . Briefly we write $R_{\xi,\Lambda} = \sum \mathbb{Z}_2$ for this conclusion. (In fact, the number of factors \mathbb{Z}_2 will be shown not to exceed dim A.) In Lemma 14.1 we shall show that it suffices to prove this result for $\Lambda = 0$.

Intertwining Operators for Semisimple Groups, II

For $\Lambda = 0$, the proof is long and ultimately reduces to the case that G is split over \mathbb{R} and the parabolic subgroup is minimal. This case will be treated in §15, but the reduction is deferred to [37].

Even after it is shown that $\tilde{R}_{\xi,A} = \sum \mathbb{Z}_2$, it does not follow directly that the intertwining operators $\xi(r) \mathscr{A}_p(r, \xi, A)$, $r \in R$, commute and hence that the commuting algebra $\mathscr{C}_p(\xi, A)$ is commutative. A hint of the difficulty is given in Lemma 13.1(b). We shall isolate the problem in Lemma 14.2 but shall defer the resolution of the problem to [37].

Lemma 14.1. If $R_{\xi,0} = \sum \mathbb{Z}_2$ and Λ_0 is imaginary, then $R_{\xi,\Lambda_0} = \sum \mathbb{Z}_2$ and $|R_{\xi,\Lambda_0}| \leq |R_{\xi,0}|$.

Proof. Let w be in $N_K(\mathfrak{a})$, let [w] be its class in $W(\mathfrak{a})$, and suppose that [w] is in W_{ξ,A_0} and [w] has order k. The set of Λ for which $w\Lambda = \Lambda$ is connected since such Λ form a vector subspace. Form $\xi(w) \mathscr{A}_P(w, \xi, \Lambda)$ for these Λ . By Lemma 13.1(a),

$$[\xi(w)\mathscr{A}_{P}(w,\xi,\Lambda)]^{l} = \xi(w^{l})\mathscr{A}_{P}(w^{l},\xi,\Lambda)$$
(14.1)

for each *l*. Consider the restriction of $\xi(w) \mathscr{A}_{p}(w, \xi, \Lambda)$ to a large finite-dimensional sum of K-spaces. Equation (14.1) with l=k says $[\xi(w) \mathscr{A}_{p}(w, \xi, \Lambda)]^{k} = I$. Hence there are only finitely many possibilities for the characteristic polynomial of the unitary operator $\xi(w) \mathscr{A}_{p}(w, \xi, \Lambda)$, and it follows that the characteristic polynomial of this operator must be independent of Λ . In particular, the order of the operator is independent of Λ . Taking $\Lambda = 0$ and applying Theorem 12.4 and the assumption that $R_{\xi,0} = \sum \mathbb{Z}_{2}$, we see from Lemma 13.1(a) that

$$[\xi(w)\mathscr{A}_{P}(w,\xi,0)]^{2}$$

is scalar. Hence $[\xi(w) \mathscr{A}_P(w, \xi, \Lambda_0)]^2$ is scalar. If [w] is in R_{ξ, Λ_0} , this contradicts Theorem 12.4(iii) unless $[w]^2 = 1$. Thus every element in R_{ξ, Λ_0} has order at most 2, and it follows that $R_{\xi, \Lambda_0} = \sum \mathbb{Z}_2$. The same argument with characteristic polynomials shows that

The same argument with characteristic polynomials shows that $\xi(w) \mathscr{A}_{P}(w, \xi, 0)$ is nonscalar for each $w \neq 1$ in $R_{\xi, A_{0}}$. By Lemma 13.1(b), the $R_{\xi, 0}$ component of such an element w must be nontrivial in the decomposition $W_{\xi, 0} = W'_{\xi, 0} R_{\xi, 0}$. However, the map of $R_{\xi, A_{0}}$ into $R_{\xi, 0}$ defined by inclusion into $W_{\xi, 0}$ followed by projection into $R_{\xi, 0}$ is a group homomorphism. Thus this map is one-one, and $|R_{\xi, 0}| \leq |R_{\xi, 0}|$.

Lemma 14.2. Under the assumption that Λ is imaginary and $R_{\xi,\Lambda}$ is abelian, the following conditions are equivalent:

- (a) The commuting algebra $\mathscr{C}_{\mathbf{p}}(\xi, \Lambda)$ of $U_{\mathbf{p}}(\xi, \Lambda, \cdot)$ is commutative.
- (b) For every pair [r] and [s] in a set of generators of $R_{\xi,A}$,

$$\xi(r)\,\xi(s)\,\xi(r)^{-1}\,\xi(s)^{-1} = \xi(r\,s\,r^{-1}\,s^{-1}).$$

(c) The representation ξ extends to a representation, still on H^{ξ} , of the group generated by M and a representative in $N_{K}(\mathfrak{a})$ for each member of $R_{\xi,A}$.

Proof. First we show (a) \Leftrightarrow (b). Let [r] and [s] be in $R_{\xi,A}$. By Lemma 13.1 we have

$$\xi(r) \mathscr{A}_{P}(r, \xi, \Lambda) \,\xi(s) \,\mathscr{A}_{P}(s, \xi, \Lambda) = c \,\xi(rs) \,\mathscr{A}_{P}(rs, \xi, \Lambda),$$

where $cI = \xi(rs)^{-1} \xi(r) \xi(s)$. An analogous formula holds for sr, with a constant d on the right. Now rs and sr are representatives of the same member of $R_{\xi,A}$ since $R_{\xi,A}$ is abelian, and so the corresponding operators are the same. Thus the operators for r and s commute if and only if c=d, i.e., if and only if

$$\xi(rs)^{-1}\xi(r)\xi(s) = \xi(sr)^{-1}\xi(s)\xi(r).$$

Multiplying through, we obtain the condition

$$\xi(r)\,\xi(s)\,\xi(r)^{-1}\,\xi(s)^{-1} = \xi(rs)\,\xi(sr)^{-1}.$$

On the right side, rs and sr are in the same cyclic extension of M, and so the operator on the right equals $\xi(rsr^{-1}s^{-1})$. Hence (a) \Leftrightarrow (b).

Obviously (c) implies (b). To see that (b) implies (c), we invoke Lemma 59 of [20]. We know from Lemma 7.9 that we can handle a cyclic extension of M. To handle an extension by a direct sum of cyclic groups, Lemma 59 says that it is enough to verify the relations in M' that correspond to the commutativity of $R_{\xi,A}$. These are the relations of (b). Thus (b) and (c) are equivalent.

§15. Structure of R-group, Split Minimal Case

The theorem in this section was announced in [21]. As will be seen in [37], the structure theorem for $R_{\xi,A}$ in the general case is reduced to the special case considered here.

Theorem 15.1. Let G be a connected split semisimple Lie group of matrices, and let MAN be a minimal parabolic subgroup. In this case $R_{\xi,A}$ is always $\sum \mathbb{Z}_2$.

Proof. By Lemma 14.1, we may take $\Lambda = 0$. For this G and for the minimal parabolic, a is a Cartan subalgebra. Also M is a finite abelian group and is generated by the elements

$$\gamma_{\alpha} = \exp 2\pi i |\alpha|^{-2} H_{\alpha}$$

for all a-roots α . Each γ_{α} has order at most 2. Direct computation gives

$$p_{\beta}\gamma_{\alpha}p_{\beta}^{-1} = \gamma_{p_{\beta}\alpha} = \gamma_{\alpha}\gamma_{\beta}^{2} \langle \alpha, \beta \rangle / |\alpha|^{2}$$

Let Δ be the set of roots. For a minimal parabolic all roots are useful. For α in Δ , $g^{(\alpha)}$ is isomorphic with $sl(2, \mathbb{R})$ because g is split, and the element γ_{α} is the image of $\begin{pmatrix} -1 & 0 \\ 0 & -1 \end{pmatrix}$ under the corresponding mapping of $SL(2, \mathbb{R})$ into G. Within $SL(2, \mathbb{R})$ a representation (= character) σ of M has

$$\sigma \begin{pmatrix} -1 & 0 \\ 0 & -1 \end{pmatrix} = +1 \text{ if and only if } \mu_{\sigma}(0) = 0$$

$$\sigma \begin{pmatrix} -1 & 0 \\ 0 & -1 \end{pmatrix} = -1 \text{ if and only if } \mu_{\sigma}(0) \neq 0,$$

Intertwining Operators for Semisimple Groups, II

as is well known (see, e.g., p. 544 of [20]). By (13.1),

$$\Delta' = \{ \alpha | \xi(\gamma_{\alpha}) = +1 \}.$$

$$V_{\xi,0} = \{ w \in W(\mathfrak{a}) | w \Delta' = \Delta' \}.$$
(15.1)

We shall show that

In fact, each member of $W_{\xi,0}$ preserves Δ' by Lemma 13.3. Conversely, if w preserves Δ' , then w preserves also its complement, and we have

$$\alpha \in \Delta' \Rightarrow w \,\xi(\gamma_{\alpha}) = \xi(w^{-1} \gamma_{\alpha} w) = \xi(\gamma_{w^{-1}\alpha}) = +1 = \xi(\gamma_{\alpha})$$
$$\alpha \notin \Delta' \Rightarrow w \,\xi(\gamma_{\alpha}) = \xi(w^{-1} \gamma_{\alpha} w) = \xi(\gamma_{w^{-1}\alpha}) = -1 = \xi(\gamma_{\alpha}).$$

Thus $w\xi = \xi$. A corollary of (15.1) is that

$$R_{\xi,0} = \{ w \in W(\mathfrak{a}) | w \Delta'^{+} = \Delta'^{+} \},$$
(15.2)

where Δ'^+ denotes the set of positive elements in Δ' .

We shall introduce a dual situation. We associate to the data

(g split, a most noncompact Cartan subalgebra, Δ^+ , ξ on M)

a set of data

$$(g^{\vee} \text{ with rank } g^{\vee} = \operatorname{rank} k^{\vee}, \text{ compact Cartan subalgebra } \mathfrak{h},$$

 $(\Delta^{\vee})^+, \text{ Cartan involution},$

as follows: $(g^{\vee})^{\mathbb{C}}$ is a complex semisimple Lie algebra whose Cartan matrix is the transpose of the Cartan matrix for g.¹⁵ We single out a Cartan subalgebra $\mathfrak{h}^{\mathbb{C}}$ of $(g^{\vee})^{\mathbb{C}}$ and a positive system $(\Delta^{\vee})^+$ of roots, and we form in the standard way¹⁶ a compact form u of $(g^{\vee})^{\mathbb{C}}$. Let $\mathfrak{h}=\mathfrak{u}\cap\mathfrak{h}^{\mathbb{C}}$. The simple roots in g and $(g^{\vee})^{\mathbb{C}}$ correspond, and the Weyl groups correspond. The correspondence of simple roots extends to a correspondence $\alpha \to \alpha^{\vee}$ of roots via the Weyl group action, not via addition.

We shall use ξ to isolate a real form g^{\vee} of $(g^{\vee})^{\mathbb{C}}$. To do so, we designate a simple root α^{\vee} as *noncompact* if $\xi(\gamma_{\alpha}) = -1$, otherwise *compact*. Choose H_0 in $\mathfrak{h}^{\mathbb{C}}$ such that

 $\alpha^{\vee}(H_0) = \begin{cases} 1 & \text{if } \alpha^{\vee} \text{ is a simple root designated noncompact,} \\ 0 & \text{if } \alpha^{\vee} \text{ is a simple root designated compact,} \end{cases}$

and define $\theta = Ad(\exp \pi i H_0)$. Then θ is an involution of $(g^{\vee})^{\mathbb{C}}$ leaving u stable. Consequently if we define

 $\begin{aligned} & \mathfrak{t}^{\vee} = \mathfrak{u} \cap (+1 \text{ eigenspace of } \theta \text{ in } (\mathfrak{g}^{\vee})^{\mathbb{C}}) \\ & \mathfrak{p}^{\vee} = i\mathfrak{u} \cap (-1 \text{ eigenspace of } \theta \text{ in } (\mathfrak{g}^{\vee})^{\mathbb{C}}) \\ & \mathfrak{g}^{\vee} = \mathfrak{t}^{\vee} + \mathfrak{p}^{\vee}, \end{aligned}$

¹⁵ For example, B_n leads to C_n , and vice-versa.

¹⁶ See [36], page 155.

then g^{\vee} is a real form of $(g^{\vee})^{\mathbb{C}}$ with Cartan decomposition $g^{\vee} = \mathfrak{k}^{\vee} \oplus \mathfrak{p}^{\vee}$. Clearly \mathfrak{h} is in \mathfrak{k} , and thus \mathfrak{h} is a compact Cartan subalgebra of g^{\vee} .

Since \mathfrak{h} is a compact Cartan subalgebra, we have a standard notion of compact and noncompact roots, and we can check readily for simple roots that this notion coincides with the one above used to define θ .

We shall show that a general root α^{\vee} is compact if and only if $\xi(\gamma_{\alpha}) = +1$. To do so, we write $\alpha = p_{\beta_1} \dots p_{\beta_n} \varepsilon$ with β_1, \dots, β_n , ε simple and with *n* as small as possible, and we proceed by induction on *n*. The case n=0 was noted in the previous paragraph. Thus let $\alpha = p_{\beta} \delta$ and suppose it is known that

 $\delta^{\vee} \operatorname{compact} \Leftrightarrow \xi(\gamma_{\delta}) = +1 \quad \text{and} \quad \beta^{\vee} \operatorname{compact} \Leftrightarrow \xi(\gamma_{\beta}) = +1.$

We compare

$$\alpha^{\vee} = \delta^{\vee} - \frac{2\langle \delta^{\vee}, \beta^{\vee} \rangle}{|\beta^{\vee}|^2} \beta^{\vee} = \delta^{\vee} - \frac{2\langle \delta, \beta \rangle}{|\delta|^2} \beta^{\vee}$$
(15.3)

with

$$\xi(\gamma_q) = \xi(\gamma_{p_\beta\delta}) = \xi(\gamma_\delta) \,\xi(\gamma_\beta)^{2\langle \delta,\beta\rangle/|\delta|^2}.$$
(15.4)

If β^{\vee} is compact, (15.3) says α^{\vee} and δ^{\vee} are the same type, compact or noncompact, and (15.4) says $\xi(\gamma_{\alpha}) = \xi(\gamma_{\delta})$. If β^{\vee} is noncompact, (15.3) says α^{\vee} and δ^{\vee} are of the same type if and only if $2\langle \delta, \beta \rangle / |\delta|^2$ is even, and (15.4) says $\xi(\gamma_{\alpha}) = \xi(\gamma_{\delta})$ if and only if $2\langle \delta, \beta \rangle / |\delta|^2$ is even. The assertion follows.

Thus we have

$$(\Delta')^{\vee} = \{\text{compact roots}\}. \tag{15.5}$$

Let s be in $W_{\xi,0}$, regard $W(\mathfrak{a})$ also as the complex Weyl group of $(\mathfrak{g}^{\vee})^{\mathbb{C}}$, and let \tilde{s} be a representative of s in the complex adjoint group $(G^{\vee})^{\mathbb{C}}$; we may assume that \tilde{s} is in the compact form U. Then (15.1) and the fact that the correspondence $\alpha \to \alpha^{\vee}$ is implemented by the action of the Weyl group together mean that

$$\operatorname{Ad}(\tilde{s})(\mathfrak{f}^{\vee})^{\mathfrak{C}} \subseteq (\mathfrak{f}^{\vee})^{\mathfrak{C}}.$$

Since \tilde{s} is in $U, \tilde{s}U\tilde{s}^{-1} = U$. Thus

$$\operatorname{Ad}(\tilde{s})\mathfrak{t}^{\vee} = \operatorname{Ad}(\tilde{s})(\mathfrak{u} \cap (\mathfrak{t}^{\vee})^{\mathbb{C}}) \subseteq \mathfrak{u} \cap (\mathfrak{t}^{\vee})^{\mathbb{C}} = \mathfrak{t}^{\vee}$$

and Ad(\tilde{s}) normalizes t^{\vee} . Similarly Ad(\tilde{s}) normalizes p^{\vee} and so it normalizes g^{\vee} . By Proposition 2 of Kostant-Rallis [27], Ad(\tilde{s}^2) is in Ad(K^{\vee}). In other words, s^2 is in the Weyl group generated by reflections in the compact roots. By (15.5), this means s^2 is in $W'_{\xi,0}$.

Applying this conclusion to s in $R_{\xi,0}$, we have

$$s^2 \in R_{\xi,0} \cap W'_{\xi,0} = \{1\}.$$

Hence every element of $R_{\xi,0}$ has order at most two, and consequently $R_{\xi,0} = \sum \mathbb{Z}_2$.

III. Complementary Series

§16. Existence

Under the hypotheses given in part I for G, P, and ξ , we say that $U_P(\xi, \Lambda, \cdot)$ is in the complementary series if its K-finite vectors possess a nontrivial semidefinite Hermitian inner product with respect to which K acts by unitary operators and g acts by skew-Hermitian operators. If s is an element of order 2 in $W(\mathfrak{a})$ that fixes ξ , then Corollary 8.7 says that

$$[\xi(s)\mathscr{A}_{P}(s,\xi,\Lambda)]^{*} = \xi(s)\mathscr{A}_{P}(s,\xi,-s\overline{\Lambda}).$$

Thus when $sA = -\overline{A}$, the form

$$\langle f,g \rangle = (\xi(s) \mathscr{A}_{p}(s,\xi,\Lambda)f,g)_{L^{2}(K)}$$

is Hermitian, and it is shown in Lemma 62 of [20] that it possesses the correct invariance properties. The question is whether the form is semidefinite.

We shall not attempt a comprehensive answer to this question now but shall be content with a general result that illustrates a method.

Lemma 16.1. Suppose P = MAN is a cuspidal parabolic subgroup and ξ is a discrete series representation of M. If ξ imbeds in the nonunitary principal series representation of M with parameters (σ, Λ_M) and if G_0 has a faithful matrix representation, then

$$\frac{2\langle A_M,\alpha\rangle}{|\alpha|^2} \in \frac{1}{2}\mathbb{Z}$$

for every a_p -root α .

Proof. Since P is cuspidal, Lemma 4 of [17] shows that a'_M has an orthogonal basis of roots δ_i . These roots may be taken to be "inessential" in the nomenclature of that paper; this means that if a_M is extended to a Cartan subalgebra of m and if each δ_i is extended to be 0 on the orthogonal complement of a_M , then the extended δ_i is a root relative to the Cartan subalgebra.

Since G_0 (and therefore M_0) has a faithful matrix representation, the parameter of the infinitesimal character of ξ is algebraically integral, by [11]. This parameter is $\Lambda^- + \rho^- + \Lambda_M$, where $\Lambda^- + \rho^-$ is a part corresponding to σ that is in the orthogonal complement of α'_M . Therefore

$$\frac{2\langle \Lambda_M, \delta_i \rangle}{|\delta_i|^2} \in \mathbb{Z} \quad \text{for all } i.$$

By Parseval's theorem,

$$\Lambda_{M} = \sum \frac{\langle \Lambda_{M}, \delta_{i} \rangle}{|\delta_{i}|^{2}} \delta_{i},$$

and therefore

$$\frac{2\langle \Lambda_M,\alpha\rangle}{|\alpha|^2} = \sum \frac{\langle \Lambda_M,\delta_i\rangle}{|\delta_i|^2} \frac{2\langle \delta_i,\alpha\rangle}{|\alpha|^2} \epsilon \frac{1}{2} \mathbb{Z}.$$

Theorem 16.2. Under the assumptions on G in §1, let P = MAN be a cuspidal parabolic subgroup, let ξ be a discrete series representation of M, and suppose $W'_{\xi,0}$ is not the one-element group. If s is any element of order 2 in $W'_{\xi,0}$, then every complex A that is not purely imaginary and satisfies

(i)
$$s\Lambda = -\Lambda$$

(ii) $\left| \operatorname{Re} \frac{\langle \Lambda, \beta \rangle}{|\beta|^2} \right| < c_{\xi}$ for every a-root β is such that $U_P(\xi, \Lambda, \cdot)$ is in the

complementary series. Here c_{ξ} is a positive constant depending on ξ . If G_0 has a faithful matrix representation, the number c_{ξ} can be taken to be 1/4, independently of ξ .

Remarks. (a) $W'_{\xi,0}$ is a Weyl group; if it is nontrivial, it must contain elements of order 2.

(b) For a minimal parabolic when G_0 is a matrix group, c_{ξ} can be taken to be 1/2, as will be apparent from the proof; 1/2 is the best possible universal constant, as is shown by $SL(2, \mathbb{R})$.

(c) This theorem was announced in [23]. For earlier results in the direction of this theorem, see [26], Theorems 8 and 9 of [20], and Theorem 13 of [12].

Proof. By the techniques of [20], it is enough to show that the unnormalized intertwining operator

$$A(s^{-1}Ps; P; \xi; \Lambda) \tag{16.1}$$

is holomorphic in the region

$$0 < \left| \operatorname{Re} \frac{\langle \Lambda, \beta \rangle}{|\beta|^2} \right| < c_{\xi}$$
(16.2)

and that $\eta(s^{-1}Ps:P:\xi:\Lambda)$ has no singularities or zeros in this region.

To see that (16.1) is holomorphic in the region (16.2), we use Theorem 6.6 and also examine the proof of that theorem. Singularities of the operator can occur only when there is some β such that

$$\frac{2\langle \Lambda,\beta\rangle}{|\alpha|^2} \in \mathbb{Z} + d_i(\xi),$$

where $d_i(\xi) = -2\langle \Lambda_M, \alpha \rangle / |\alpha|^2$ for an α_p -root α whose restriction to α is β . For a suitable choice of c_{ξ} , there are no singularities in (16.2). If G_0 is a matrix group, Lemma 16.1 says $d_i(\xi)$ is in $\frac{1}{2}\mathbb{Z}$. Thus the condition is that

$$\frac{2\langle \Lambda,\beta\rangle}{|\alpha|^2}\in\frac{1}{2}\mathbb{Z}.$$

Here $|\alpha|^2/|\beta|^2$ is one of the numbers 1, 2, 4, or 4/3, and so singularities can occur only when

$$\frac{2\langle \Lambda,\beta\rangle}{|\beta|^2} \in \frac{1}{2} \mathbb{Z} \quad \text{or} \quad \mathbb{Z} \quad \text{or} \quad 2\mathbb{Z} \quad \text{or} \quad \frac{2}{3}\mathbb{Z}.$$

Therefore c_{ξ} can be taken to be 1/4.
Next, we deal with η . The singularities of η can arise only from singularities of one or another unnormalized intertwining operator, and there are none in the region (16.2).

As for the zeros of η , the question is one of singularities of Plancherel factors. By Proposition 10.2(c) and formula (10.4), we are to examine the singularities of

$$\mu_{\sigma,\alpha}((\Lambda + \Lambda_M)|_{\mathfrak{a}^{(\alpha)}}) = \mu_{\sigma,\alpha}\left(\frac{\langle \Lambda + \Lambda_M, \alpha \rangle}{|\alpha|^2}\alpha\right)$$

for every reduced a_p -root α that does not vanish identically on a. A Plancherel factor for a real-rank one group gets its singularities (poles) only from a factor of tangent or cotangent. Letting p and q be the dimensions of g_{α} and $g_{2\alpha}$, respectively, we are to look at singularities of

$$\tan \frac{1}{2}\pi piz$$
 or $\cot \frac{1}{2}\pi piz$ if $q=0$

$$\tan \frac{1}{4}\pi(p+2q)iz \text{ or } \cot \frac{1}{4}\pi(p+2q)iz \text{ if } q \neq 0.$$

Here z is a parameter such that z = 1 corresponds to $\rho^{(\alpha)} = \frac{1}{2}(p+2q)\alpha$. (See §12 of [20].) The singularities are all contained in the set of z's that are integral multiplies of $(p+2q)^{-1}$, which corresponds to the set of multiples of $\alpha/2$. Thus the singularities of $\mu_{\sigma,\alpha}$ are limited to those Λ for which

$$\frac{\langle \Lambda + \Lambda_M, \alpha \rangle}{|\alpha|^2} \in \frac{1}{2}\mathbb{Z},$$

and this is the same set as before for the intertwining operator. Thus the η function has no zeros in the region (16.2).

Appendix A. Proof of Proposition 1.2

The Lie algebras $n + n_M$ and $n' + n_M$ are the sums of the root spaces for positive a_p -roots in two different orderings, and there exists a member w of the Weyl group $W(a_p)$ such that $w(n'+n_M) = n + n_M$. Let positivity of a-roots be defined relative to $n + n_M$. Without loss of generality, we may assume β is reduced. Then $V \cap N' = V^{(\beta)}$ implies

$$\mathfrak{n} = \sum_{\substack{\gamma > 0\\ \gamma \neq c\beta}} \mathfrak{g}_{\gamma} + \sum_{c \ge 1} \mathfrak{g}_{c\beta} \tag{A.1}$$

and

$$\mathfrak{n}' = \sum_{\substack{\gamma > 0\\ \gamma \neq c\beta}} \mathfrak{g}_{\gamma} + \sum_{c \ge 1} \mathfrak{g}_{-c\beta}.$$
(A.2)

We claim that β cannot be decomposed as the sum of positive a-roots $\beta = \beta_1 + \beta_2$, i.e., β is simple. Assuming the contrary let α_1 and α_2 be α_p -roots with $\alpha_1|_a = \beta_1$ and $\alpha_2|_a = \beta_2$, and write $\alpha_1 = \beta_1 + \mu_1$, $\alpha_2 = \beta_2 + \mu_2$. Since $\beta_1 \pm c\beta$ with $c \ge 1$, the α_p -root space g_{α_1} must be included in the first term of (A.1), and similarly for

or

 g_{α_2} . Thus g_{α_1} and g_{α_2} are in n'. Since w carries n' into $n + n_M$, it follows that

$$w(\beta_1 + \mu_1) > 0$$
 and $w(\beta_2 + \mu_2) > 0$.

If s is in $W(a_M)$, then $s\alpha_1 = \beta_1 + s\mu_1$ is also in n', and similarly for $s\alpha_2$. Hence

$$w(\beta_1 + s\mu_1) > 0$$
 and $w(\beta_2 + s\mu_2) > 0$, $s \in W(\mathfrak{a}_M)$.

Summing over s, we obtain $w\beta_1 > 0$ and $w\beta_2 > 0$ and therefore $w\beta > 0$. Let $\alpha = \beta$ + μ be an a_p -root with $\alpha|_{\alpha} = \beta$. Applying s in $W(a_M)$ and summing over s in $W(a_M)$, we see from $w\beta > 0$ that $w(\beta + s\mu) > 0$ for some s in $W(a_M)$. But $g_{-(\beta + s\mu)}$ is contained in the second term of n' in (A.2), and w carries n' into $n + n_M$, so that $-w(\beta + s\mu) > 0$. This is a contradiction, and we conclude that β is simple.

Let α be the least α_p -root with $\alpha|_{\alpha} = \beta$. We show α is simple. Assuming the contrary, write $\alpha = \alpha_1 + \alpha_2$ with α_1 and α_2 positive. Then α_1 and α_2 cannot both have nonzero restrictions to α , by what was shown in the previous paragraph. Thus assume $\alpha_2|_{\alpha} = 0$. Then α_1 is smaller than α and has $\alpha_1|_{\alpha} = \beta$, contradiction. We conclude that α is a simple α_p -root.

The simple a_M -roots $\mu_1, ..., \mu_k$ are simple for a_p , and thus $\alpha, \mu_1, ..., \mu_k$ are all simple a_p -roots. From this set of simple a_p -roots, we can form a new parabolic subgroup $M^*A^*N^*$ containing MAN. Applying (1.11) twice, first to the parabolic $M^*A^*N^*$ of G and then to the parabolic $MA^{(\beta)}N^{(\beta)}$ of M^* , we obtain

$$\rho_{p} = \rho^{*} + \rho_{M^{*}} = \rho^{*} + \rho^{(\beta)} + \rho_{M}.$$

Evaluation of both sides on H_{B} completes the proof of Proposition 1.2.

Appendix B. Further Property of the η Function

We give here a further property of $\eta_{\xi}(z)$ that could have been included in Proposition 7.4 but for the length of its proof. We require a lemma.

Lemma B.1. Let MAN and MAN' be associated parabolic subgroups. If φ is a C^{∞} function on K/K_M that is supported in a sufficiently small neighborhood of the identity coset, then $\varphi(\kappa(v))$ is a well-defined function of compact support in $V \cap N'$.

Proof. The ambiguity with $\kappa(v) \mu(v)$ is with elements of K_M ; since φ is right K_M -invariant, $\varphi(\kappa(v))$ is well-defined. Since N' is closed, it is enough to find that $\varphi(\kappa(v))$ has compact support in V. Now $v \in V \rightarrow \kappa(v) K_M$ is a smooth map such that

$$\int_{K/K_M} f(k) dk = \int_V f(\kappa(v)) e^{-2\rho_P H_P(v)} dv,$$

which says that $\exp\{-2\rho_P H_P(v)\}$ is the Jacobian determinant. Moreover, the map is one-one since $V \cap MAN = \{1\}$. Hence the image, all $\kappa(v) K_M$, is open and the inverse map is smooth onto V. The result follows.

Proposition B.2. Let dim A = 1 and let P = MAN. Then the function $\eta_{\xi}(z)$ defined in Proposition 7.4 is nowhere vanishing for z imaginary.

Proof. Suppose $\eta_{\xi}(z_0) = 0$ with z_0 imaginary. As in the proof of Proposition 7.4(c), this means that $A(\overline{P}:P:\xi:z_0\rho_P)$ is the 0 operator on K-finite functions. To show that this is impossible, we shall give a simplified variant of the argument in §12. We introduce again the notation that follows Lemma 12.5: ξ is imbedded infinitesimally in ω , and there are projections $E_{F'}$ and $E_{F''}$ in H^{ξ} onto finite-dimensional subspaces X and Y.

We restate and reprove Lemma 12.6, replacing $r^{-1}Pr$ by \overline{P} and $r^{-1}Nr$ by V throughout. Call the analytic family $B(\xi; \Lambda)f(k)$. To apply this lemma, we proceed as in the proof of Theorem 12.1. Construct F in $C_{\xi}^{\infty}(K, X)$ with $F(1) \neq 0$. Consider the function $f = \varphi F$, where φ is a complex-valued right K_M -invariant C^{∞} function on K to be specified.

For $\Lambda = z \rho_P$ and Rez sufficiently large, we have

$$B(\xi:\Lambda)f(1) = \int_{V} e^{-(1+z)H(v)} E_{F''} \xi(\mu(v))^{-1} E_{F'} \varphi(\kappa(v)) F(\kappa(v)) dv.$$

By Lemma B.1 choose φ at least to have the property that $\varphi(\kappa(v))$ has compact support. Then this integral provides its own analytic continuation, and our variant of Lemma 12.6 implies

$$E_{F''}A(\overline{P}:P:\xi:z_0\rho_P)f(1) = \int_V e^{-(1+z_0)\rho_PH(v)} E_{F''}\xi(\mu(v))^{-1}\varphi(\kappa(v))F(\kappa(v))dv.$$

Choose F'' = F'. Since $F(1) \neq 0$, if we choose φ to be sufficiently peaked about 1, we conclude that

$$E_{F''}A(\overline{P}:P:\xi:z_0\rho_P)f(1) \neq 0.$$

Thus there is a function in $C_{\xi}^{\infty}(K, X)$ on which the continuous operator $A(\overline{P}:P:\xi:z_0\rho_P)$ is non-vanishing. Composing with projections to K-finite spaces, we obtain a contradiction to our assumption that $A(\overline{P}:P:\xi:z_0\rho_P)$ vanishes on K-finite functions.

References

- 1. Arthur, J.G.: Harmonic analysis of tempered distributions of semisimple Lie groups of real rank one. Thesis, Yale University, 1970
- 2. Arthur, J.G.: Intertwining integrals for cuspidal parabolic subgroups, mimeographed notes. Yale University, 1974
- 3. Arthur, J.G.: On the invariant distributions associated to weighted orbital integrals, preprint, 1977
- Borel, A., Tits, J.: Compléments à l'article: "Groupes réductifs." Inst. Hautes Études Sci. Publ. Math. No. 41, 253-276 (1972)
- 5. Bruhat, F.: Sur les représentations induites des groupes de Lie. Bull. Soc. Math. France 84, 97-205 (1956)
- 6. Casselman, W.: The differential equations satisfied by matrix coefficients, manuscript, 1975
- 7. Gelbart, S.: Fourier analysis on matrix space. Mem. Amer. Math. Soc. 108, 1-77 (1971)
- Gindikin, S.G., Karpelevič, F.I.: Plancherel measure for Riemann symmetric spaces of nonpositive curvature. Soviet Math. 3, 962-965 (1962)

- 9. Harish-Chandra: Representations of a semisimple Lie group on a Banach space I. Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 75, 185-243 (1953)
- Harish-Chandra: Spherical functions on a semisimple Lie group I. Amer. J. Math. 80, 241-310 (1958)
- 11. Harish-Chandra: Discrete series for semisimple Lie groups II. Acta Math. 116, 1-111 (1966)
- 12. Harish-Chandra: On the theory of the Eisenstein integral. Lecture Notes in Math. 266, 123-149. Berlin-Heidelberg-New York: Springer 1971
- Harish-Chandra: Harmonic analysis on real reductive groups I. J. Functional Anal. 19, 104-204 (1975)
- 14. Harish-Chandra: Harmonic analysis on real reductive groups II. Inventiones Math. 36, 1-55 (1976)
- 15. Harish-Chandra: Harmonic analysis on real reductive groups III. Annals of Math. 104, 117-201 (1976)
- 16. Helgason, S.: A duality for symmetric spaces with applications to group representations. Advances in Math. 5, 1-154 (1970)
- 17. Knapp, A.W.: Weyl group of a cuspidal parabolic. Ann. Sci. Éc. Norm. Sup. 8, 275-294 (1975)
- Knapp, A.W., Stein, E.M.: The existence of complementary series, Problems in Analysis: Symposium in Honor of Salomon Bochner, 249-259. Princeton: Princeton University Press, 1970
- Knapp, A.W., Stein, E.M.: Singular integrals and the principal series II. Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 66, 13-17 (1970)
- 20. Knapp, A.W., Stein, E.M.: Intertwining operators for semisimple groups. Annals of Math. 93, 489-578 (1971)
- Knapp, A.W., Stein, E.M.: Irreducibility theorems for the principal series. Lecture Notes in Math. 266, 197-214. Berlin-Heidelberg-New York: Springer 1971
- Knapp, A.W., Stein, E.M.: Singular integrals and the principal series III. Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 71, 4622-4624 (1974)
- 23. Knapp, A.W., Stein, E.M.: Singular integrals and the principal series IV. Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 72, 2459-2461 (1975)
- 24. Knapp, A.W., Stein, E.M.: Intertwining operators for SL(n, R). Studies in Mathematical Physics, Essays in Honor of Valentine Bargmann, 239-267. Princeton: Princeton University Press, 1976
- Knapp, A.W., Zuckerman, G.: Classification of irreducible tempered representations of semisimple Lie groups. Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 73, 2178-2180 (1976)
- Kostant, B.: On the existence and irreducibility of certain series of representations. Bull. Amer. Math. Soc. 75, 627-642 (1969)
- Kostant, B., Rallis, S.: Orbits and representations associated with symmetric spaces. Amer. J. Math. 93, 753-809 (1971)
- 28. Kunze, R., Stein, E.M.: Uniformly bounded representations III. Amer. J. Math. 89, 385-442 (1967)
- 29. Langlands, R.: On the classification of irreducible representations of real algebraic groups, mimeographed notes, Institute for Advanced Study, 1973
- 30. Mackey, G.W.: On induced representations of groups. Amer. J. Math. 73, 576-592 (1951)
- Miličić, D.: Notes on asymptotics of admissible representations of semisimple Lie groups, manuscript, 1976
- Schiffmann, G.: Intégrales d'entrelacement et fonctions de Whittaker. Bull. Soc. Math. France 99, 3-72 (1971)
- 33. Stein, E.M.: Analysis in matrix spaces and some new representations of SL(N, C). Annals of Math. 86, 461-490 (1967)
- 34. Vogan, D.A.: The algebraic structure of the representations of semisimple Lie groups I. Annals of Math. 109, 1-60 (1979)
- 35. Wallach, N.R.: On Harish-Chandra's generalized C-functions. Amer. J. Math. 97, 386-403 (1975)
- 36. Helgason, S.: Differential Geometry and Symmetric Spaces. New York: Academic Press, 1962
- 37. Knapp, A.W.: Commutativity of intertwining operators for semisimple groups, manuscript, 1980
- 38. Miličić, D.: The dual spaces of almost connected reductive groups. Glasnik Mat. 9, 273-288 (1974)

Received December 6, 1979